

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Mastellos N, Gunn LH, Felix LM, Car J, Majeed A

Mastellos N, Gunn LH, Felix LM, Car J, Majeed A.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults.

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2014, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD008066. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008066.pub3.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER
ABSTRACT
PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY 2
SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR THE MAIN COMPARISON
BACKGROUND
OBJECTIVES
METHODS
Figure 1
Figure 2
Figure 3
RESULTS
DISCUSSION
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
REFERENCES
CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES
DATA AND ANALYSES
ADDITIONAL TABLES
APPENDICES
FEEDBACK
WHAT'S NEW
HISTORY
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
SOURCES OF SUPPORT 86
DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW
INDEX TERMS

i

[Intervention Review]

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults

Nikolaos Mastellos¹, Laura H Gunn², Lambert M Felix³, Josip Car¹, Azeem Majeed⁴

¹Global eHealth Unit, Department of Primary Care and Public Health, School of Public Health, Imperial College London, London, UK. ²Integrative Health Science, Stetson University, DeLand, Florida, USA. ³Global eHealth Unit, Department of Primary Care and Public Health, School of Public Health, Imperial College London, London, UK. ⁴Department of Primary Care and Public Health, Imperial College London, UK

Contact address: Azeem Majeed, Department of Primary Care and Public Health, Imperial College London, The Reynolds Building, Charing Cross Campus, St Dunstan's Road, London, W6 8RP, UK. a.majeed@imperial.ac.uk.

Editorial group: Cochrane Metabolic and Endocrine Disorders Group.

Publication status and date: New search for studies and content updated (no change to conclusions), published in Issue 2, 2014. Review content assessed as up-to-date: 17 December 2013.

Citation: Mastellos N, Gunn LH, Felix LM, Car J, Majeed A. Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD008066. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008066.pub3.

Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Obesity is a global public health threat. The transtheoretical stages of change (TTM SOC) model has long been considered a useful interventional approach in lifestyle modification programmes, but its effectiveness in producing sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese individuals has been found to vary considerably.

Objectives

To assess the effectiveness of dietary intervention or physical activity interventions, or both, and other interventions based on the transtheoretical model (TTM) stages of change (SOC) to produce sustainable (one year and longer) weight loss in overweight and obese adults.

Search methods

Studies were obtained from searches of multiple electronic bibliographic databases. We searched *The Cochrane Library*, MEDLINE, EMBASE and PsycINFO. The date of the last search, for all databases, was 17 December 2013.

Selection criteria

Trials were included if they fulfilled the criteria of randomised controlled clinical trials (RCTs) using the TTM SOC as a model, that is a theoretical framework or guideline in designing lifestyle modification strategies, mainly dietary and physical activity interventions, versus a comparison intervention of usual care; one of the outcome measures of the study was weight loss, measured as change in weight or body mass index (BMI); participants were overweight or obese adults only; and the intervention was delivered by healthcare professionals or trained lay people at the hospital and community level, including at home.

Data collection and analysis

Two review authors independently extracted the data, assessed studies for risk of bias and evaluated overall study quality according to GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation). We resolved disagreements by discussion or consultation with a third party. A narrative, descriptive analysis was conducted for the systematic review.

Main results

A total of three studies met the inclusion criteria, allocating 2971 participants to the intervention and control groups. The total number of participants randomised to the intervention groups was 1467, whilst 1504 were randomised to the control groups. The length of intervention was 9, 12 and 24 months in the different trials. The use of TTM SOC in combination with diet or physical activity, or both, and other interventions in the included studies produced inconclusive evidence that TTM SOC interventions led to sustained weight loss (the mean difference between intervention and control groups varied from 2.1 kg to 0.2 kg at 24 months; 2971 participants; 3 trials; low quality evidence). Following application of TTM SOC there were improvements in physical activity and dietary habits, such as increased exercise duration and frequency, reduced dietary fat intake and increased fruit and vegetable consumption (very low quality evidence). Weight gain was reported as an adverse event in one of the included trials. None of the trials reported health-related quality of life, morbidity, or economic costs as outcomes. The small number of studies and their variable methodological quality limit the applicability of the findings to clinical practice. The main limitations include inadequate reporting of outcomes and the methods for allocation, randomisation and blinding; extensive use of self-reported measures to estimate the effects of interventions on a number of outcomes, including weight loss, dietary consumption and physical activity levels; and insufficient assessment of sustainability due to lack of post-intervention assessments.

Authors' conclusions

The evidence to support the use of TTM SOC in weight loss interventions is limited by risk of bias and imprecision, not allowing firm conclusions to be drawn. When combined with diet or physical activity, or both, and other interventions we found very low quality evidence that it might lead to better dietary and physical activity habits. This systematic review highlights the need for well-designed RCTs that apply the principles of the TTM SOC appropriately to produce conclusive evidence about the effect of TTM SOC lifestyle interventions on weight loss and other health outcomes.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Behaviour changes for dietary and physical exercise modification in overweight and obese adults

Review question

What are the effects of dietary interventions or physical activity interventions, or both, based on the transtheoretical model (TTM) stages of change (SOC) to produce sustainable (one year and longer) weight loss in overweight and obese adults?

Background

Generally, weight loss programmes tend to involve diet and physical activity interventions. The TTM describes a series of five SOC an individual goes through when changing from an unhealthy behaviour to a healthy one. In this review, we assessed the use of the TTM SOC in weight management programmes for overweight and obese adults especially in terms of the effects on weight loss, dietary habits, physical activity and behaviour changes.

Obesity (body mass index of at least 30 kg/m²) and overweight (body mass index of 25 to less than 30 kg/m²) are increasingly being recognised as important public health issues. Together, they contribute to serious health problems and extensive economic costs worldwide. Body mass index (BMI) is a measure of body fat and is defined as the individual's weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in metres (kg/m²). The BMI should be considered as a rough guide only because it is mainly used for whole populations and may not correspond to the same degree of fatness in different individuals (like for athletes and physically non-active individuals).

Study characteristics

We included three studies in our systematic review. Altogether the studies evaluated 2971 participants, with 1467 participants allocated to the intervention groups and 1504 to the control groups. The studies had a length of intervention of 9, 12 and 24 months.

This plain language summary was current as of December 2013.

Key results

The use of the TTM SOC in combination with diet or physical activity, or both, and other interventions in the included studies provided inconclusive evidence about the impact of such interventions on sustainable weight loss (mean difference in favour of the TTM SOC was between 2.1 kg and 0.2 kg at 24 months). However, other positive effects were noted, such as changes in physical activity and dietary habits that included increased exercise duration and frequency, reduced fat intake and increased fruit and vegetable consumption. The studies did not report other important outcomes such as health-related quality of life, illness (morbidity) and economic costs.

Quality of the evidence

Overall, the quality of the evidence was low or very low. The main limitations included incomplete reporting of outcomes, methodological shortcomings, extensive use of self-reported measures and insufficient assessment of sustainability due to the lack of long-term assessments.

3

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS FOR THE MAIN COMPARISON [Explanation]

Application of the transtheoretical model stages of change (TTM SOC) compared with usual advice on diet or exercise, or both, for overweight and obesity

Population: adults with overweight and obesity Settings: hospital and community Intervention: TTM SOC on diet or physical activity, or both Comparison: usual advice on diet or physical activity, or both

Outcomes	Mean differences (95% Cl)	No of participants (studies)	Quality of the evidence (GRADE)	Comments
Weight loss [kg] a) Follow-up: 12 months b) Follow-up: 24 months	a) 0.7 b1) Objectively mea- sured: -0.2 (-1.0 to 0.9) b2) Self measured: -2.1	2971 (3)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Iow ^a	 a) TTM SOC subgroup 1.4 kg, control - 0.7 kg (difference not statistically significant) b1) P = 0.50 b2) P < 0.05
Health-related quality of life	See comment	See comment	See comment	No study reported this outcome
Adverse events	See comment	See comment	See comment	No adverse events were reported
Physical activity, self-reported exercise [minutes per week] Follow-up: 24 months	32 (8 to 55)	665 (1)	⊕○○○ very low ^b	P = 0.008 (from 6 to 24 months) in favour of TTM SOC
Dietary habits a) Diet with ⊲30% fat [%] Follow-up: 12 months b) Servings of fruit (veg- etables) per day [n] Follow-up: 12 months	a) 0.9 b) 0.2 (+ 0.1)	a) 665 (1)	a) ⊕⊖⊖⊖ very low ^b	a) TTM SOC 35.2%, con- trol 36.1% (P = 0.004) b) TTM SOC 1.9 (+ 2.2) , control 1.7 (+ 2.1); (P = 0.016, P = 0.011)
Costs	See comment	See comment	See comment	No study evaluated this outcome

*The basis for the **assumed risk** (e.g. the median control group risk across studies) is provided in footnotes. The **corresponding risk** (and its 95% confidence interval) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the **relative effect** of the intervention (and its 95% CI).

CI: confidence interval; RR: risk ratio

GRADE Working Group grades of evidence

High quality: Further research is very unlikely to change our confidence in the estimate of effect.

Moderate quality: Further research is likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and may change the estimate.

Low quality: Further research is very likely to have an important impact on our confidence in the estimate of effect and is likely to

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

change the estimate. Very low quality: We are very uncertain about the estimate.

^a Downgraded by two levels because of imprecise results (confidence interval includes null effect and benefit or harm) and high risk of performance, detection and recall bias

^bDowngraded by three levels because of few participants and one trial only, high risk of performance, detection and recall bias and indirectness (surrogate outcome parameter)

BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

In this review, overweight and obesity are defined as abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that may impair health. 'Overweight' refers to a body mass index (BMI) equal to or more than 25 to less than 30, and 'obesity' to a BMI equal to or more than 30. BMI is a common measure used in classifying overweight and obesity in adults, and conforms to the World Health Organization (WHO) standard. It is defined as the weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in metres. It provides the most useful population-level measure of overweight and obesity for both sexes and for all ages of adults. Nevertheless, it must be considered as a rough guide only because it may not correspond to the same degree of fatness in different individuals.

Obesity is a major global public health threat due to increasing trends in overweight and obesity among adults and children in many developed and developing countries. The WHO projected that approximately 1.5 billion adults (age 20 years and above) would be overweight in 2008, 500 million of whom would be obese; while at least 43 million children under the age of five years were overweight or obese in 2010 (World Health Organization 2012). In the United States (US), obesity is reaching alarming rates. According to the most recent (2009 to 2010) estimates of the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), 78 million US adults aged 20 years and over (35.7%) and 12.5 million US children and adolescents between 2 and 19 years of age (16.9%) are obese (Ogden 2012a), while 33% and 31.8% of adults and children, respectively, are overweight (Ogden 2012b). In the United Kingdom (UK), obesity figures are slightly lower. According to data from the English Health Survey 2009 to 2010, 23% of adults and 15.5% of children are classified as obese, while approximately 38.5% of adults and 14.5% of children (aged between 2 and 15 years) are overweight (NHS Information Centre 2011).

Obesity results in significant impairment of health and longevity. Obesity also increases individuals' risk of illness and reduces their life expectancy (London Health Observatory 2011). Overweight and obesity are major risk factors for serious chronic diseases, such as type 2 diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, stroke and some forms of cancer (World Health Organization 2012). Osteoarthritis is also more commonly seen among overweight and obese individuals. Obesity reduces quality-adjusted life expectancy by about three years in males and six years in females (Brønnum-Hansen 2007; Pryke 2008). In the US, adult obesity and overweight were associated with 111,909 and 33,746 excess deaths, respectively, in 2000 (Flegal 2005). In the UK, the number of deaths as a result of excess weight was estimated to be 8.7% of the total number of deaths (Banegas 2003), with severely obese individuals on average dying 11 years earlier than non-obese people (London Health Observatory 2011). Furthermore, obesity has huge economic implications for a country from direct treatment costs and from indirect costs (such as sickness absence). For example, in England the disease burden for obesity alone was estimated at GBP 2.7 billion (approximately EUR 3.2 billion, May 2013 conversion rate) in 2007, with a projection to rise to GBP 3.9 billion (approximately EUR 4.6 billion) by 2015, while the NHS expenditure for both obese and overweight individuals was approximately GBP 4.2 billion (approximately EUR 4.9 billion) in 2007 and is expected to rise as high as GBP 6.3 billion (approximately EUR 7.4 billion) by 2015 (Foresight 2007). In the US, the medical care costs of obesity were approximately USD 147 billion (approximately EUR 113 billion, May 2013 conversion rate) in 2008 (Finkelstein 2009).

Description of the intervention

The transtheoretical model (TTM) describes the sequential behaviour change in an individual from an unhealthy behaviour to a healthy one. It is a model of intentional change predicting the possible outcomes during the adaptation process of the 'new' acquired behaviour. The TTM has proven successful as an interventional

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 5 obese adults (Review)

approach in smoking reduction amongst adults (Velicer 1998) but its effectiveness for producing weight reduction in obesity is unclear. Studies have shown that the TTM stages of change (SOC) can be used to plan dietary interventions for short-term weight loss amongst overweight and obese individuals over a minimum of three months (Shaw 2006). The effectiveness of TTM dietary interventions beyond one year is inconsistent (Curry 1992; Greene 1999; Johnson 2006; Johnson 2008; Laforge 1994; Prochaska 2008a; Vallis 2003; Wee 2005). One study found that the TTM algorithm was insensitive and most individuals failed to meet the behavioural criteria of the model stages (Greene 1994), but other studies identified stages of change for uptake of low-fat diet in adults (Auld 1997; Lamb 1996; Read 1996; Steptoe 1996).

The TTM provides a conceptual explanation of the processes that individuals go through when modifying a problem behaviour or acquiring a positive behaviour, in this case changing dietary intake or physical activity, or both, in order to achieve a sustainable weight loss. The SOC is the main construct of the TTM and illustrates the sequential progress and series of stages that individuals will progress through for a specific behaviour transformation (Velicer 1998). The series of five stages of change are precontemplation, contemplation, preparation, action and maintenance; which an individual will go through in adopting a healthy behaviour or quitting the unhealthy one (as shown in Appendix 1) (Prochaska 1992; Prochaska 1997; Prochaska 2008b). The model's two main underlying assumptions are firstly that the majority of people are not ready to change their behaviour and will therefore not be helped by traditional action-oriented prevention programs. Secondly, behavioural change is complex and may unfold in a sequence of stages. Individuals typically adapt these different processes of change according to the progress they have made towards changing their behaviour (DiClemente 1985).

Adverse effects of the intervention

The potential main adverse effects of the intervention include relapse into unhealthy behaviour; weight gain over a specific period of time; and economic costs.

How the intervention might work

The intervention might work by providing information on stagerelated strategies that can be applied to individuals' weight loss management programs. The proposed strategies are intended to change both the dietary and physical activity behaviours of participants to achieve a sustainable proportion of weight loss among overweight and obese adults. The hypothesis is that the TTM truly reflects human behaviour in the process of change (DiClemente 1985). The intervention also enables predictions on which strategies are suitable for the individuals at certain stages; therefore, weight loss strategies are targeted and tailored to meet the participants' needs. Dietary strategies based on the TTM SOC might work by meeting individuals' needs according to the predictions of the TTM; as a result, there will be a change in the dietary habits (such as reduction in daily calories and fatty food consumption) which is repeatable (as the behaviour change takes place), leading to sustainable weight loss. Similarly, physical activity strategies tailored according to the model possibly work by increasing the level of exercise and physical activity, occurring in a continuous and sustainable manner, resulting in the targeted outcome. The significance of such an approach is that the behaviour change takes place voluntarily and is highly self-driven, which may contribute to a sustainable desired behaviour change.

A study among overweight or obese adults (1277 participants with a BMI of 25 to 39.9) claimed that TTM-based tailored feedback can improve healthy eating, exercise, emotional distress management, and weight of the study population. The results showed a significant increase in fruit and vegetable intake and individuals tended to progress to action and maintenance at 24 months (Johnson 2008). However, a review done on the TTM application found that it is difficult to apply the model when looking at dietary change because most studies demonstrated differences in terms of the aspect of diet being examined, as well as the staging algorithms and dietary assessment methodology (Ni Mhurchu 1997).

The TTM is a useful theoretical model in guiding interventions and predicting outcomes for dietary management among adults, as shown in some of the studies above. The studies with a rigorous design have shown statistically significant results that link stages of the TTM with the primary measured outcomes, particularly for large sample studies with longer follow-up periods. It is potentially plausible to apply the TTM to other settings and it may be applicable in measuring other outcomes such as physical exercise modification and weight loss. The two common primary outcomes measured in dietary modification using the TTM as the guidelines are reduction in fat consumption and increase in healthy food intake (that is increase in fruit and vegetable consumption) (Di Noia 2008; Greene 1994; Johnson 2008; Laforge 1994).

Why it is important to do this review

Obesity drugs, dietary modification and physical activity are common interventions used in the management of obesity among overweight and obese individuals in primary care (or community) and clinical settings. A large systematic review (44 clinical trials) of long-term (more than two years) weight loss studies in overweight and obese individuals (19,273 adults with a BMI of at least 25 kg/ m²) from 1966 to 2003 investigated dietary and 'lifestyle', drug therapy (orlistat or sibutramine) and surgical (for example gastric bypass) methods resulting in modest weight loss, and potentially improving markers of cardiovascular risk factors (Douketis 2005). Dietary and lifestyle therapy provided less than 5 kg weight loss after two to four years, drug therapy provided 5 to 10 kg weight loss

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

after one to two years, and surgical therapy provided 25 to 75 kg weight loss after two to four years. The review, however, reported methodological limitations in the included studies that restricted the applicability of findings to overweight and obese individuals in other settings (Douketis 2005). There are few systematic reviews and no clear evidence exists of the effectiveness of such interventions in producing sustainable weight loss beyond one year after intervention among overweight and obese individuals (Douketis 2005; Jain 2005; Nield 2007; Shaw 2006).

A large Cochrane systematic review of 41 randomised controlled trials (from the US, Netherlands, Canada, Australia and UK, with a total of 3476 participants) assessed exercise as a means of achieving weight loss and demonstrated that exercise had a positive effect on body weight in adults who were overweight or obese (Shaw 2006). Exercise alone resulted in a small weight loss compared with no treatment. However, exercise combined with diet resulted in a greater weight reduction than diet alone (mean difference (MD) - 1.0 kg) and increasing exercise intensity increased the magnitude of weight loss (MD - 1.5 kg). The major limitation of the review was the lack of long-term trials included in the analyses (Shaw 2006).

Another Cochrane systematic review of 18 randomised controlled trials examined the effects of the type and frequency of dietary advice given to adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus (1467 participants who were either overweight or had normal weight) (Nield 2007). They reported that dietary advice plus exercise was associated with a statistically significant mean decrease in the glycosylated haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels of 0.9% at six months and 0.1% at 12 months. The study found no statistically significant results in relation to weight loss. There were insufficient data for a meta-analysis, so conclusions on the effects of low-fat or other weight reducing diets were limited (Nield 2007).

A systematic clinical literature review found that dietary and exercise treatments for obese adults produced moderate weight loss (about 3 kg to 5 kg) compared with no treatment or usual care (Jain 2005). Meanwhile, weight loss from drugs used with diet or exercise programs also produced 3 kg to 5 kg of weight loss, but the effects did not last after the drug was stopped. The reported weight loss can be statistically significant but it may not be clinically sufficient to improve patients' health or quality of life. There was a tendency for weight regain or relapse as shown by most studies with long-term follow-up in the review (Jain 2005).

This review collated evidence and allowed rigorous appraisal of how and to what extent the TTM works as a theoretical and pragmatic ('real life tested') framework for lifestyle modification (with diet or physical activity, or both) resulting in sustained weight loss among the target population. The outcomes of this review are relevant for patients and practitioners trying to understand strategies and treatment regimes for overweight and obese people in the hospital and primary care (or community, including at home) settings. The findings of this review are also useful for planning and implementing obesity management programs as well as for policy makers.

This is an updated version of the original Cochrane systematic review (Tuah 2011). In this update we have carefully reviewed the studies included in the original publication, in response to feedback on their eligibility, and searched for new studies. Inconsistencies in the original review have been resolved to provide an accurate assessment of the use of the TTM SOC as a model, theoretical framework or guideline in designing lifestyle modification interventions in overweight and obese adults.

OBJECTIVES

To assess the effects of dietary interventions or physical activity interventions, or both, and other interventions based on the transtheoretical model (TTM) stages of change (SOC) to produce sustainable (one year and longer) weight loss in overweight and obese adults.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

Randomised controlled clinical trials.

Types of participants

Adults, age 18 years and over, who were overweight or obese according to any standard parameters used by the WHO (for example body mass index (BMI), waist measurement, waist-to-hip ratio) and the criteria valid in the country at the time of the start of the trial. Overweight is defined as a BMI of 25 to 29.9 and obesity as a BMI of at least 30.

Participants with co-morbidities, such as diabetes, heart diseases and hypertension, were included in the review.

Types of interventions

Intervention

Application of the transtheoretical model (TTM) stages of change (SOC) combined with lifestyle modification strategies, consisting of dietary intervention or physical activity intervention, or both, which was tailored to an individual who was overweight or obese.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 7 obese adults (Review)

The included studies had to describe the intervention as using the TTM as a model, theoretical framework or guideline in designing lifestyle modification strategies, as stated above. The intervention needed to fulfil the criteria of the TTM SOC including precontemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, and maintenance (Appendix 1) as described by Prochaska and DiClemente (Prochaska 1992). The intervention must be delivered by healthcare professionals or trained lay people and targeted for overweight and obese adults at the hospital or community level, such as at community health centres, general practice clinics, community centres, schools and homes. All studies with an intervention duration from one to 12 months and above were included in the review.

Control

Usual advice on diet or advice on physical activity, or both.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

• Sustained weight loss (changes in weight or BMI at one to five years and above).

• Short-term weight loss (changes in weight or BMI at less than 12 months).

• Health-related quality of life.

Secondary outcomes

The first two outcomes below comprise the main types of secondary outcomes, although additional secondary outcomes are given.

(1) Change in self-reported or measured dietary consumption, defined as

- A reduction in the daily number of calories.
- A reduction in fatty food intake.
- An increase in daily fruit and vegetable consumption.

(2) Change in self-reported or measured physical activity, referring to an increase in any form of physical activity (in terms of intensity, frequency, duration and type) that was non-prescribed or prescribed by health professionals.

• Uptake or increase in physical activity.

(3) Change in other weight loss measures (skin fold measurement, waist measurement, and waist-to-hip ratio).

(4) Change in the SOC progression.

Adverse events

There are three main adverse events measured. These include

- Relapse into unhealthy behaviour and weight gain.
- Morbidity.
- Economic costs.

Covariates, effect modifiers and confounders

• Underlying chronic diseases such as cancer, diabetes, and respiratory disease that may cause weight loss.

- Compliance.
- Pharmaceutical interventions.
- Bariatric surgery.

Timing of outcome measurement

At one month, three months, six months, nine months, one year and, if available, beyond one year, as stated by each trial.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We used the following sources, from inception until specified, for the identification of trials:

- The Cochrane Library (17 December 2013).
- MEDLINE (17 December 2013).
- EMBASE (17 December 2013).
- PsycINFO (17 December 2013).

We also searched databases of ongoing trials including the *meta*Register of Controlled Trials (www.controlled-trials.com/mrct/).

For detailed search strategies, see Appendix 2.

Additional key words that were of relevance could have been detected during any of the electronic or other searches. If this had been the case, we would have modified the electronic search strategies to incorporate these terms. Studies published in any language were included.

Searching other resources

We tried to identify additional studies by searching the reference lists of included trials and (systematic) reviews, meta-analyses and health technology assessment reports.

Potential missing and unpublished studies were sought by contacting experts in the field. We used the library resources at Imperial and the British Library if potentially relevant articles were cited but not available via databases or websites.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

8

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

To determine the studies to be assessed further, two review authors (NM, LF) independently scanned the abstract, title, or both sections of every record retrieved. All potentially relevant articles were investigated as the full text. Inter-rater agreement for selection of potentially relevant studies was measured using the kappa statistic (Cohen 1960) and the value was 0.81, which showed that the strength of agreement between assessors was very good. Where differences in opinion existed, they were resolved by a third party (LG). If resolving disagreement was not possible, the article was added to those 'awaiting assessment' and study authors were contacted for clarification. An adapted PRISMA (preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses) flow chart of the study selection is presented in Figure 1 (Liberati 2009).

9



Figure I. Study flow diagram.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and lobese adults (Review)

¹⁰

Data extraction and management

For studies that fulfilled the inclusion criteria, two review authors (NM, LF) independently abstracted the relevant population and intervention characteristics using standard data extraction templates (for details see Characteristics of included studies; Table 1; Appendix 3; Appendix 4; Appendix 5; Appendix 6; Appendix 7; Appendix 8) with any disagreements resolved by discussion, or if required by a third party (LG).

We sent an e-mail to all authors of included studies to enquire whether they were willing to answer questions regarding their trials. We present the results of this e-mail survey in Appendix 9. Thereafter, we sought relevant missing information on the trial from the primary author(s) of the article, if required.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors (NM, LF) assessed each trial independently. We resolved possible disagreements by consensus, or through consultation with a third party (LG). In cases of disagreement, the rest of the authors were consulted and a judgement was made based on consensus.

We assessed the risk of bias using the Cochrane Collaboration's tool (Higgins 2011a; Higgins 2011b). We used the following criteria.

- Random sequence generation (selection bias).
- Allocation concealment (selection bias).
- Blinding, separated for blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) and blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias).
 - Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias).
 - Selective reporting (reporting bias).
 - Other bias.

We judged the risk of bias criteria as 'low risk', 'high risk' or 'unclear risk' and evaluated individual bias items as described in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011a). We present a 'Risk of bias' graph and a 'Risk of bias summary' figure (Figure 2; Figure 3).

Figure 2. Risk of bias graph: review authors' judgements about each risk of bias item presented as percentages across all included studies.



Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and l l obese adults (Review)

	Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias): Objective outcomes	Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias): Subjective outcomes	Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias): Objective outcomes	Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias): Subjective outcomes	Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias): Objective outcomes	Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias): Subjective outcomes	Selective reporting (reporting bias)	Other bias
Johnson 2008	?	?	?	•	?	•	?	?	•	•
Jones 2003	?	?	?		•	•	•	•		•
Logue 2005	•	?	?	•	•	•	•	•	•	•

Figure 3. Risk of bias summary: review authors' judgements about each risk of bias item for each included study.

We assessed the impact of the individual bias domains on study results at the endpoint and study levels.

For performance bias (blinding of participants and personnel), detection bias (blinding of outcome assessors) and attrition bias (incomplete outcome data), we evaluated risk of bias separately for subjective and objective outcomes.

We defined the following outcomes as objective outcomes.

• Sustained weight loss (measured using weight or BMI at one year and above).

• Short-term weight loss (measured using weight or BMI at less than 12 months).

- Measured change in dietary consumption.
- Measured uptake or change in physical activity.
- Change in other weight loss measures (skin fold
- measurement, waist measurement and waist-to-hip ratio).
 - Relapse into unhealthy behaviour and weight gain.
 - Morbidity.
 - Economic costs.

We defined the following endpoints as subjective outcomes.

- Health-related quality of life.
- Self-reported change in dietary consumption.
- Self-reported uptake or change in physical activity.
- Progression through the SOC.
- Adverse events.

Measures of treatment effect

Dichotomous data were expressed as odds ratios (ORs) or risk ratios (RRs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). Continuous data were expressed as differences in means (MDs) with 95% CIs.

Unit of analysis issues

We took into account the level at which randomisation occurred, such as with cross-over trials, cluster-randomised trials and multiple observations for the same outcome.

We attempted to obtain baseline and follow-up weight and height (or other weight measures used in the trials) from the authors if not reported. For cluster-randomised and cross-over trials, the focus of analysis was on the weight loss value, both absolute and relative, as defined by each study. Different units of analysis (for example OR and RR) were planned to be subjected to a sensitivity analysis. In a cluster-randomised trial, individuals are randomised in groups (that is the group is randomised, not the person). For example, in a TTM study the patients in one general practice may be randomised as a group to receive either the TTM or usual care. Had cluster-randomised trials been included, we had planned to use appropriate statistical analyses of cluster-randomised trials with the intra-cluster correlation coefficient and design effect playing an important role in these analyses (Campbell 2004). In a crossover trial, individuals are randomised to a sequence of interventions and each person is his or her own control. Had there been any cross-over trials among the included studies, we would have compared the intervention(s) and control for each patient to assess the effect of the TTM within each patient. Furthermore, we would have examined any potential sources of bias as a result of the crossover design (for example any carry-over effects that could bias the results). For example, did patients begin the second period (that is the intervention if the first period consisted of the control, or vice versa) in a similar state to how they began the first period, or have the patients' characteristics changed throughout the course of the first period? Analysis of any cross-over trials would have followed guidelines outlined in the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Higgins 2011a). Our initial searches suggested that there would be few if any cross-over trials in the area of the TTM and behaviour modification with respect to obesity.

Dealing with missing data

We contacted the authors to obtain relevant missing data (Appendix 9), if feasible. We carefully performed evaluation of important numerical data, as necessary, with either screened, randomised patients, intention-to-treat (ITT) populations, as-treated or per protocol (PP) populations.

Assessment of heterogeneity

Since substantial clinical and methodological heterogeneity was present across the included trials, study results were not reported as pooled effect estimates from meta-analyses. Had a meta-analysis been appropriate, we would have identified any statistical heterogeneity by visually inspecting the forest plots and using a standard Chi² test with a significance level of $\alpha = 0.1$, in view of the low power of this test. We would have specifically examined heterogeneity with the I² statistic, quantifying inconsistency across studies to assess the impact of heterogeneity on the meta-analysis (Higgins 2002; Higgins 2003), where an I² statistic of 75% or more would have been considered a considerable level of inconsistency (Higgins 2009).

Furthermore, if a meta-analysis had been conducted and statistical heterogeneity had been found, then we would have attempted to determine potential explanations for this heterogeneity by exploring individual study and subgroup characteristics.

Assessment of reporting biases

We had planned to use funnel plots to assess the potential existence of small study bias, in the case where we could include 10 studies or more investigating a particular outcome. Several explanations

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and l3 obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

can be offered for the asymmetry of a funnel plot, including true heterogeneity of effect with respect to trial size, poor methodological design (and hence bias of small trials) and publication bias (Sterne 2011).

Data synthesis

We had planned to summarise data statistically if the data were available, sufficiently similar and of sufficient quality (Higgins 2011a). We would have performed analyses according to the statistical guidelines contained in the latest version of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2011a).

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

In order to avoid a hypothesis-generating situation, we had planned to carry out subgroup analyses only if the primary outcome parameter demonstrated statistically significant differences between the intervention and control groups.

We had planned the following subgroup analyses and to investigate interaction.

- Overweight and obese groups.
- With co-morbidities and without co-morbidities groups.
- Age groups.
- Gender.

Sensitivity analysis

We had planned to perform sensitivity analyses in order to explore the influence of the following factors on effect size.

- Restricting the analysis to published studies.
- Restricting the analysis to take into account risk of bias, as specified in Assessment of risk of bias in included studies.
- Restricting the analysis to very long or large studies to establish how much they dominated the results.

• Restricting the analysis to studies using the following filters: diagnostic criteria, language of publication, source of funding (industry versus other), country.

We had also planned to test the robustness of the results by repeating the analysis using different measures of effect size (RR, OR etc.) and different statistical models (fixed-effect and randomeffects models).

RESULTS

Description of studies

See 'Characteristics of included studies' table and 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table.

Results of the search

The original search strategy (from inception to January 2011) identified 2557 records and the updated search (from January 2011 to December 2013) added another 2403 reports. Following initial screening of titles and abstracts, 186 potentially eligible studies (96 and 90 for the original and updated searches, respectively) were identified for full text review. A total of three studies met the inclusion criteria and were included in the updated review. See Figure 1 for the flow chart of the study selection.

Included studies

The details of the studies are described in the table 'Characteristics of included studies'. A total of three studies were included in the review. Two trials (Johnson 2008; Logue 2005) were of parallel design with a one to one randomisation ratio and one trial (Jones 2003) was of factorial design. The transtheoretical model stages of change (TTM SOC) was used as a framework for intervention and assessment in all included studies. Dietary modification and physical activity were common interventions for weight loss. The trials were published between 2003 and 2008, and the study sample size varied from 665 to 1277 participants. Trial durations across the included studies ranged from 9 to 24 months.

Participants and setting

There were a total of 2971 participants across the three trials, 1467 of which were randomised to intervention groups and 1504 to control groups. Two trials (Johnson 2008; Logue 2005) reported the data for participants in the intervention and control groups finishing each study, whilst one trial did not provide this information (Jones 2003). The percentage of participants who completed the studies ranged from 53.7% to 79.2% in the intervention groups and from 66.7% to 82.4% in the control groups. All participants in the three included trials were analysed on the basis of intention to treat (ITT).

An overview of the populations in the included studies is shown in Table 1. The trials were conducted with the participation of overweight and obese adults only. One trial (Logue 2005) included more female participants, whereas two trials (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003) comprised more male than female participants. Two trials reported age as a mean value (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003), whereas one trial (Logue 2005) reported age as a range of values (with included participants ranging between 40 and 69 years). The included trials used a variety of weight entry criteria: two studies used BMI measures only (BMI cut-off points and BMI range) (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003), whilst one trial used BMI with waistto-hip ratio (WHR) (Logue 2005). Of the two trials that used BMI measures only, one used a BMI cut-off point of 27 kg/m 2 (Jones 2003) while one trial applied a BMI range from 25 to 39.9 (Johnson 2008). Another trial (Logue 2005) used a BMI of at least 25 kg/m² alongside WHR for men and women. Overall,

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and l4 obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

the studies included participants within the BMI range of 25 to 39.9.

One trial (Johnson 2008) did not report whether it included participants with co-morbidities, while two trials included participants with one or more co-morbidities, such as type 2 diabetes mellitus (Jones 2003) and hypercholesterolaemia (Logue 2005). Two trials included participants on a variety of medications, such as psychotropic drugs (Logue 2005) and insulin (Jones 2003), whilst one study provided no information on medications (Johnson 2008). Participants in the included trials were mostly white or Caucasian and African American. Two studies were conducted in the US (Johnson 2008; Logue 2005) and one in Canada (Jones 2003). The baseline characteristics of the included trials are stated in Appendix 5 and Appendix 6.

Interventions

The TTM SOC was used as a framework for intervention and assessment of participants' stages of change in the included studies (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003; Logue 2005) (Appendix 3).

The TTM SOC was used with physical activity or dietary modification, or both, with other interventions. One trial evaluated dietary modification (by dietary assessment and telephone counselling) plus other interventions (such as information on self-help diabetes care and blood test strips) compared with usual treatment (blood test strips only) and showed significantly greater weight loss (measured as a direct weight reduction) for those progressing to the action stage compared to those who remained in a preaction stage (that is contemplation or pre-contemplation) (Jones 2003). Another trial evaluated a combination of physical activity, diet and other interventions such as stress management strategies (by giving individualised feedback) compared to usual care and showed significant sustainable weight loss (measured as a direct weight reduction), particularly at 24 months (Johnson 2008). In addition, a trial involving assessment, advice and 'prescription' of dietary changes and physical activity (alongside anthropometric evaluation) combined with monetary rewards for completing each assessment, compared to augmented usual care, resulted in early weight loss (measured as direct weight reduction) at six months only, but no sustainable weight loss at 12 or 24 months (Logue 2005). The descriptions of interventions for the included trials are shown in Appendix 3.

The trials varied in length of intervention (from 9 to 24 months). One trial (Logue 2005) had an intervention duration of 24 months, another trial lasted for 12 months (Jones 2003), while the length of intervention in one study was nine months (Johnson 2008). Two trials reported final assessments but did not follow up participants after the end of the intervention (Jones 2003; Logue 2005), whilst one trial followed participants at intervals after the intervention (Johnson 2008).

All studies were community-based and were conducted in primary care practices (Logue 2005), health centres (Jones 2003) and homes (Johnson 2008). The majority of interventions were delivered by health professionals, including weight loss advisors, dieticians and counsellors. One trial did not clearly state which personnel delivered the intervention (Johnson 2008).

Outcomes

In our systematic review, the primary outcomes measured were sustained weight loss maintenance (at one to five years and above), short-term weight loss (at 1 to 12 months) (both measured using weight or BMI) and health-related quality of life. One trial reported weight loss at 12 months (Jones 2003) and two trials at 24 months (Logue 2005; Johnson 2008). None of the included studies measured or reported health-related quality of life. The secondary outcomes that were measured were self-reported changes in calorie or energy intake or expenditure (Jones 2003; Johnson 2008; Logue 2005), fruit and vegetable consumption (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003), physical activity frequency (Johnson 2008) and duration (Logue 2005), as well as measured change in waist circumference (Logue 2005) and progression through the SOC (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003). Weight gain was reported as an adverse event in one study (Logue 2005). No other adverse intervention effects were reported. Details of the outcomes are stated in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table and 'Effects of interventions' section of this review.

Excluded studies

In total, there were 183 excluded studies in this review: 93 in the original review and 90 in the updated review. The details of those studies are shown in the 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table. The main reasons for excluding these studies were that other theoretical frameworks, such as cognitive behaviour therapy, self-efficacy theory, social action theory and social cognitive theory, were used in designing the intervention (whether in combination with the TTM SOC or not); study participants were children or adolescents or had a normal body weight (BMI less than 25); or the study design did not meet the criteria for a randomised controlled trial. For instance, one study was excluded as it employed a non-random method (that is alternate allocation) to allocate participants to the intervention and control groups (Vermunt 2011).

Risk of bias in included studies

The risk of bias of the included studies is described in 'Characteristics of included studies'.

All trials had some methodological weaknesses according to the criteria applied. No trial reported adequate methods for randomisation and allocation. None of the included studies reported methods for blinding participants and personnel. Two studies used an intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis to deal with missing objective data (Jones 2003; Logue 2005) while one study used subjective

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

outcome measures only (ITT was used for missing weight values in a subsample of participants who provided objective data) (Johnson 2008). All studies reported adequate imputation techniques for subjective outcomes. However, they were subjected to reporting bias as they inadequately reported weight loss and other outcome data (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003; Logue 2005). The assessment for each domain is explained below and shown in the 'Risk of bias' graph (Figure 2) and 'Risk of bias' summary (Figure 3).

Allocation

Random sequence generation (selection bias)

One trial reported the method of randomisation (Logue 2005) and was therefore categorised as 'low risk' for selection bias. The other trials stated that participants were randomised and no further explanation was given (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003). These studies were graded 'unclear' with regards to selection bias (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003).

Allocation concealment (selection bias)

One trial reported that allocation to the groups was concealed (Logue 2005) but it was unclear whether concealment was done appropriately. The other two studies did not describe allocation concealment (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003).

Blinding

Blinding (performance bias): objective and subjective outcomes

One trial reported that participants and staff were blinded while obtaining baseline measures; however, it was unclear whether they were blinded during the study (Logue 2005). The rest of the included trials did not explain whether investigators or participants, or both, were blinded during the study (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003). All included trials were considered 'unclear' in terms of blinding for objective outcomes. For subjective outcomes there was a high risk of performance bias in all trials.

Blinding (detection bias): objective outcomes

One study did not use any objective measures (that is weight loss was self-reported) (Johnson 2008), therefore it was classified as 'unclear' with regards to this domain (Johnson 2008). The rest of the included trials did not provide adequate information on blinding during assessment (Jones 2003; Logue 2005). However, it was unlikely that the objective outcomes (that is weight loss measures) were affected by unblinded outcome assessors and therefore these studies were designated 'low risk' for detection bias (Jones 2003; Logue 2005).

Blinding (detection bias): subjective outcomes

The included studies did not explain whether outcome assessors (that is participants in this case) were blinded during assessment (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003; Logue 2005). They were thus considered 'high risk' in terms of detection bias.

Incomplete outcome data

Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias): objective outcomes

Two trials addressed incomplete data for objective outcomes by incorporating imputation techniques (Jones 2003; Logue 2005). One trial did not employ any objective measures and was categorised as 'unclear risk' in terms of attrition bias (Johnson 2008).

Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias): subjective outcomes

The included trials addressed the incomplete data for subjective outcomes by incorporating imputation techniques (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003; Logue 2005). However, one trial had high attrition rates (in total, only 54% in the intervention group and 67% in the control group finished the trial) and was characterised 'unclear risk' with regards to this domain (Johnson 2008). The other two trials were categorised 'low risk' in terms of attrition bias (Jones 2003; Logue 2005).

Selective reporting

Although the study protocols were not available, it appears that the included studies reported all expected outcomes (that is weight loss, diet and physical activity outcomes, SOC progression). However, the included trials did not provide complete weight loss data (that is short-term weight loss, at least 5% weight loss, weight loss at 12 months, energy intake and expenditure) and were thus subjected to a 'high risk' of reporting bias (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003; Logue 2005).

Other potential sources of bias

All trials used valid measures (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003; Logue 2005). However, they also used self-reported instruments to measure subjective outcomes (that is self-reported changes in weight, physical activity, dietary intake and SOC), which has subjected these trials to risk for recall bias. One study performed objective

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and l6 obese adults (Review)

measures of weight, physical activity and food intake in a subsample of participants (n = 202/1277) to try to protect against recall bias (Johnson 2008).

Effects of interventions

See: Summary of findings for the main comparison

For details on primary and secondary outcome measures see Appendix 8. All reported outcomes refer to the comparison of the application of the TTM SOC with 'usual' care.

Meta-analysis for sustained or short-term weight loss, as well as other outcomes, was not appropriate, primarily because of the clinical and methodological heterogeneity across the study interventions. In particular, interventions varied in content, frequency and intention (see Characteristics of included studies). There were also variations in the timing of the outcome measurement and the types of outcomes presented (dichotomous versus continuous, objective versus self-reported) in the included trials. Last but not least, the included studies were methodologically weak with regards to reporting bias and thus meta-analysis could be misleading, if feasible at all.

Primary outcomes

Weight loss

The application of the TTM SOC as a theoretical framework for dietary or physical activity interventions, or both, as well as combined with monetary rewards or stress management interventions, resulted in statistically significant, sustainable (one year and longer) weight loss in one trial (Johnson 2008) while one trial indicated non-significant sustainable weight loss (Logue 2005). Another trial reported significant weight loss for participants in the intervention group in the action stage compared to those in a pre-action stage at 12 months, but no comparison was reported between the intervention and control groups (Jones 2003). None of the trials reported short-term weight loss results (less than 12 months), although short-term weight change was measured in two studies (Johnson 2008; Logue 2005). All trials used a direct measure of weight (kg) as the outcome measure (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003; Logue 2005). Two studies reported objective weight loss outcomes measured at a diabetes centre (Jones 2003) and primary care physician offices using calibrated weight scales (Logue 2005) while one trial used self-reported measures of weight, which were found to correlate well (0.99) with objective measures that were conducted in a subgroup (n = 202) of participants using beam scales (Johnson 2008).

All trials had some methodological weaknesses (see 'Risk of bias in included studies'). In the methodologically strongest trial, the TTM SOC used as a framework for an intervention including assessment, advice and 'prescription' of dietary changes and physical activity (alongside anthropometric evaluation) compared to usual care resulted in early (at 12 months) mean weight loss for both the intervention and control groups; however, the mean difference of -0.5 kg (95% CI -1.3 to 0.3) between the groups at 12 months was not statistically significant (Logue 2005). Furthermore, at the end of the intervention (24 months) 60% of all participants regained the lost weight and returned to their baseline weight. The mean weight change was slightly higher in the intervention group (-0.4 kg; 95% CI -1.1 to 0.4) compared to the control group (- 0.2 kg; 95% CI -1.0 to 0.7) at 24 months, though this difference was statistically non-significant (P = 0.17). The weight change between the intervention and control groups was -0.2 kg (95% CI -1.0 to 0.9; P = 0.50) at 24 months of the trial, indicating no statistically significant effect on sustainable weight loss at either 12 or 24 months (Logue 2005). Although weight change was measured at 6, 12, 18 and 24 months, short-term (six months) results were not provided for this outcome (results for 6 and 12 months were combined, as were those for 18 and 24 months). This trial had a high risk of selective reporting and other bias.

Another trial applied the TTM SOC in combination with diet, physical activity and stress management interventions (Johnson 2008). Participants in the treatment group were categorised into three subgroups for three types of behaviour: healthy eating (that is reducing dietary fat to 30% of calories and calorie reduction of 500 calories per day), physical exercise (that is at least 30 minutes of moderate exercise per day, five days per week or more) and addressing emotional stress (that is using healthy strategies rather than eating to cope with the reduction in food intake). The study showed a statistically significant sustained self-reported weight loss in the treatment group among those who were in a pre-action stage for both healthy eating and exercise (n = 617) compared to the control group (mean difference (MD) -2.1 kg; P < 0.05) at 24 months (Johnson 2008). For those in the healthy eating behaviour group, a weight loss of at least 5% of one's body weight was more frequent amongst participants in the treatment group (27.4%) compared to those in the control group (20.3%) with a statistically significant overall effect at 24 months (OR 1.22 (95% CI 1.01 to 1.48); P < 0.05). Similarly, for the exercise behaviour intervention, a weight loss of 5% or more was more frequent in the treatment group (28.8%) than in the control group (19.4%) with a trend toward significantly increasing differences over time (OR 1.32 (95% CI 0.99 to 1.75); P = 0.05). In the intervention that combined healthy eating and exercise behaviours, a weight loss of 5% or more was more frequent amongst participants in the intervention group (30%) compared to those in the control group (18.6%) at 24 months. The overall intervention effect appeared to increase over time (OR 1.35 (95% CI 1.01 to 1.81); P = 0.05). Although weight loss was self-reported, the investigators collected objective weight measures from a subgroup of 202 participants, which were found to correlate well (0.99) with self-reported data. In addition, despite the fact that participants in both groups completed assessments at baseline, 6, 12 and 24 months, short-term

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

(six months) or minimally sustainable (12 months) weight loss results were not presented in the report as the scope of the report focused on sustained weight loss only (Johnson 2008). This trial was associated with a high risk of performance and detection bias for this outcome and also had a high risk of selective reporting and other bias.

Finally, a trial used the TTM SOC with diet and blood testing strip interventions to assess participants' readiness to change their behaviour with regards to self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG), healthy eating and smoking cessation (Jones 2003). Participants received one or more of the above interventions (SMBG, healthy eating, smoking cessation). The study reported greater sustained weight reduction amongst participants in the healthy eating group who progressed to an action stage (that is individuals who had changed their behaviour) than participants who remained in a preaction stage (that is individuals in the pre-contemplation, contemplation or preparation stages) for the intervention group at 12 months (1.4 kg versus 0.7 kg), but this did not reach statistical significance (Jones 2003). There was a statistically significant weight loss amongst participants progressing to an action stage compared to those remaining in a pre-action stage for the intervention group (1.8 kg versus 0.3 kg; P < 0.01) in both the SMBG and healthy eating groups at 12 months. Assessments were obtained at 3, 6, 9 and 12 months for the intervention groups and at baseline and 12 months for participants in the control groups. However, the data for the outcomes measured, such as short-term weight loss at three, six and nine months in the healthy eating and both healthy eating and SMBG combined intervention groups, were not reported. In addition, no comparison between the intervention and control groups was reported (Jones 2003). This trial had a high risk of selective reporting and other bias.

Health-related quality of life

Health-related quality of life was one of the primary outcomes identified in this review but was not reported in any of the included trials.

Secondary outcomes

Self-reported change in dietary consumption and measured change in dietary consumption

The TTM SOC combined with diet or physical activity, or both, and other interventions often resulted in statistically significant self-reported changes in dietary consumption (measured as change in daily energy or calorie intake or change in daily fruit and vegetable intake, or both) as reported in the included trials (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003; Logue 2005). Dietary consumption was measured using validated Food Frequency Questionnaires (FFQ). All studies employed self-administered retrospective data collection methods to measure the effect of TTM SOC interventions on dietary consumption and thus the results need to be interpreted with caution due to the possibility of recall, performance and detection bias.

Change in daily calorie intake

A trial using the TTM SOC combined with diet and blood testing strip interventions reported significantly lower calorie intake from fat (that is consuming a diet with < 30% fat) amongst participants in the intervention group compared to the control group (35.2% versus 36.1%; P = 0.004) for healthy eating at 12 months (Jones 2003).

In addition, in another trial the TTM SOC application in combination with diet, physical activity and stress management interventions showed a statistically significant overall change (OR 1.61 (95% CI 1.33 to 1.94); P < 0.001) in the number of participants who progressed to the action or maintenance stages in the intervention group compared to the control group for healthy eating behaviour at 6 (43.9% versus 31.3%), 12 (43.1% versus 35.2%) and 24 months (47.5% versus 34.3%) (Johnson 2008). Healthy eating was defined as reducing dietary fat to 30% of calories as well as a reduction of 500 calories per day. The term 'progress to action or maintenance stage' refers to an individual's readiness to engage in a healthy behaviour (Johnson 2008). Dietary calorie intake data for the intervention and control groups at 6 and 12 months were not explicitly reported. In addition, no overall comparison between the TTM SOC and control groups was reported (Johnson 2008).

Finally, a trial that combined the TTM SOC with diet, physical activity and monetary reward interventions reported no statistically significant mean change in energy intake per day in the intervention group compared to the control (P = 0.69) at 24 months (Logue 2005). There was a statistically significant reduction in the mean energy intake per day for both groups combined (- 250 kcal/day; P < 0.0001) throughout the 6 to 24 months follow-up. The mean energy intake values for the intervention and control groups were not provided (Logue 2005).

Change in fruit and vegetable consumption

Two trials reported statistically significant changes in fruit and vegetable consumption at 6, 12 and 24 months. In one trial, when the TTM SOC was applied with a diet intervention a resulting significant (P = 0.016) between-groups change in servings of fruits per day was observed at 12 months, with an average of 1.9 servings for the intervention group compared to 1.7 servings for the control group (Jones 2003). There was also a significant (P = 0.011) increase in vegetable servings in the intervention group (+2.2 servings per day) compared to the control group (+2.1 servings per day) at 12 months (Jones 2003).

In addition, a trial that used the TTM SOC in combination with diet, physical activity and stress management interventions showed

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and l8 obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

a statistically significant overall change (OR 1.63 (95% CI 1.34 to 1.97); P < 0.0001) in fruit and vegetable consumption for participants progressing to the action and maintenance stage in the intervention group compared to those in the control group at 6 (44.0% versus 31.4%), 12 (45.3% versus 39.6%) and 24 months (48.5% versus 39.0%) (Johnson 2008). Short-term (up to 12 months) fruit and vegetable consumption data for the intervention and control groups were not explicitly reported. Again, no overall comparison between the intervention and control groups was provided (Johnson 2008).

Meta-analysis for this outcome was not appropriate mainly due to the variability in the types of outcomes used (dichotomous versus continuous data).

Self-reported uptake of physical activity and measured change in physical activity

There were two trials (Johnson 2008; Logue 2005) reporting uptake of physical activity using the TTM SOC in combination with diet, physical activity and stress management interventions at 24 months. The outcomes reported were changes in physical activity frequency (that is per cent increased uptake per week) (Johnson 2008) as well as changes in exercise duration (that is minutes per week) and energy expenditure (kcal/kg per day) (Logue 2005). Both studies used validated questionnaires (Johnson 2008; Logue 2005). However, the use of self-reported retrospective data subjected these studies to risk for recall bias, performance and detection bias.

Change in physical activity frequency

In one trial, the TTM SOC in combination with diet, physical activity and stress management interventions showed an increase in exercise habits (that is 30 minutes per day, 5 to 7 days per week) amongst participants progressing to the action and maintenance stage in the intervention group compared to the control group at 6 (43.0% versus 34.6%), 12 (37.7% versus 35.9%) and 24 months (44.9% versus 38.1%) (Johnson 2008). There was a significant group effect among those in the pre-action stages for exercise at baseline, beginning at six months, which was maintained at all time points (OR 1.27 (95% CI 1.03 to 1.57); P < 0.05) (Johnson 2008). No overall comparison between the TTM SOC and usual care groups was provided (Johnson 2008).

Change in physical activity duration

The TTM SOC combined with diet, physical activity and monetary reward interventions resulted in a statistically significant increase in the mean self-reported exercise (minutes per week) in the intervention group versus the control group (P = 0.008) from 6 to 24 months; the mean difference between the intervention and the usual care groups over the total duration of the study (between 6 and 24 months) was 31.5 minutes (95% CI 7.98 to 55.02) (Logue 2005).

Change in energy expenditure

Energy expenditure was measured using weekly physical activity recalls in one study (Logue 2005). The findings showed a significant increase in mean energy expenditure per day (+2 kcal/kg per day; P = 0.04) for both groups combined (Logue 2005). However, the difference in energy expenditure for the intervention group versus the control group was not statistically significant (P = 0.31) at 24 months (Logue 2005). The data on energy expenditure at 6, 12 and 18 months were not explicitly reported. Moreover, the mean energy expenditure values for the intervention and control groups were not provided (Logue 2005).

Change in weight loss measures

Change in other weight loss measures (for example skin fold measurement, waist measurement and waist-to-hip ratio) was reported in one study (Logue 2005). In this study, the TTM SOC in combination with diet, physical activity and monetary rewards interventions showed no significant mean waist girth change in the intervention group compared to the control group (P = 0.57); however, the effects for both groups combined showed a significant decrease in mean waist girth (1.7 cm (95% CI 0.9 to 2.5 cm); P = 0.0001) at 24 months (Logue 2005).

Progression through the SOC

Two trials reported progression through the SOC as an outcome (Johnson 2008; Jones 2003). The term 'progress to action stage' refers to individuals who have changed behaviour within the last six months, whereas 'maintenance stage' refers to individuals who have maintained the behaviour change for at least six months. One trial using the TTM SOC in combination with diet and blood testing strip interventions reported that more participants in the SMBG intervention groups (43.4% for 'pathway to change' plus strips and 30.5% for 'pathway to change' only) progressed to the action or maintenance stages in comparison to the control group (27.0% for treatment as usual plus strips and 18.4% for treatment as usual only) at 12 months (P < 0.001) (Jones 2003). Similarly, there was a greater proportion of participants who moved to the action or maintenance stages in the intervention (32.5%) versus control (25.8%) groups for healthy eating behaviour (P < 0.001). Some of the information for the outcomes measured in the intervention and control groups was not complete, specifically sample size and proportions of no events (Jones 2003).

In addition, in another trial the TTM SOC used in combination with diet, physical activity and stress management interventions showed that a greater proportion of participants progressed to action or maintenance stages (individuals' readiness to engage in healthy behaviour) in the intervention group than the control

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

group for healthy eating behaviour at 6 (43.9% versus 31.3%), 12 (43.1% versus 35.2%) and 24 months (47.5% versus 34.3%) (Johnson 2008). The overall group effect for all time points was statistically significant (OR 1.61 (95% CI 1.33 to 1.94); P < 0.001). With regards to exercise outcomes, participants in the intervention group were more likely to move to action or maintenance stages compared to the control group at 6 (43.0% versus 34.6%), 12 (37.7% versus 35.9%) and 24 months (44.9% versus 38.1%). There was a significant group effect at six months that was maintained at all time points (OR 1.27 (95% CI 1.03 to 1.57); P < 0.05). In addition, in comparison with the control group, more participants in the intervention group moved to action or maintenance stages in the fruit and vegetable outcome at 6 (44.0% versus 31.4%), 12 (45.3% versus 39.6%) and 24 months (48.5% versus 39.0%). Based on the overall group effect, the association between the intervention and outcome was statistically significant at all time points (OR 1.63 (95% CI 1.34 to 1.97); P < 0.0001). Data on this outcome measure were not adequately reported for the intervention and control groups (specifically, values for no event and sample size) (Johnson 2008).

Adverse events

Morbidity

Morbidity as an adverse event outcome was not reported by the included trials.

Weight gain

There was significant weight gain for both the intervention and control groups combined after 12 months (from 12 to 24 months) in one trial (P < 0.0001), but there were no other data reported on the given outcome (Logue 2005). Most participants lost weight during the first 6 to 12 months but then relapsed.

Costs

None of the included trials reported any kind of economic cost as an outcome.

Reporting bias

In this review, it was not possible to assess reporting bias using funnel plots because there were only three trials included, the types of outcomes varied and the estimated effect measures used in each trial differed.

Summary of main results

Three trials were identified that met the criteria for the review and were relatively recent (published in the last 10 years). The trials were heterogeneous, particularly in terms of interventions and outcomes and had different sample sizes (from 665 to 1277 participants), with 2971 participants evaluated in total. They were mostly conducted in primary care settings (apart from one intervention which was delivered at home), were mainly delivered by health professionals, and had short to medium term follow-up (24 months or less). Weight in kilograms was the primary body weight measure used in the trials. Waist girth was also used in one trial. The TTM SOC was used as a framework for intervention to assess participants' stage of change. All included trials were performed on an intention-to-treat (ITT) basis.

When looking at the available evidence on sustained weight loss one study using self-reported measures reported a statistically significant difference of 2.1 kg (P < 0.05) in favour of the intervention group (Johnson 2008), while the other study using objective measures found a non-significant difference of 0.2 kg (P = 0.17) when comparing the intervention to the control group (Logue 2005). However, due to the small number of studies and their variable methodological quality (especially with regards to selective reporting), it is challenging to draw solid conclusions about the effectiveness of dietary, physical activity and other TTM SOCbased interventions in producing sustainable (one year and longer) weight loss in overweight and obese adults. Specifically, sustainability of weight loss was not sufficiently assessed in the included studies. Only one study measured weight loss at 12 months followup (Johnson 2008), while the other two studies did not include a post-intervention assessment to measure weight loss beyond the end of the intervention (Jones 2003; Logue 2005). In addition, selective reporting was observed with some weight loss and other outcome data not adequately reported. One study provided 12month weight loss data for the intervention groups only (Jones 2003); another trial just reported post-intervention weight loss data (Johnson 2008); while only one trial provided results at both 12 and 24 months (Logue 2005). Heterogeneity in the measures employed to estimate weight loss was also evident. One study used self-reported weight loss measures with objective measures applied to a subsample of participants (Johnson 2008), while the rest of the included trials used objective measures only (Jones 2003; Logue 2005). The varying levels of weight loss in combination with the limited number and the heterogeneity of studies do not allow firm conclusions about sustainable weight loss.

The review also shows that the TTM SOC combined with physical activity or diet, or both, and other interventions (for example stress management) can produce statistically significant effects on other outcome measures, particularly changes in dietary consumption and physical activity levels. One study reported significant treatment effects for calorie intake (47.5% versus 34.3%; P < 0.001), fruit and vegetable consumption (48.5% versus 39.0%; P < 0.001) and physical activity frequency (44.9% versus 38.1%;

DISCUSSION

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 20 obese adults (Review)

P < 0.05) in the intervention group progressing to action and maintenance stages compared to control at 24 months (Johnson 2008); another study found significant between-group differences for calorie intake from fat (35.2% versus 36.1%; P = 0.004), fruit consumption (1.9 versus 1.7 servings; P = 0.016) and vegetable consumption (2.2 versus 2.1 servings; P = 0.011) at 12 months (Jones 2003); while one trial found non-significant reductions in energy intake (P = 0.69) and expenditure (P = 0.31) but significant differences in exercise duration (31.5 minutes; 95% CI 7.98 to 55.02; P = 0.008) between the intervention and control groups at 24 months (Logue 2005). Although the small number of studies and the use of self-reported measures in these studies did not permit us to collate conclusive evidence about the impact of TTM SOC interventions on dietary and physical activity changes, the available evidence demonstrates some significant improvements in dietary and exercise habits among those receiving a TTM SOC intervention, which is worth noting.

Overall completeness and applicability of evidence

Relevance of the evidence

The TTM SOC is a useful theoretical and pragmatic intervention framework for some aspects of lifestyle modification in overweight and obese individuals. This review aimed to demonstrate the effectiveness of TTM SOC diet or physical activity, or both, and other interventions in producing sustained weight loss. The included studies do not provide strong evidence to judge whether such interventions can lead to sustainable weight loss. The small number of studies and the clinical and methodological heterogeneity among the studies reduce the likelihood of drawing conclusive evidence. Nevertheless, there are some early signs of positive effects of TTM SOC lifestyle modification interventions on diet and physical activity, with participants in the intervention groups significantly reducing calorie intake from fat while increasing fruit and vegetable consumption as well as exercise levels at 12 and 24 months.

External validity

All trials included male and female adult participants from diverse backgrounds and were conducted in community settings. From this aspect, the findings of the review are generalizable to overweight and obese adults who are undergoing lifestyle modification programmes for weight loss, specifically programmes which are delivered in community settings, including at home. However, the small number of studies, the methodological weaknesses among those studies (for example use of self-reported outcome measures) and the limited contextual heterogeneity (studies were conducted in Canada and the US) hinder the replicability and applicability of findings in other settings. In addition, one trial recruited participants from a selected population, namely people with diabetes, which might affect its generalizability to other settings (Jones 2003). Another trial included obese participants with a number of co-morbidities, such as hypertension, hypercholesterolaemia, arthritis and diabetes (Logue 2005). The two trials that contained participants with co-morbidities (Jones 2003; Logue 2005) did not present analyses by co-morbidity subgroups; therefore, it is unclear whether there would be any significant differences in outcomes with co-morbidities versus without co-morbidities.

Relevance to review's objectives

The included studies provide insufficient information to examine the effectiveness of dietary or physical activity interventions, or both, in some instances also combined with other interventions, based on the TTM SOC for weight loss in overweight and obese adults. Two studies reported between-group differences in weight loss at 24 months and their results varied (Johnson 2008; Logue 2005). Another study provided 12-month weight loss data for the intervention group only (Jones 2003). The review may benefit from studies with at least 12 months duration of intervention and 12 months follow-up to assess the sustainability of weight loss, particularly at 24 months and beyond. The relevant points in the inclusion criteria were investigated and presented in the results, including additional and adverse outcomes, a summary of outcomes and potential bias.

Relevance to current practice

Obesity is one of the world's fastest growing health threats, and commissioning and developing obesity management programmes is a priority for policy makers, clinicians and administrators in health systems across the world. This review can be used to improve the design and evaluation of TTM SOC lifestyle interventions by informing those involved in such programmes about the current limitations in the planning, implementation and evaluation of TTM SOC lifestyle modification programmes and the need for well-designed interventions that apply the principles of the model appropriately to produce sustainable health benefits. It also informs practitioners on existing evidence and expected outcomes (such as weight loss, change in physical activity and dietary intake) when using the TTM SOC with weight management programmes. Finally, it can also serve to inform and enhance patients' understanding of the effectiveness and limitations of TTM SOC weight loss programmes.

The TTM SOC is a promising model of behaviour change. It can lead to improvements in dietary and physical activity habits when combined with diet, physical activity and other interventions. However, there is weak evidence on the impact of TTM SOC interventions on weight loss.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 21 obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Quality of the evidence

Three randomised controlled trials (including a total of 2971 participants) were evaluated in this systematic review following the use of a set of inclusion and exclusion criteria. Meta-analysis was not appropriate because there were different types of outcomes presented in the trials (dichotomous versus continuous) and the data for the intervention and control groups for each outcome were not completely reported in the published reports. There were also variations in the intervention content, frequency and duration, as well as timing of outcome measurement, in the included trials. The Summary of findings for the main comparison provides an assessment of the quality of evidence for weight loss (low quality), physical activity (very low quality evidence) and dietary habits (very low quality evidence). Although the table includes six outcomes, we have been unable to undertake an assessment of quality of life, adverse events and cost data due to inadequate information.

One of the key methodological limitations in the included trials was the selective reporting of weight loss data, hindering assessment of the effectiveness of TTM SOC lifestyle interventions in producing short and long-term weight loss. Selective data disclosure was also observed in the reporting of diet and physical activity outcomes. We considered imprecision to affect the quality of evidence across all the outcomes. Two of the three interventions did not include a post-intervention assessment and therefore it was challenging to assess long-term weight loss sustainability, prompting us to downgrade the outcome for indirectness. There was also inadequate reporting of information on methods of randomisation, allocation concealment and blinding in most trials, to the extent that most studies were categorised as 'unclear' in terms of bias. Other potential sources of bias were also identified (for example recall bias due to self-reported data gathering). The trials were performed on an intention-to-treat basis but the aforementioned bias issues affected the internal validity of the results, leading us to downgrade the evidence due to risk of bias across the outcomes reported in the Summary of findings for the main comparison.

Potential biases in the review process

The ways in which potential biases in the review process were minimised include well-defined inclusion and exclusion criteria; independent data extraction by two assessors; and use of the Cochrane risk of bias tool (Higgins 2009). Though not necessarily a limitation, conclusions on sustainable weight loss beyond two years cannot be made since only a small number of studies met the inclusion criteria and these studies measured weight loss up to two years. It was not possible to assess reporting bias using funnel plots primarily because the types of outcomes and the estimated effect measures used in each trial were different. Furthermore, due to the heterogeneity across the studies and the lack of ability to combine the trials into a meta-analysis, it is challenging to make a firm judgement about sustainable weight loss up to two years when one study reports significant effects, one finds no significant sustainable weight loss, and another trial does not report an overall between-group comparison.

Agreements and disagreements with other studies or reviews

The included studies do not provide conclusive evidence about the effectiveness of the TTM SOC in combination with physical activity or diet, or both, and other interventions in producing sustainable weight loss (the mean difference in the included studies was between 2.1 kg and 0.2 kg at 24 months). Several reviews support this finding, although they did not look specifically at the TTM SOC as a theoretical framework, and emphasize the need for well-designed clinical trials to assess the effectiveness of such interventions. A large systematic review of dietary and lifestyle therapy interventions showed a mean weight loss of 3.5 (SD 2.4) kg after two to three years amongst overweight and obese individuals, which was increased to 3.6 (SD 2.6) kg after four to seven years (Douketis 2005). However, the authors concluded that the methodological limitations in the included studies hinder the applicability of the findings to obese participants assessed in everyday clinical practice and that additional research is needed to assess the effectiveness and clinical significance of such interventions. Similarly, a systematic clinical review found moderate weight loss (about 3 to 5 kg) for dietary and exercise interventions amongst obese adults compared with usual care (Jain 2005). Again, the review author pointed out potential methodological flaws in the included studies (for example unclear randomisation, lack of blinding, high attrition rates) that can bias the results and the author highlighted the need for high quality clinical trials that fulfil the requirements of evidence-based medicine. Another large systematic review argued that exercise combined with diet resulted in a greater weight reduction than diet alone or physical activity alone (MD -1.0 kg) (Shaw 2006). However, the authors recognised that no conclusive evidence can be drawn from the included trials as their duration varied from 3 to 12 months, hindering evaluation of weight loss sustainability.

In addition, this review provides early evidence that the TTM SOC combined with diet or physical activity, or both, and other interventions can improve exercise and dietary habits, in particular reduced fatty food intake and increased fruit and vegetable consumption, which were sustainable over relatively long periods (12 to 24 months). This finding contrasts with the results from an earlier TTM SOC and diet review which reported mixed evidence on dietary change amongst overweight and obese adults. However, the authors of the review argued that most included studies differed in terms of the aspect of diet being examined, staging algorithms and dietary assessment methodology used. Therefore, there were significant variations in results which made it difficult to interpret the results of the studies (Ni Mhurchu 1997). The studies

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 22 obese adults (Review)

included in the review were not specifically randomised controlled trials and the limited number of trials at that time, combined with the use of a less robust review methodology, may have affected the results.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

Implications for practice

The transtheoretical model (TTM) stages of change (SOC) is widely used as an intervention framework in weight management programmes across community settings, including at home. This review aimed to assess the use of the TTM SOC as a theoretical framework for dietary interventions or physical activity interventions, or both, in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults. The small number of studies and the clinical and methodological heterogeneity among the studies reduce the ability to draw firm conclusions. The included studies provide low quality evidence on the impact of TTM SOC interventions on sustainable weight loss (the mean difference between the intervention and control groups ranged from 2.1 kg to 0.2 kg at 24 months). There is very low quality evidence that TTM SOC and a combination of physical activity or diet, or both, and other interventions (such as stress management and self-monitoring of blood glucose) can result in significant improvements in dietary (that is reducing dietary fat by 30% and increasing fruit and vegetable servings) and physical activity (that is an increase in mean self-reported exercise (minutes per week) by around 30 minutes) habits. The review highlights the need for well-designed randomised controlled trials, applying the principles of the TTM SOC appropriately to produce sustainable health benefits, in order to judge the effectiveness of such interventions. Nevertheless, health managers, administrators and practitioners can use evidence from this review to improve the design and evaluation of TTM SOC lifestyle interventions as well as to better plan, implement and evaluate weight management programmes. In addition, consumers can use the review to enhance their understanding of the effectiveness and limitations of TTM SOC weight loss interventions. Overall, the review may help to improve knowledge, understanding and practice in tackling the important global health challenge of obesity.

Implications for research

Only three randomised controlled trials with 9 to 24 months duration of intervention and follow-up were included in the review. This may have affected the strength of the evidence. The review may have shown different outcomes, particularly on sustainable weight loss, if all the included trials had applied the principles of the TTM SOC appropriately and assessed weight loss sustainability in follow-up periods (with at least one-year intervention and one-year follow-up). In addition, the trials were heterogeneous, specifically in terms of interventions and outcomes. It is vital that trials report clear and detailed descriptions of their intervention(s) and the primary and secondary outcome measures to minimise the issue of heterogeneity and to enable meta-analyses, if appropriate. Some of the trials provided inadequate information on methods of randomisation, allocation concealment and blinding, which affected the methodological quality of the studies (particularly the internal validity). Using a protocol when conducting and reporting research may reduce potential biases and enhance the quality of the study.

There is a need for well-designed randomised controlled trials, preferably with large sample sizes and long durations of intervention and follow-up, to evaluate the effectiveness of the TTM SOC for sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese adults. Future trials need to formulate specific and objective outcome measures, especially patient-important outcomes such as health-related quality of life, so that appropriate statistical analyses can be conducted to measure their independent impact on sustained weight loss. Finally, a robust systematic review of non-randomised controlled trials to assess the effectiveness of the TTM SOC for sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese adults may be of value in the near future.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors are grateful to the Cochrane Metabolic and Endocrine Disorders Group, especially Professor Bernd Richter, for the continuous help throughout the publication.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Johnson 2008 {published data only}

Johnson SS, Paiva AL, Cummins CO, Johnson JL, Dyment SJ, Wright JA, et al. Transtheoretical model-based multiple behavior intervention for weight management: effectiveness on a population basis. *Preventive Medicine* 2008;**46**(3): 238–46. [: ISSN: 0091–7435]

Jones 2003 {published data only}

Jones H, Edwards L, Vallis TM, Ruggiero L, Rossi SR, Rossi JS, et al. Changes in diabetes self-care behaviors make a difference in glycemic control. *Diabetes Care* 2003;**26**(3): 732–7. [DOI: 10.2337/diacare.26.3.732]

Logue 2005 {published data only}

Logue E, Sutton K, Jarjoura D, Smucker W, Baughman K, Capers C. Transtheoretical model-chronic disease care for obesity in primary care: a randomized trial. *Obesity Research* 2005;**13**(5):917–27. [: ISSN:1930–7381]

References to studies excluded from this review

Albright 2012 {published data only}

Albright CL, Steffen AD, Novotny R, Nigg CR, Wilkens LR, Saiki K, et al. Baseline results from Hawaii's Na Mikimiki Project: a physical activity intervention tailored to multiethnic postpartum women. *Women and Health* 2012; **52**(3):265–91.

Annunziato 2009 {published data only}

Annunziato RA, Timko CA, Crerand CE, Didie ER, Bellace DL, Phelan S, et al. A randomized trial examining differential meal replacement adherence in a weight loss maintenance program after one-year follow-up. *Eating Behaviors* 2009;**10**(3):176–83. [: ISSN: 1471–0153]

Anton 2011 {published data only}

Anton SD, Manini TM, Milsom VA, Dubyak P, Cesari M, Cheng J, et al. Effects of a weight loss plus exercise program on physical function in overweight, older women: a randomized controlled trial. Clinical Interventions in Aging 2011; Vol. 6:141–9.

Arrebola 2011 {published data only}

Arrebola E, Gomez-Candela C, Fernandez-Fernandez C, Loria V, Munoz-Perez E, Bermejo L M. Evaluation of a lifestyle modification program for treatment of overweight and nonmorbid obesity in primary healthcare and its influence on health-related quality of life. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice* 2011;**26**(3):316–21.

Bennett 2010 {published data only}

Bennett G, Wolin K, Goodman M, Samplin-Salgado M, Carter P, Dutton S, et al. Web-based weight loss in primary care: a randomized controlled trial. *Obesity* 2010;**18**(2): 308–13. [DOI: 10.1007/s10552-005-0412-5]

Bibeau 2008 {published data only}

Bibeau WS, Moore JB, Caudill P, Topp R. Case study of a transtheoretical case management approach to addressing

childhood obesity. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing* 2008;**23**(2): 92–100. [PUBMED: 18339335]

Blalock 2002 {published data only}

Blalock SJ, DeVellis BM, Patterson CC, Campbell MK, Orenstein DR, Dooley MA. Effects of an osteoporosis prevention program incorporating tailored educational materials. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2002;**16** (3):146–56. [DOI: 10.1186/1471-2458-6-12]

Bonner 1997 {published data only}

Bonner M. Stages of change, job satisfaction, weight, and activity at two work-site wellness programs. Southern Mississippi, USA: Univ. of Southern Mississippi, 1997.

Bourke 2011 {published data only}

Bourke L, Thompson G, Gibson DJ, Daley A, Crank H, Adam I, et al. Pragmatic lifestyle intervention in patients recovering from colon cancer: a randomized controlled pilot study. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation* 2011;**92**(5):749–55.

Burke 2002 {published data only}

Burke V, Mori TA, Giangiulio N, Gillam HF, Beilin LJ, Houghton S, et al. An innovative program for changing health behaviours. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2002;**11 Suppl 3**:586–97. [DOI: 10.1046/j.1440-6047.11.supp3.8.x]

Carlson 2012 {published data only}

Carlson JA, Sallis JF, Ramirez ER, Patrick K, Norman GJ. Physical activity and dietary behavior change in Internetbased weight loss interventions: comparing two multiplebehavior change indices. *Preventive Medicine* 2012;**54**(1): 50–4.

Chin 2002 {published data only}

Chin AP, de Jong N, Schouten EG, Van Staveren WA, Kok FJ. Physical exercise or micronutrient supplementation for the wellbeing of the frail elderly? a randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 2002;**36**(2):126–31. [DOI: 10.1136/bjsm.36.2.126]

Christensen 2011 {published data only}

Christensen JR, Faber A, Ekner D, Overgaard K, Holtermann A, Sogaard K. Diet, physical exercise and cognitive behavioral training as a combined workplace based intervention to reduce body weight and increase physical capacity in health care workers - a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**:671.

Clark 2011 {published data only}

Clark PG, Blissmer BJ, Greene GW, Lees FD, Riebe DA, Stamm KE. Maintaining exercise and healthful eating in older adults: the SENIOR project II: study design and methodology. Contemporary Clinical Trials 2011; Vol. 32, issue 1:129–39.

Cleanthous 2011 {published data only}

Cleanthous X, Noakes M, Brinkworth GD, Keogh JB, Williams G, Clifton PM. A pilot comprehensive lifestyle intervention program (CLIP)--comparison with qualitative

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

lifestyle advice and simvastatin on cardiovascular risk factors in overweight hypercholesterolaemic individuals. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases* 2011;**21**(3):165–72.

Coday 2002 {published data only}

Coday M, Klesges LM, Garrison RJ, Johnson KC, O'Toole M, Morris GS. Health opportunities with physical exercise (HOPE): social contextual interventions to reduce sedentary behavior in urban settings. *Health Education Research* 2002; **17**(5):637–47. [PUBMED: 12408208]

Coleman 2012 {published data only}

Coleman KJ, Farrell MA, Rocha DA, Hayashi T, Hernandez M, Wolf J, Lindsay S. Readiness to be physically active and self-reported physical activity in low-income Latinas, California WISEWOMAN, 2006-2007. *Preventive Chronic Disease* 2012;**9**:e87.

Collins 2011 {published data only}

Collins CE, Morgan PJ, Warren JM, Lubans DR, Callister R. Men participating in a weight-loss intervention are able to implement key dietary messages, but not those relating to vegetables or alcohol: the Self-Help, Exercise and Diet using Internet Technology (SHED-IT) study. *Public Health Nutrition* 2011;**14**(1):168–75.

Craigie 2011a {published data only}

Craigie AM, Barton KL, Macleod M, Williams B, van Teijlingen E, Belch JJ, Anderson AS, HealthForce Team. A feasibility study of a personalised lifestyle programme (HealthForce) for individuals who have participated in cardiovascular risk screening. *Preventive Medicine* 2011;**52** (5):387–9.

Craigie 2011b {published data only}

Craigie AM, Caswell S, Paterson C, Treweek S. Study protocol for BeWEL: The impact of a body weight and physical activity intervention on adults at risk of developing colorectal adenomas. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**:184.

Dallow 2003 {published data only}

Dallow CB, Anderson J. Using self-efficacy and a transtheoretical model to develop a physical activity intervention for obese women. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2003;**17**(6):373–81. [: ISSN:0890–1171]

Dekkers 2011 {published data only}

Dekkers JC, van Wier MF, Ariens GA, Hendriksen IJ, Pronk NP, Smid T, et al. Comparative effectiveness of lifestyle interventions on cardiovascular risk factors among a Dutch overweight working population: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**(1):49.

Demark-Wahnefried 2008 {published data only}

Demark-Wahnefried W, Case LD, Blackwell K, Marcom PK, Kraus W, Aziz N, et al. Results of a diet/exercise feasibility trial to prevent adverse body composition change in breast cancer patients on adjuvant chemotherapy. *Clinical Breast Cancer* 2008;**8**(1):70–9. [: ISSN: 1526–8209]

Demark-Wahnefried 2012 {published data only}

Demark-Wahnefried W, Morey MC, Sloane R, Snyder DC, Miller PE, Hartman TJ, et al. Reach out to enhance wellness home-based diet-exercise intervention promotes reproducible and sustainable long-term improvements in health behaviors, body weight, and physical functioning in older, overweight/obese cancer survivors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2012;**30**(19):2354–61.

Desouza 2012 {published data only}

Desouza CV, Padala PR, Haynatzki G, Anzures P, Demasi C, Shivaswamy V. Role of apathy in the effectiveness of weight management programmes. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2012;**14**(5):419–23.

De Vet 2007 {published data only}

De Vet E, De Nooijer J, De Vries NK, Brug J. Testing the transtheoretical model for fruit intake: comparing web-based tailored stage-matched and stage-mismatched feedback. *Health Education Research* 2008;**23**(2):218–27. [DOI: 10.1093/her/cym019]

Digenio 2009 {published data only}

Digenio AG, Mancuso JP, Gerber RA, Dvorak RV. Comparison of methods for delivering a lifestyle modification program for obese patients: a randomized trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 2009;**150**(4):255–62. [: ISSN:1539–3704]

Dinger 2007 {published data only}

Dinger MK, Heesch KC, Cipriani G, Qualls M. Comparison of two email-delivered, pedometer-based interventions to promote walking among insufficiently active women. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport* 2007;**10**:297–302.

Donnelly 2008 {published data only}

Donnelly JE, Sullivan DK, Smith BK, Jacobsen DJ, Washburn RA, Johnson SL, et al. Alteration of dietary fat intake to prevent weight gain: Jayhawk Observed Eating Trial. *Obesity* 2008;**16**(1):107–12. [: ISSN:1930–7381]

DPPRG 2009 {published data only}

Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group. 10-year follow-up of diabetes incidence and weight loss in the diabetes prevention program outcomes study. *Lancet* 2009;**374**(9702):1677–86. [DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736 (09)61457-4]

Drieling 2011 {published data only}

Drieling RL, Ma J, Stafford RS. Evaluating clinic and community-based lifestyle interventions for obesity reduction in a low-income Latino neighborhood: Vivamos Activos Fair Oaks Program. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**: 98.

Eriksson 2009 {published data only}

Eriksson MK, Franks PW, Eliasson M. A 3-year randomized trial of lifestyle intervention for cardiovascular risk reduction in the primary care setting: the Swedish Bjorknas study. *PLoS ONE* 2009;4(4):e5195. [DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0005195]

Estabrook 2012 {published data only}

Estabrook B, Zapka J, Lemon SC. Evaluating the implementation of a hospital work-site obesity prevention intervention: applying the RE-AIM framework. *Health Promotion Practice* 2012;**13**(2):190–7.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Feldman 2000 {published data only}

Feldman RH, Damron D, Anliker J, Ballesteros RD, Langenberg P, DiClemente C, et al. The effect of the Maryland WIC 5-a-day promotion program on participants' stages of change for fruit and vegetable consumption. *Health Education and Behavior* 2000;**27**(5):649–63. [DOI: 10.1177/109019810002700509]

Fernandez 2009 {published data only}

Fernandez RS, Davidson P, Griffiths R, Juergens C, Stafford B, Salamonson Y. A pilot randomised controlled trial comparing a health-related lifestyle self-management intervention with standard cardiac rehabilitation following an acute cardiac event: implications for a larger clinical trial. *Australian Critical Care* 2009;**22**(1):17–27. [: ISSN: 1036–7314]

Ferrara 2011 {published data only}

Ferrara A, Hedderson MM, Albright CL, Ehrlich SF, Quesenberry Jr CP, Peng T, et al. A pregnancy and postpartum lifestyle intervention in women with gestational diabetes mellitus reduces diabetes risk factors: a feasibility randomized control trial. *Diabetes Care* 2011;**34**:1519–25.

Ferre 2012 {published data only}

Ferre R, Plana N, Merino J, Aragones G, Girona J, Heras M, et al. Effects of therapeutic lifestyle changes on peripheral artery tonometry in patients with abdominal obesity. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases* 2012;**22** (2):95–102.

Finckenor 2000 {published data only}

Finckenor M, Byrd-Bredbenner C. Nutrition intervention group program based on preaction-stage-oriented change processes of the transtheoretical model promotes long-term reduction in dietary fat Intake. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2000;**100**(3):335–42. [DOI: 10.1016/ S0002-8223(00)00104-8]

Fitch 2012 {published data only}

Fitch K, Abbara S, Lee H, Stavrou E, Sacks R, Michel T, et al. Effects of lifestyle modification and metformin on atherosclerotic indices among HIV-infected patients with the metabolic syndrome. *AIDS* 2012;**26**(5):587–97.

Folta 2009 {published data only}

Folta SC, Lichtenstein AH, Seguin RA, Goldberg JP, Kuder JF, Nelson ME. The StrongWomen-Healthy Hearts program: reducing cardiovascular disease risk factors in rural sedentary, overweight, and obese midlife and older women. *American Journal of Public Health* 2009;**99**(7): 1271–7. [: ISSN: 1541–0048]

Fortier 2011 {published data only}

Fortier MS, Hogg W, O'Sullivan TL, Blanchard C, Sigal RJ, Reid RD, et al. Impact of integrating a physical activity counsellor into the primary health care team: physical activity and health outcomes of the Physical Activity Counselling randomized controlled trial. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition and Metabolism* 2011;**36**(4):503–14.

Fox 2009 {published data only}

Fox J, Bailenson J. Virtual self-modeling: the effects of vicarious reinforcement and identification on exercise

behaviors. *Media Psychology* 2009;**12**(1):1–25. [DOI: 10.1080/15213260802669474]

Foy 2011 {published data only}

Foy CG, Lewis CE, Hairston KG, Miller GD, Lang W, Jakicic JM, et al. Intensive lifestyle intervention improves physical function among obese adults with knee pain: Findings from the look AHEAD trial. *Obesity* 2011;**19**(1): 83–93.

Frisch 2009 {published data only}

Frisch S, Zittermann A, Berthold HK, Gotting C, Kuhn J, Kleesiek K, et al. A randomized controlled trial on the efficacy of carbohydrate-reduced or fat-reduced diets in patients attending a tele-medically guided weight loss program. *Cardiovascular Diabetology* 2009;**8**(36):1–10. [DOI: 10.1186/1475-2840-8-36]

Gill 1998 {published data only}

Gill DS. Testing a biopsychosocial model of health behavior: a community intervention for reducing obesity in Mexican-American women. Los Angeles, USA: University of California, 1998. [: ISSN: 0419–4217]

Glanz 1994 {published data only}

Glanz K, Patterson RE, Kristal AR, DiClemente CC, Heimendinger JL, McLerran DF. Stages of change in adopting healthy diets: fat, fiber, and correlates of nutrient intake. *Health Education Quarterly* 1994;**21**(4):499–519. [: ISSN: 0195–8402]

Gögebakan 2011 {published data only}

Gögebakan O, Kohl A, Osterhoff MA, van Baak MA, Jebb SA, Papadaki A, et al. Effects of weight loss and longterm weight maintenance with diets varying in protein and glycemic index on cardiovascular risk factors: the diet, obesity, and genes (DiOGenes) study: a randomized, controlled trial. Circulation 2011; Vol. 124, issue 25: 2829–38.

Greene 1998 {published data only}

Greene GW, Rossi SR. Stages of change for reducing dietary fat over 18 months. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 1998;**98**(5):529–34.

Groeneveld 2011a {published data only}

Groeneveld IF, Proper KI, van der Beek AJ, Hildebrandt VH, van Mechelen W. Short and long term effects of a lifestyle intervention for construction workers at risk for cardiovascular disease: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**:836.

Groeneveld 2011b {published data only}

Groeneveld IF, van Wier MF, Proper KI, Bosmans JE, van Mechelen W, van der Beek AJ. Cost-effectiveness and cost-benefit of a lifestyle intervention for workers in the construction industry at risk for cardiovascular disease. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2011; **53**(6):610–7.

Gusi 2008 {published data only}

Gusi N, Reyes MC, Gonzalez-Guerrero JL, Herrera E, Garcia JM. Cost-utility of a walking programme for moderately depressed, obese, or overweight elderly women in primary care: a randomised controlled trial. *BioMed*

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Central Public Health 2008;**8**:231. [DOI: 10.1186/ 1471-2458-8-231]

Hageman 2011 {published data only}

Hageman PA, Pullen CH, Hertzog M, Boeckner LS, Walker SN. Web-based interventions for weight loss and weight maintenance among rural midlife and older women: protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**:521.

Heideman 2011 {published data only}

Heideman WH, Nierkens V, Stronks K, Middelkoop BJ, Twisk JW, Verhoeff AP, et al. DiAlert: a lifestyle education programme aimed at people with a positive family history of type 2 diabetes and overweight, study protocol of a randomised controlled trial. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**: 751.

Hersberger 2006 {published data only}

Hersberger KE, Botomino A, Mancini M, Bruppacher R. Sequential screening for diabetes-evaluation of a campaign in Swiss community pharmacies. *Pharmacy World and Science* 2006;**28**(3):171–9. [: ISSN:0928–1231]

Hughes 2011 {published data only}

Hughes SL, Seymour RB, Campbell RT, Shaw JW, Fabiyi C, Sokas R. Comparison of two health-promotion programs for older workers. *American Journal of Public Health* 2011; **101**(5):883–90.

Hui 2012 {published data only}

Hui A, Back L, Ludwig S, Gardiner P, Sevenhuysen G, Dean H, et al. Lifestyle intervention on diet and exercise reduced excessive gestational weight gain in pregnant women under a randomised controlled trial. *International Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology* 2012;**119**(1):70–7.

Huisman 2009 {published data only}

Huisman S, De GV, Maes S, Schroevers M, Chatrou M, Haak H. Self-regulation and weight reduction in patients with type 2 diabetes: a pilot intervention study. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2008;**75**(1):84–90. [: ISSN: 0738–3991]

Hussien 2007 {published data only}

Hussien SM. Impact of a culturally-sensitive lifestyle intervention on reducing risk factors for type 2 diabetes in arab Canadian muslim women. London, Ontario: Univ. of Western Ontario, 2007. [: ISSN: 0419–4209]

Imayama 2011 {published data only}

Imayama I, Alfano CM, Kong A, Foster-Schubert KE, Bain CE, Xiao L, et al. Dietary weight loss and exercise interventions effects on quality of life in overweight/obese postmenopausal women: a randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2011;**8**:118.

Irvine 2011 {published data only}

Irvine AB, Philips L, Seeley J, Wyant S, Duncan S, Moore RW. Get moving: a web site that increases physical activity of sedentary employees. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2011;**25**(3):199–206.

Irwin 2004 {published data only}

Irwin ML, Tworoger SS, Yasui Y, Rajan B, McVarish L, LaCroix K, et al. Influence of demographic, physiologic, and psychosocial variables on adherence to a yearlong moderate-intensity exercise trial in postmenopausal women. *Preventive Medicine* 2004;**39**(6):1080–6. [: ISSN: 0091–7435]

Jackson 2011 {published data only}

Jackson RA, Stotland NE, Caughey AB, Gerbert B. Improving diet and exercise in pregnancy with Video Doctor counseling: a randomized trial. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2011;**83**(2):203–9.

Jacobs 2011a {published data only}

Jacobs N, Clays E, De Bacquer D, De Backer G, Dendale P, Thijs H, et al. Effect of a tailored behavior change program on a composite lifestyle change score: a randomized controlled trial. *Health Edcuation Research* 2011;**26**(5): 886–95.

Jacobs 2011b {published data only}

Jacobs N, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Thijs H, Dendale P, Claes N. Effect of a cardiovascular prevention program on health behavior and BMI in highly educated adults: a randomized controlled trial. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2011;**85** (1):122–6.

Jakicic 2012 {published data only}

Jakicic JM, Tate DF, Lang W, Davis KK, Polzien K, Rickman AD, et al. Effect of a stepped-care intervention approach on weight loss in adults: a randomized clinical trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2012;**307** (24):2617–26.

Jeffery 1999 {published data only}

Jeffery RW, French SA, Rothman AJ. Stage of change as a predictor of success in weight control in adult women. *Health Psychology* 1999;**18**(5):543–6. [: ISSN: 0278–6133]

Jeffery and French 1999 {published data only}

Jeffery RW, French SA. Preventing weight gain in adults: the pound of prevention study. *American Journal of Public Health* 1999;**89**(5):747–51. [DOI: 10.2105/ajph.89.5.747]

Jimmy 2005 {published data only}

Gerda J, Martin BW. Implementation and effectiveness of a primary care based physical activity counselling scheme. *Patient Education and Counseling* 2005;**56**(3):323–31. [DOI: 10.1016/j.pec.2004.03.006]

Johnson 2006 {published data only}

Johnson SS, Driskell MM, Johnson JL, Dyment SJ, Prochaska JO, Prochaska JM, et al. Transtheoretical model intervention for adherence to lipid-lowering drugs. *Disease Management* 2006;**9**(2):102–14. [DOI: 10.1089/ dis.2006.9.102]

Jones 2005 {published data only}

Jones F, Harris P, Waller H, Coggins A. Adherence to an exercise prescription scheme: the role of expectations, self-efficacy, stage of change and psychological well-being. *British Journal of Health Psychology* 2005;**10**(Pt 3):359–78. [: ISSN:1359–107X]

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Jonsson 2009 {published data only}

Jonsson T, Granfeldt Y, Ahren B, Branell UC, Palsson G, Hansson A, et al. Beneficial effects of a Paleolithic diet on cardiovascular risk factors in type 2 diabetes: a randomized cross-over pilot study. *Cardiovascular Diabetology* 2009;**8** (1):35. [DOI: 10.1186/1475-2840-8-35]

Kallings 2009 {published data only}

Kallings LV, Leijon ME, Kowalski J, Hellenius ML, Stahle A. Self-reported adherence: a method for evaluating prescribed physical activity in primary health care patients. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health* 2009;**6**(4):483–92. [: ISSN: 1543–3080]

Katula 2011 {published data only}

Katula JA, Vitolins MZ, Rosenberger EL, Blackwell CS, Morgan TM, Lawlor MS, et al. One-year results of a community-based translation of the Diabetes Prevention Program: Healthy-Living Partnerships to Prevent Diabetes (HELP PD) Project. *Diabetes Care* 2011;**34**(7):1451–7.

Kelly 2005 {published data only}

Kelly CW. Commitment to health scale. *Journal of Nursing Measurement* 2005;**13**(3):219–29. [: ISSN:1061–3749]

Kennedy 2009 {published data only}

Kennedy BM, Champagne CM, Ryan DH, Newton Jr, Conish BK, Harsha DW, et al. The "Rolling Store": an economical and environmental approach to the prevention of weight gain in African American women. *Ethnicity and Disease* 2009;**19**(1):7–12. [: ISSN:1049–510X]

Keranen 2009 {published data only}

Keranen AM, Savolainen MJ, Reponen AH, Kujari ML, Lindeman SM, Bloigu RS, et al. The effect of eating behavior on weight loss and maintenance during a lifestyle intervention. *Preventive Medicine* 2009;**49**(1):32–8. [: ISSN: 1096–0260]

Kim 2011 {published data only}

Kim CJ, Kim DJ, Park HR. Effects of a cardiovascular risk reduction intervention with psycho-behavioral strategies for Korean adults with type 2 diabetes and metabolic syndrome. *Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing* 2011;**26**(2):117–28.

Kim 2013 {published data only}

Kim CJ, Kang S. Development and a pilot test of an internet-based cardiovascular risk reduction program for Korean male workers with metabolic syndrome. *CIN* - *Computers Informatics Nursing* 2013;**31**(4):157–66.

Kirk 2003 {published data only}

Kirk A, Mutrie N, MacIntyre P, Fisher M. Increasing physical activity in people with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2003;**26**(4):1186–92. [: ISSN:0149–5992]

Korpi-Hyovalti 2011 {published data only}

Korpi-Hyovalti EA, Laaksonen DE, Schwab US, Vanhapiha TH, Vihla KR, Heinonen ST, et al. Feasibility of a lifestyle intervention in early pregnancy to prevent deterioration of glucose tolerance. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**:179.

Kraschnewski 2011 {published data only}

Kraschnewski JL, Stuckey HL, Rovniak LS, Lehman EB, Reddy M, Poger JM, et al. Efficacy of a weight-loss website based on positive deviance. A randomized trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2011;**41**(6):610–4.

Kris-etherton 2002 {published data only}

Kris-Etherton PM, Taylor DS, Smiciklas-Wright H, Mitchell DC, Berkhuis TC, Olson BH, et al. Highsoluble-fiber foods in conjunction with a telephone-based, personalized behavior change support service result in favorable changes in lipids and lifestyles after 7 weeks. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2002;**102**(4): 503–10. [: ISSN:0002–8223]

Kumanyika 2011 {published data only}

Kumanyika S, Fassbender J, Phipps E, Tan-Torres S, Localio R, Morales KH, et al. Design, recruitment and start up of a primary care weight loss trial targeting African American and Hispanic adults. Contemporary Clinical Trials 2011; Vol. 32, issue 2:215–24.

Laforge 1994 {published data only}

Laforge RG, Greene GW, Prochaska JO. Psychosocial factors influencing low fruit and vegetable consumption. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 1994;**17**(4):361–74. [DOI: 10.1007/BF01858008]

Latka 2009 {published data only}

Latka RN, Varez-Reeves M, Cadmus L, Irwin ML. Adherence to a randomized controlled trial of aerobic exercise in breast cancer survivors: the Yale exercise and survivorship study. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship* 2009;**3** (3):148–57. [DOI: 10.1007/s11764-009-0088-z]

Lee 1996 {published data only}

Lee AC. Predictors of behavioural risk factors modification in patients recovering from acute coronary heart disease. Ottawa, Canada: University of Ottawa, 1996.

Lee 2009 {published data only}

Lee K, Lee J, Bae WK, Choi JK, Kim HJ, Cho B. Efficacy of low-calorie, partial meal replacement diet plans on weight and abdominal fat in obese subjects with metabolic syndrome: a double-blind, randomised controlled trial of two diet plans -one high in protein and one nutritionally balanced. *International Journal of Clinical Practice* 2009;**63** (2):195–201. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1742-1241.2008.01965.x]

Lee 2012 {published data only}

Lee RE, O'Connor DP, Smith-Ray R, Mama SK, Medina AV, Reese-Smith JY, et al. Mediating effects of group cohesion on physical activity and diet in women of color: health is power. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2012; **26**(4):e116–25.

Leichtle 2011 {published data only}

Leichtle AB, Helmschrodt C, Ceglarek U, Shai I, Henkin Y, Schwarzfuchs D, et al. Effects of a 2-y dietary weightloss intervention on cholesterol metabolism in moderately obese men. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2011;**94** (5):1189–95.

Lim 2011 {published data only}

Lim SS, Norman RJ, Clifton PM, Noakes M. The effect of comprehensive lifestyle intervention or metformin on obesity in young women. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases* 2011;**21**(4):261–8.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Luley 2011 {published data only}

Luley C, Blaik A, Reschke K, Klose S, Westphal S. Weight loss in obese patients with type 2 diabetes: effects of telemonitoring plus a diet combination - the Active Body Control (ABC) Program. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 2011;**91**(3):286–92.

Luoto 2011 {published data only}

Luoto R, Kinnunen TI, Aittasalo M, Kolu P, Raitanen J, Ojala K, et al. Primary prevention of gestational diabetes mellitus and large-for-gestational-age newborns by lifestyle counseling: a cluster-randomized controlled trial. *PLOS Medicine* 2011;**8**:e1001036.

Ma 2009 {published data only}

Ma J, King AC, Wilson SR, Xiao L, Stafford RS. Evaluation of lifestyle interventions to treat elevated cardiometabolic risk in primary care (E-LITE): a randomized controlled trial. *BioMed Central Family Practice* 2009;**10**(71):1–12. [PUBMED: 19909549]

Macrodimitris 2005 {published data only}

Macrodimitris SD. Predicting motivational readiness to change lifestyle practices in individuals at risk for heart disease. *Predicting motivational readiness to change lifestyle practices in individuals at risk for heart disease*. Toronto Ontario, Canada: University of York, 2005.

Mardones 2009 {published data only}

Mardones H, MaOlivares CS, Araneda FJ, Gomez FN. Stages of change related to fruit and vegetables consumption, physical activity, and weight control in Chilean university students [Etapas del cambio relacionadas con el consumo de frutas y verduras, actividad física y control del peso en estudiantes universitarios chilenos]. *Archivos Latinoamericanos de Nutricion* 2009;**59**(3):304–9. [: ISSN: 0004–0622]

Martin 2007 {published data only}

Martin MY, Prayor-Patterson H, Kratt P, Kim Y, Person S. Characteristics of insufficiently active hypertensive black women who volunteer to be in a physical activity promotion intervention: an application of social cognitive theory and the transtheoretical model. *Ethnicity and Disease* 2007;**17** (4):604–10. [: ISSN: 1049–510X]

McDermott 2012 {published data only}

McDermott S, Whitner W, Thomas-Koger M, Mann JR, Clarkson J, Barnes TL, et al. An efficacy trial of 'Steps to Your Health', a health promotion programme for adults with intellectual disability. *Health Education Journal* 2012; **71**(3):278–90.

McTiernan 1999 {published data only}

McTiernan A, Ulrich CM, Yancey D, Slate S, Nakamura H, Oestreicher N, et al. The Physical Activity for Total Health (PATH) study: rationale and design. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 1999;**31**(9):1307–12. [: ISSN: 0195–9131]

Merriam 2009 {published data only}

Merriam PA, Ma Y, Olendzki BC, Schneider KL, Li W, Ockene IS, et al. Design and methods for testing a simple dietary message to improve weight loss and dietary quality. *BioMed Central Medical Research Methodology* 2009;**9**(87): 1–10. [DOI: 10.1186/1471-2288-9-87]

Methapatara 2011 {published data only}

Methapatara W, Srisurapanont M. Pedometer walking plus motivational interviewing program for Thai schizophrenic patients with obesity or overweight: a 12-week, randomized, controlled trial. Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences 2011; Vol. 65, issue 4:374–80.

Monteiro 2011 {published data only}

Monteiro SM, Jancey J, Howat P, Burns S, Jones C, Dhaliwal SS, et al. The protocol of a randomized controlled trial for playgroup mothers: Reminder on Food, Relaxation, Exercise, and Support for Health (REFRESH) Program. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**:648.

Morgan 2009 {published data only}

Morgan PJ, Lubans DR, Collins CE, Warren JM, Callister R. The SHED-IT randomized controlled trial: evaluation of an Internet-based weight-loss program for men. *Obesity* 2009;**17**(11):2025–32. [DOI: 10.1038/oby.2009.85]

Morgan 2011 {published data only}

Morgan PJ, Lubans DR, Callister R, Okely AD, Burrows TL, Fletcher R, et al. The 'Healthy Dads, Healthy Kids' randomized controlled trial: efficacy of a healthy lifestyle program for overweight fathers and their children. *International Journal of Obesity* 2011;**35**(3):436–47.

Munakata 2011 {published data only}

Munakata M, Honma H, Akasi M, Araki T, Kawamura T, Kubota M, et al. Repeated counselling improves the antidiabetic effects of limited individualized lifestyle guidance in metabolic syndrome: J-STOP-METS final results. *Hypertension Research* 2011;**34**(5):612–6.

Nakade 2012 {published data only}

Nakade M, Aiba N, Suda N, Morita A, Miyachi M, Sasaki S, Watanabe S. Behavioral change during weight loss program and one-year follow-up: Saku Control Obesity Program (SCOP) in Japan. *Asia Pacific Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2012;**21**(1):22–34.

Nakata 2011 {published data only}

Nakata Y, Okada M, Hashimoto K, Harada Y, Sone H, Tanaka K. Comparison of education-only versus groupbased intervention in promoting weight loss: a randomised controlled trial. *Obesity Facts* 2011;4(3):222–8.

Nanchahal 2009 {published data only}

Nanchahal K, Townsend J, Letley L, Haslam D, Wellings K, Haines A. Weight-management interventions in primary care: a pilot randomised controlled trial. *British Journal of General Practice* 2009;**59**(562):e157–66. [: ISSN: 1478–5242]

Nicklas 2012 {published data only}

Nicklas BJ, Gaukstern JE, Legault C, Leng I, Rejeski WJ. Intervening on spontaneous physical activity to prevent weight regain in older adults: design of a randomized, clinical trial. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* 2012;**33**(2): 450–5.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Nilsen 2011 {published data only}

Nilsen V, Bakke PS, Gallefoss F. Effects of lifestyle intervention in persons at risk for type 2 diabetes mellitus - results from a randomised, controlled trial. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**:893.

Oden 2005 {published data only}

Oden MP. The relationship between awareness of cardiac risk factors, physical activity level, telephone intervention, and health behavior change in African-American women. Ohio, USA: Union Institute and University Graduate College, 2005. [: ISBN:97804969430510]

Ostbye 2009 {published data only}

Ostbye T, Krause KM, Lovelady CA, Morey MC, Bastian LA, Peterson BL, et al. Active mothers postpartum: a randomized controlled weight-loss intervention trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2009;**37**(3): 173–80. [DOI: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.05.016]

Ostbye 2011 {published data only}

Ostbye T, Zucker NL, Krause KM, Lovelady CA, Evenson KR, Peterson BL, et al. Kids and Adults Now! Defeat Obesity (KAN-DO): rationale, design and baseline characteristics. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* 2011;**32**(3): 461–9.

Ostendorf 1998 {published data only}

Ostendorf WR. Use of behavioral stage-of-change and preference for weight loss interventions as a system for clientmatching treatment of obesity. Sarasota, USA: University of Sarasota, 1998. [: ISSN:0419–4209]

O'Connell 1988 {published data only}

O'Connell D, Velicer WF. A decisional balance measure and the stages of change model for weight loss. *International Journal of the Addictions* 1988;**23**(7):729–50. [: ISSN: 0020–773X]

Pace 2013 {published data only}

Pace WD, Lanigan AM, Staton EW, Graham DG, Manning BK, Dickinson LM, et al. Effectiveness of 2 methods of promoting physical activity, healthy eating, and emotional well-being with the Americans in motion-healthy interventions approach. *Annals of Family Medicine* 2013;**11** (4):371–80.

Parikh 2012 {published data only}

Parikh M, Dasari M, McMacken M, Ren C, Fielding G, Ogedegbe G. Does a preoperative medically supervised weight loss program improve bariatric surgery outcomes? A pilot randomized study. *Surgical Endoscopy* 2012;**26**(3): 853–61.

Parra 2010 {published data only}

Parra-Medina D, Wilcox S, Wilson DK, Addy CL, Felton G, Poston MB. Heart Healthy and Ethnically Relevant (HHER) lifestyle trial for improving diet and physical activity in underserved African American women. *Contemporary Clinical Trials* 2010;**31**(1):92–104. [DOI: 10.1016/j.cct.2009.09.006]

Partick 2009 {published data only}

Patrick K, Raab F, Adams MA, Dillon L, Zabinski M, Rock CL, et al. A text message-based intervention for weight loss:

randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2009;**11**(1):e1. [DOI: 10.2196/jmir.1100.]

Pekmezi 2009 {published data only}

Pekmezi DW, Neighbors CJ, Lee CS, Gans KM, Bock BC, Morrow KM, et al. A culturally adapted physical activity intervention for latinas: a randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2010;**37**(6): 495–500. [DOI: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.08.023.]

Pellegrini 2012 {published data only}

Pellegrini CA, Verba SD, Otto AD, Helsel DL, Davis KK, Jakicic JM. The comparison of a technology-based system and an in-person behavioral weight loss intervention. *Obesity* 2012;**20**(2):356–63.

Petrofsky 2011 {published data only}

Petrofsky J, Batt J, Berk L, Bains G, Wong J, Radabaugh S, et al. A video exercise and diet program using a nutritional meal replacement shake for weight loss. *The Journal of Applied Research* 2011;**11**(1):29–36.

Petry 2011 {published data only}

Petry NM, Barry D, Pescatello L, White WB. A low-cost reinforcement procedure improves short-term weight loss outcomes. The American Journal of Medicine 2011; Vol. 124, issue 11:1082–5.

Pett 2013 {published data only}

Pett M, Clark L, Eldredge A, Cardell B, Jordan K, Chambless C, et al. Effecting healthy lifestyle changes in overweight and obese young adults with intellectual disability. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities* 2013; **118**(3):224–43.

Pettman 2009 {published data only}

Pettman TL, Buckley JD, Misan GMH, Coates AM, Howe PRC. Health benefits of a 4-month group-based diet and lifestyle modification program for individuals with metabolic syndrome. *Obesity Research and Clinical Practice* 2009;**3**(4):221–35. [: ISSN: 1871–403X]

Pinto 2002 {published data only}

Pinto BM, Friedman R, Marcus BH, Kelley H, Tennstedt S, Gillman MW. Effects of a computer-based, telephonecounseling system on physical activity. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2002;**23**(2):113–20. [PUBMED: PUBMED 12121799]

Pinto 2005 {published data only}

Pinto BM, Frierson GM, Rabin C, Trunzo JJ, Marcus BH. Home-based physical activity intervention for breast cancer patients. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005;**23**(15): 3577–87. [: ISSN: 0732–183X]

Prestwich 2010 {published data only}

Prestwich A, Perugini M, Hurling R. Can implementation intentions and text messages promote brisk walking? a randomized trial. *Health Psychology* 2010;**29**(1):40–9. [DOI: 10.1037/a0016993]

Prochaska 2008 {published data only}

Prochaska JO, Butterworth S, Redding CA, Burden V, Perrin N, Leo M, et al. Initial efficacy of MI, TTM tailoring and HRI's with multiple behaviors for employee

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

health promotion. *Preventive Medicine* 2008;**46**(3):226–31. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.11.007]

Provencher 2009 {published data only}

Provencher VB Gin C, Tremblay A, Mongeau L, Corneau L, Dodin S, et al. Health-at-every-size and eating behaviors: 1-year follow-up results of a size acceptance intervention. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 2009;**109**(11): 1854–61. [DOI: 10.1016/j.jada.2009.08.017]

Rejeski 2011 {published data only}

Rejeski WJ, Mihalko SL, Ambrosius WT, Bearon LB, McClelland JW. Weight loss and self-regulatory eating efficacy in older adults: the cooperative lifestyle intervention program. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences* 2011;**66**(3):279–86.

Retterstol 2009 {published data only}

Retterstol K, Hennig CB, Iversen PO. Improved plasma lipids and body weight in overweight/obese patients with type III hyperlipoproteinemia after 4 weeks on a low glycemic diet. *Clinical Nutrition* 2009;**28**(2):213–5. [: ISSN:0261–5614]

Rimmer 2009 {published data only}

Rimmer JH, Rauworth A, Wang E, Heckerling PS, Gerber BS. A randomized controlled trial to increase physical activity and reduce obesity in a predominantly African American group of women with mobility disabilities and severe obesity. *Preventive Medicine* 2009;**48**(5):473–9. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2009.02.008]

Robinson 2007 {published data only}

Robinson J. Dimensions of wellness, specifically cardiovascular endurance activity (aerobics) using faith-based principles in atrisk, economically disadvantaged Black American communities. Minnesota, USA: University of Walden, 2007. [: ISBN: 9780549368069]

Roesch 2010 {published data only}

Roesch SC, Norman GJ, Villodas F, Sallis JF, Patrick K. Intervention-mediated effects for adult physical activity: a latent growth curve analysis. *Social Science and Medicine* 2010;**71**(3):494–501. [: ISSN:0277–9536]

Ross 2009 {published data only}

Ross R, Blair SN, Godwin M, Hotz S, Katzmarzyk PT, Lam M, et al. Prevention and Reduction of Obesity through Active Living (PROACTIVE): rationale, design and methods. *British Journal of Sports Medicine* 2009;**43**(1): 57–63. [: ISSN: 1473–0480]

Ross 2011 {published data only}

Ross LJ, Tapsell LC, Probst Y. Optimizing dietary fat in a weight-loss trial requires advice based on a structured "whole-of-diet" model. *Nutrition Research* 2011;**31**(9): 683–90.

Ross 2012 {published data only}

Ross R, Lam M, Blair SN, Church TS, Godwin M, Hotz SB, et al. Trial of prevention and reduction of obesity through active living in clinical settings: a randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2012;**172**(5): 414–24.

Ruusunen 2012 {published data only}

Ruusunen A, Voutilainen S, Karhunen L, Lehto SM, Tolmunen T, Keinanen-Kiukaanniemi S, et al. How does lifestyle intervention affect depressive symptoms? Results from the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study. *Diabetic Medicine* 2012;**29**(7):e126–32.

Saito 2011 {published data only}

Saito T, Watanabe M, Nishida J, Izumi T, Omura M, Takagi T, et al. Lifestyle modification and prevention of type 2 diabetes in overweight Japanese with impaired fasting glucose levels: a randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2011;**171**(15):1352–60.

Salinero-Fort 2011 {published data only}

Salinero-Fort MA, Carrillo-de Santa PE, Arrieta-Blanco FJ, Abanades-Herranz JC, Martin-Madrazo C, Rodes-Soldevila B, et al. Effectiveness of PRECEDE model for health education on changes and level of control of HbA1c, blood pressure, lipids, and body mass index in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *BMC Public Health* 2011;**11**:267.

Sarkin 2001 {published data only}

Sarkin JA, Johnson SS, Prochaska JO, Prochaska JM. Applying the transtheoretical model to regular moderate exercise in an overweight population: validation of a stages of change measure. *Preventive Medicine* 2001;**33**(5):462–9. [DOI: 10.1006/pmed.2001.0916]

Schelling 2009 {published data only}

Schelling S, Munsch S, Meyer AH, Newark P, Biedert E, Margraf J. Increasing the motivation for physical activity in obese patients. *International Journal of Eating Disorders* 2008;**42**(2):130–8. [DOI: 10.1002/eat.20595]

Schlenk 2011 {published data only}

Schlenk EA, Lias JL, Sereika SM, Dunbar-Jacob J, Kwoh CK. Improving physical activity and function in overweight and obese older adults with osteoarthritis of the knee: a feasibility study. *Rehabilitation Nursing* 2011;**36**(1):32–42.

Schumann 2006 {published data only}

Schumann A, John U, Rumpf HJ, Hapke U, Meyer C. Changes in the "stages of change" as outcome measures of a smoking cessation intervention: a randomized controlled trial. *Preventative Medicine* 2006;**43**(2):101–6. [PUBMED: 16709427]

Shahnazari 2013 {published data only}

Shahnazari M, Ceresa C, Foley S, Fong A, Zidaru E, Moody S. Nutrition-focused wellness coaching promotes a reduction in body weight in overweight US veterans. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition & Dietetics* 2013;**113**(7): 928–35.

Shuger 2011 {published data only}

Shuger SL, Barry VW, Sui X, McClain A, Hand GA, Wilcox S, et al. Electronic feedback in a diet- and physical activitybased lifestyle intervention for weight loss: a randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Behavioural Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2011;**8**:41.

Siegel 2010 {published data only}

Siegel JM, Prelip ML, Erausquin JT, Kim SA. A worksite obesity intervention: results from a group-randomized trial.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

American Journal of Public Health 2010;**100**(2):327–33. [PUBMED: 20019316]

Silva 2008 {published data only}

Silva MN, Markland D, Minderico CS, Vieira PN, Castro MM, Coutinho SR, et al. A randomized controlled trial to evaluate self-determination theory for exercise adherence and weight control: rationale and intervention description. *BioMed Central Public Health* 2008;**8**:234. [DOI: 10.1186/1471-2458-8-234]

Silva 2010 {published data only}

Silva MN, Vieira PN, Coutinho SR, Minderico CS, Matos MG, Sardinha LB, et al. Using self-determination theory to promote physical activity and weight control: a randomized controlled trial in women. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 2010;**33**(2):110–22. [DOI: 10.1007/s10865-009-9239-y]

Silva 2011 {published data only}

Silva MN, Markland D, Carraca EV, Vieira PN, Coutinho SR, Minderico CS, et al. Exercise autonomous motivation predicts 3-yr weight loss in women. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 2011;**43**(4):728–37.

Smith 2007 {published data only}

Smith SS, Doyle G, Pascoe T, Douglas JA, Jorgensen G. Intention to exercise in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine* 2007;**3**(7):689–94. [: ISSN: 1550–9389]

Soureti 2011 {published data only}

Soureti A, Murray P, Cobain M, Chinapaw M, van Mechelen W, Hurling R. Exploratory study of web-based planning and mobile text reminders in an overweight population. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2011;**13** (4):e118.

Staudter 2011 {published data only}

Staudter M, Dramiga S, Webb L, Hernandez D, Cole R. Effectiveness of pedometer use in motivating active duty and other military healthcare beneficiaries to walk more. *US Army Medical Department Journal* 2011;**Jul-Sep**:108–19.

Steptoe 2001 {published data only}

Steptoe A, Kerry S, Rink E, Hilton S. The impact of behavioral counselling on stage of change in fat intake, physical activity, and cigarette smoking in adults at increased risk of coronary heart disease. *American Journal of Public Health* 2001;**91**(2):265–9.

Stewart 2011a {published data only}

Stewart T, Han H, Allen RH, Bathalon G, Ryan DH, Newton RL Jr, et al. H.E.A.L.T.H.: efficacy of an Internet/ population-based behavioral weight management program for the U.S. Army. *Journal of Diabetes Science and Technology* 2011;**5**(1):178–87.

Stewart 2011b {published data only}

Stewart TM, Bachand AR, Han H, Ryan DH, Bray GA, Williamson DA. Body image changes associated with participation in an intensive lifestyle weight loss intervention. *Obesity* 2011;**19**(6):1290–5.

Straznicky 2012 {published data only}

Straznicky NE, Lambert EA, Grima MT, Eikelis N, Nestel PJ, Dawood T, et al. The effects of dietary weight loss

with or without exercise training on liver enzymes in obese metabolic syndrome subjects. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 2012;**14**(2):139–48.

Surkan 2012 {published data only}

Surkan PJ, Gottlieb BR, McCormick MC, Hunt A Peterson KE. Impact of a health promotion intervention on maternal depressive symptoms at 15 months postpartum. *Maternal and Child Health Journal* 2012;**16**(1):139–48.

Sutton 2003 {published data only}

Sutton K, Logue E, Jarjoura D, Baughman K, Smucker W, Capers C. Assessing dietary and exercise stage of change to optimize weight loss interventions. *Obesity Research* 2003; **11**(5):641–52. [: ISSN: 1071–7323]

ter Bogt 2011a {published data only}

ter Bogt NC, Bemelmans WJ, Beltman FW, Broer J, Smit AJ, van der Meer K. Preventing weight gain by lifestyle intervention in a general practice setting: three-year results of a randomized controlled trial. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2011;**171**(4):306–13.

ter Bogt 2011b {published data only}

ter Bogt NC, Milder IE, Bemelmans WJ, Beltman FW, Broer J, Smit AJ, et al. Changes in lifestyle habits after counselling by nurse practitioners: 1-year results of the Groningen Overweight and Lifestyle study. *Public Health Nutrition* 2011;**1**4(6):995–1000.

Turner 2011 {published data only}

Turner-McGrievy G, Tate D. Tweets, Apps, and Pods: Results of the 6-month mobile pounds off digitally (mobile POD) randomized weight-loss intervention among adults. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2011;**13**(4):e120.

Unick 2011 {published data only}

Unick JL, Beavers D, Jakicic JM, Kitabchi AE, Knowler WC, Wadden TA, et al. Effectiveness of lifestyle interventions for individuals with severe obesity and type 2 diabetes: results from the Look AHEAD trial. *Diabetes Care* 2011;**34**(10):2152–7.

Vallis 2003 {published data only}

Vallis M, Ruggiero L, Greene G, Jones H, Zinman B, Rossi S, et al. Stages of change for healthy eating in diabetes: relation to demographic, eating-related, health care utilization, and psychosocial factors. *Diabetes Care* 2003;**26**(5):1468–74. [PUBMED: 12716806]

Van der Vee 2002 {published data only}

Van der Vee J, Bakx C, Van den Hoogen H, Verheijden M, Van den Bosch W, Van Weel C, et al. Stage-matched nutrition guidance for patients at elevated risk for cardiovascular disease: a randomized intervention study in family practice. *Journal of Family Practice* 2002;**51**(9): 751–8. [: ISSN: 0094–3509]

van Genugten 2012 {published data only}

van Genugten L, van Empelen P, Boon B, Borsboom G, Visscher T, Oenema A. Results from an online computertailored weight management intervention for overweight adults: randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2012;**14**(2):e44.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

van Wier 2011 {published data only}

van Wier MF, Dekkers JC, Hendriksen IJ, Heymans MW, Ariëns GA, Pronk NP, et al. Effectiveness of phone and e-mail lifestyle counseling for long term weight control among overweight employees. Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine 2011; Vol. 53, issue 6:680–6.

Vazquez 2009 {published data only}

Vazquez C, Montagna C, Alcaraz F, Balsa JA, Zamarron I, Arrieta F, et al. Meal replacement with a low-calorie diet formula in weight loss maintenance after weight loss induction with diet alone. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2009;**63**(10):1226–32. [DOI: 10.1038/ejcn.2009.48]

Verheijden 2004 {published data only}

Verheijden MW, Van der Veen JE, Bakx JC, Akkermans RP, Van den Hoogen HJ, Van Staveren WA, et al. Stage-matched nutrition guidance: stages of change and fat consumption in Dutch patients at elevated cardiovascular risk. *Journal* of Nutrition Education and Behavior 2004;**36**(5):228–37. [DOI: 10.1016/S1499-4046(06)60385-03509]

Vermunt 2011 {published data only}

Vermunt PW, Milder IE, Wielaard F, de Vries JH, van Oers HA, Westert GP. Lifestyle counseling for type 2 diabetes risk reduction in Dutch primary care: results of the APHRODITE study after 0.5 and 1.5 years. *Diabetes Care* 2011;**34**(9):1919–25.

Veverka 2003 {published data only}

Veverka DV, Anderson J, Auld GW, Coulter GR, Kennedy C, Chapman PL. Use of the stages of change model in improving nutrition and exercise habits in enlisted air force men. *Military Medicine* 2003;**168**(5):373–9. [: ISSN: 0026–4075]

Vinter 2011 {published data only}

Vinter CA, Jensen DM, Ovesen P, Beck-Nielsen H, Jorgensen JS. The LiP (Lifestyle in Pregnancy) study: a randomized controlled trial of lifestyle intervention in 360 obese pregnant women. *Diabetes Care* 2011;**34**(12): 2502–7.

Waddden 2009 {published data only}

Wadden TA, West DS, Neiberg RH, Wing RR, Ryan DH, Johnson KC, et al. One-year weight losses in the look AHEAD study: factors associated with success. *Obesity* 2009;**17**(4):713–22. [DOI: 10.1038/oby.2008.637.]

Wadden 2011 {published data only}

Wadden TA, Volger S, Sarwer DB, Vetter ML, Tsai AG, Berkowitz RI, et al. A two-year randomized trial of obesity treatment in primary care practice. The New England Journal of Medicine 2011; Vol. 365:1969–79.

Watson 2012 {published data only}

Watson A, Bickmore T, Cange A, Kulshreshtha A, Kvedar J. An Internet-based virtual coach to promote physical activity adherence in overweight adults: randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research* 2012;**1**4(1):e1.

Webber 2010 {published data only}

Webber KH, Tate DF, Ward DS, Bowling JM. Motivation and its relationship to adherence to self-monitoring and weight loss in a 16-week internet behavioral weight loss intervention. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior* 2010;**42**(3):161–7. [: ISSN: 1499–4046]

Weber 2012 {published data only}

Weber MB, Ranjani H, Meyers GC, Mohan V, Narayan KM. A model of translational research for diabetes prevention in low and middle-income countries: The Diabetes Community Lifestyle Improvement Program (D-CLIP) trial. *Primary Care Diabetes* 2012;**6**(1):3–9.

Wee 2005 {published data only}

Wee CC, Davis RB, Phillips RS. Stage of readiness to control weight and adopt weight control behaviors in primary care. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 2005;**20** (5):410–5. [DOI: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.0074.x]

West 2011a {published data only}

West DS, Bursac Z, Cornell CE, Felix HC, Fausett JK, Krukowski RA, et al. Lay health educators translate a weight-loss intervention in senior centers: a randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2011;**41**(4):385–91.

West 2011b {published data only}

West DS, Gorin AA, Subak LL, Foster G, Bragg C, Hecht J, et al. A motivation-focused weight loss maintenance program is an effective alternative to a skill-based approach. *International Journal of Obesity* 2011;**35**(2):259–69.

White 2004 {published data only}

White MA, Martin PD, Newton RL, Walden HM, York-Crowe EE, Gordon ST, et al. Mediators of weight loss in a family-based intervention presented over the Internet. *Obesity Research* 2004;**12**(7):1050–9. [: ISSN:1930–7381]

Wijesuriya 2011 {published data only}

Wijesuriya M, Gulliford M, Vasantharajah L, Viberti G, Gnudi L, Karalliedde J. DIABRISK-SL prevention of cardio-metabolic disease with life style modification in young urban Sri Lankan's--study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. *Trials* 2011;**12**:209.

Wilcox 2011 {published data only}

Wilcox S, Sharpe PA, Parra-Medina D, Granner M, Hutto B. A randomized trial of a diet and exercise intervention for overweight and obese women from economically disadvantaged neighborhoods: Sisters Taking Action for Real Success (STARS). *Contemporary Clinical Trials* 2011; **32**(6):931–45.

Williamson 2010 {published data only}

Williamson DA, Anton SD, Han H, Champagne CM, Allen R, LeBlanc E, et al. Adherence is a multi-dimensional construct in the POUNDS LOST trial. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 2010;**33**(1):35–46. [DOI: 10.1007/ s10865-009-9230-7]

Wing 2010 {published data only}

Wing RR, Crane MM, Thomas JG, Kumar R, Weinberg
B. Improving weight loss outcomes of community interventions by incorporating behavioral strategies. *American Journal of Public Health* 2010;100(12):2513–9. [: ISSN: 1541–0048]

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Wright 2011 {published data only}

Wright JL, Sherriff JL, Dhaliwal SS, Mamo JC. Tailored, iterative, printed dietary feedback is as effective as group education in improving dietary behaviours: results from a randomised control trial in middle-aged adults with cardiovascular risk factors. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2011; Vol. 8:43.

Yassine 2009 {published data only}

Yassine HN, Marchetti CM, Krishnan RK, Vrobel TR, Gonzalez F, Kirwan JP. Effects of exercise and caloric restriction on insulin resistance and cardiometabolic risk factors in older obese adults--a randomized clinical trial. *Journals of Gerontology Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 2009;**64**(1):90–5. [DOI: 10.1093/gerona/gln032]

Yoo 2012 {published data only}

Yoo S, Kim H, Cho HI. Improvements in the metabolic syndrome and stages of change for lifestyle behaviors in Korean older adults. *Osong Public Health and Research Perspectives* 2012;**3**(2):85–93.

Additional references

Auld 1997

Auld GW, Nitzke SA, McNulty J. A stage-of-change classification system based on actions and beliefs regarding dietary fat and fibre. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 1997;**12**:192–201.

Banegas 2003

Banegas JR, Lopez-Garcia E, Gutierrez-Fisac JL, Guallar-Castillon P, Rodriguez-Artalejo F. A simple estimate of mortality attributable to excess weight in the European Union. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2003;**57**: 201–8. [DOI: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601538]

Brønnum-Hansen 2007

Brønnum-Hansen H, Juel K, Davidsen M, Sørensen J. Impact of selected risk factors on quality-adjusted life expectancy in Denmark. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health* 2007;**35**(5):510–5. [DOI: 10.1080/14034940701271908]

Campbell 2004

Campbell MK, Elbourne DR, Altman DG. CONSORT statement: extension to cluster randomised trials. *BMJ* 2004;**328**:702–8.

Cohen 1960

Cohen J. A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. Educational and Psychological Measurement 1960;20:37–46.

Curry 1992

Curry SJ, Kristal AR, Bowen DJ. An application of the stage of model of behaviour change to dietary fat reduction. *Health Education Research* 1992;7(1):97–105. [DOI: 10.1093/her/7.1.97]

Di Noia 2008

Di Noia J, Contento IR, Prochaska JO. Computermediated intervention tailored on transtheoretical model stages and processes of change increases fruit and vegetable consumption among urban African-American adolescents. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2008;**22**(5):336–41. [DOI: 10.4278/ajhp.22.5.336]

DiClemente 1985

DiClemente CC, Prochaska JO, Gibertini M. Self-efficacy and the stages of self-change of smoking. *Cognitive Therapy and Research* 1985;**9**(2):181–200. [DOI: 10.1007/ BF01204849]

Douketis 2005

Douketis JD, Macie C, Thabane L, Williamson DF. Systematic review of long-term weight loss studies in obese adults: clinical significance and applicability to clinical practice. *International Journal of Obesity* 2005;**29**:1153–67. [DOI: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802982]

Finkelstein 2009

Finkelstein AE, Trogdon JG, Cohen JW, Dietz W. Annual medical spending attributed to obesity: payer- and service-specific estimates. *Health Affairs* 2009;**28**(5):w822–31.

Flegal 2005

Flegal KM, Graubard BI, Williamson DF, Gail MH. Excess deaths associated with underweight, overweight, and obesity. *JAMA* 2005;**293**:1861–7.

Foresight 2007

Foresight. Tackling Obesities: Future Choices - Modelling Future Trends in Obesity and the Impact on Health. London: The Stationery Office. http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/ shared/bsp/hi/pdfs/22¹¹⁰⁷ modelling⁻fat.pdf (accessed 3 September 2012).

Greene 1994

Greene GW, Rossi SR, Reed GR, Willey C, Prochaska JO. Stages of change for reducing dietary fat to 30% of energy or less. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association*. 1994;**94** (10):1105–10. [: ISSN:0002–8223]

Greene 1999

Greene GW, Rossi SR, Rossi JS, Velicer WF, Fava JL, Prochaska JO. Dietary applications of the stages of change model. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 1999;**99** (6):673–8. [: ISSN: 0002–8223]

Higgins 2002

Higgins JPT, Thompson SG. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. *Statistics in Medicine* 2002;**21**:1539–58.

Higgins 2003

Higgins JPT, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analysis. *BMJ* 2003;**327**: 557–60.

Higgins 2009

Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions. Version 5.0.2 [updated September 2009]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2009. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.

Higgins 2011a

Higgins JPT, Green S (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011]. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from www.cochrane-handbook.org.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\textcircled{\sc 0}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

34
Higgins 2011b

Higgins JP, Altman DG, Gotzsche PC, Juni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, et al. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2011;343: d5928.

Jain 2005

Jain A. Treating obesity in individuals and populations. BMJ 2005;331:1387-0. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.331.7529.1387]

Lamb 1996

Lamb R, Joshi MS. The stage model and processes of change in dietary fat reduction. Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics 1996;9(1):43-53. [DOI: 10.1046/ j.1365-277X.1996.00439.x]

Liberati 2009

Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JPA, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate interventions: explanation and elaboration. PLoS Medicine 1999;6(7):1-28. [DOI: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000100]

London Health Observatory 2011

London Health Observatory. Overweight and obesity. www.lho.org.uk/HIL/Lifestyle And Behaviour/ Obesity.aspx (accessed 3 August 2011).

NHS Information Centre 2011

NHS Information Centre. Statistics on Obesity, Physical Activity and Diet: England, 2011. http://www.ic.nhs.uk/ webfiles/publications/003 Health Lifestyles/opad11/Statistics on Obesity Physical Activity and Diet England 2011 revised Aug11.pdf4651858.CD003817.pub3] (accessed 3 September 2012).

Ni Mhurchu 1997

Ni Mhurchu C, Margetts BM, Speller VM. Applying the stages-of-change model to dietary change. Nutrition Reviews 1997;55(1):10-6. [: PMID:9155212]

Nield 2007

Nield L, Moore H, Hooper L, Cruickshank K, Vyas A, Whittaker V, et al. Dietary advice for treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus in adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2007, Issue 3. [DOI: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD005102.pub2]

Ogden 2012a

Ogden LC, Carroll MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of obesity in the United States. NCHS Data Brief 2012;82: 1-8.

Ogden 2012b

Ogden LC, Carrol MD, Kit BK, Flegal KM. Prevalence of obesity and trends in body mass index among US children and adolescents, 1999-2010. JAMA 2012;307(5):483-90.

Prochaska 1992

Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC, Norcross JC. In search of how people change. Applications to addictive behaviors. The American Psychologist 1992;47(9):1102–14. [DOI: 10.1037/0003-066X.47.9.1102]

Prochaska 1997

Prochaska JO, Velicer WF. The transtheoretical model of health behavior change. American Journal of Health Promotion 1997;12(1):38-48. [: PMID:10170434]

Prochaska 2008a

Prochaska JJ, Velicer WF, Niggs CR, Prochaska JO. Methods of quantifying change in multiple risk factors interventions. Preventative Medicine 2008;46(3):260-5. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2007.07.035]

Prochaska 2008b

Prochaska J, Redding C, Evers KE. The transtheoretical model and stages of change. In: Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K editor(s). Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice. 4th Edition. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2008:501-92.

Prvke 2008

Pryke R, Docherty A. Obesity in primary care: evidence for advising weight constancy rather than weight loss in unsuccessful dieters. British Journal of General Practice 2008; 58(547):112-7. [DOI: 10.3399/bjgp08X277023.]

Read 1996

Read MH. Age, dietary behaviours and the stages of change model. American Journal of Health Behavior 1996;20(6): 417-24.

Shaw 2006

Shaw KA, Gennat HC, O'Rourke P, Del Mar C. Exercise for overweight and obesity. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2006, Issue 4. [DOI: 10.1002/

Steptoe 1996

Steptoe A, Wijetunge S, Doherty S, Wardle J. Stages of change for dietary reduction: associations with food intake, decisional balance and motives for food choice. Health Education Journal 1996;55(1):108-22. [DOI: 10.1177/ 001789699605500111]

Sterne 2011

Sterne JA, Sutton AJ, Ioannidis JP, Terrin N, Jones DR, Lau J, et al. Recommendations for examining and interpreting funnel plot asymmetry in meta-analyses of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2011;343:d4002.

Tuah 2011

Tuah NAA, Amiel C, Qureshi S, Car J, Kaur B, Majeed A. Transtheoretical model for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2011, Issue 10. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD008066.pub2]

Velicer 1998

Velicer WF, Prochaska JO, Fava JL, Norman GJ, Redding CA. Smoking cessation and stress management: applications of the transtheoretical model of behaviour change. Homeostasis in Health and Disease 1998;38(5-6):216-33.

World Health Organization 2012

World Health Organization. Fact sheet no. 311. Obesity and overweight. www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

fs311/en/print.html. Geneva: World Health Organization, (accessed 3 September 2012). * Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Johnson 2008

Methods	Parallel randomised controlled clinical trial
Participants	 Inclusion criteria: adults (18 - 75 years), male and female, overweight & obese (BMI 25 - 39.9) Exclusion criteria: age (under 18 or over 75), BMI below 25 or above 39.9 and other criteria (heart attack in previous three months, angioplasty in previous three months, heart failure, surgery in previous three months, eating disorder, cancer, pregnant or nursing, participation in formal or commercial weight management program, not in a pre-action stage for healthy eating and/or exercise) Diagnostic criteria: BMI was measured and other criteria (SOC for exercise, healthy eating and managing emotional distress) Co-morbidities: not stated Co-medications: not stated
Interventions	Number of study centres: nationwide Country/location: USA Setting: personnel not stated, home-based (using telephone and mail) Intervention: used TTM SOC as assessment and feedback construct for diet (healthy eating - reducing dietary fat to 30% of calories and calories reduction of 500 calories per day), physical activity (moderate exercise - at least 30 min on 5 days per week) and managing emotional stress without eating (using healthy strategies rather than eating to cope), 4 series of individual reports at baseline, 3, 6, 9 months) Control: usual care (no details stated) Treatment before study: not stated
Outcomes	Outcomes (as stated in the protocol/registered trial documents) Primary outcome(s) : in healthy eating + exercise groups - self-reported absolute weight loss in intervention group was more than control group (t (1, 614) = 2.12kg, P < 0.05, df 0.17) at 24 months In healthy eating group - weight loss of at least 5% of body weight was higher in intervention (27.4%) versus control (20.3%) (t (1, 1119) = 2.07, P < 0.05, OR 1.22, 95% CI 10.1 to 1.48) at 24 months. In exercise behaviour - weight loss 5% or more was higher in intervention (28.8%) than control (19.4%) (t (1, 711) = 1.96, P = 0.05, OR 1.32, 95% CI 0.99 to 1.75) at 24 months In both healthy eating + exercise behaviours - weight loss 5% or more was higher amongst participants in intervention (30%) versus control (18.6%) groups at 24 months (t (1, 615) = 2.05, P < 0.05, OR 1.35, 95% CI 1.01 to 1.81) Secondary outcomes : in healthy eating behaviour - more participants progressed to action or maintenance stage in intervention group versus control at 6 (43.9% versus 31. 3%), 12 (43.10% versus 35.2%) and 24 months (47.5% versus 34.3%); overall group effect for all time points (t (1, 1119) = 5.02, P < 0.001, OR 1.61, 95% CI 1.33 to 1.94) In fruit and vegetable consumption behaviour - greater fruit and vegetable consumption amongst participants in intervention group than control group at 6 (44% versus 31.4%) , 12(45.3% versus 39.6%) and 24 months (48.5% versus 39.0%); overall group effect

Johnson 2008 (Continued)

	at all time points (t (1, 856) = 5.01, P < 0.0001, OR 1.63, 95% CI 1.34 to 1.97) In exercise behaviour - more participants progressed to action and maintenance stage in the intervention group compared to control group at 6 (43% versus 34.6%), 12 (37. 7% versus 35.9%) and 24 months (44.9% versus 38.1%). There was a significant group effect for all time points (t (1, 711) = 2.25, P < .05, OR 1.27, 95% CI 1.03 to 1.57) Additional outcomes : management of emotional distress was higher in intervention group compared with control group at 6 (44% versus 25.3%), 12 (45% versus 38.3%), and 24 months (49.7% versus 30.3%)
Study details	Duration of intervention: 9 months Duration of follow-up: 12 and 24 months Study terminated before regular end: not stated
Publication details	Language of publication: English Non-commercial funding: NHLBI grant Publication status (peer review journal): full article
Stated aim for study	"To conduct the first randomised effectiveness trial with a one-year extended follow- up to examine the impact of fully tailored, home-based, TTM-based multiple behavior interventions targeting behaviours essential to healthy weight management in a popula- tion of overweight and obese adults"
Notes	Key findings: this study demonstrates the ability of TTM-based tailored feedback to im- prove healthy eating, exercise, managing emotional distress, and weight on a population basis and underscores the potential synergistic effects of multiple behavior interventions

Risk of bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote from publication: "Overweight or obese adults were randomised to no-treat- ment control or home-based. A sample of 1277 were recruited nationwide and ran- domized to treatment or control" Comment: no other details given
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: method of concealment is not described
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) Objective outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: not applicable in this study (there were no objective measures)
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) Subjective outcomes	High risk	Comment: the study design could have in- troduced bias for subjective outcomes

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Johnson 2008 (Continued)

Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) Objective outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: not applicable in this study (there were no objective measures)
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) Subjective outcomes	High risk	Comment: the study design could have in- troduced bias for subjective outcome
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) Objective outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: not applicable in this study (there were no objective measures)
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) Subjective outcomes	Unclear risk	Quote from publication: "Multiple impu- tation was used to estimate missing data for the 6, 12, and 24 months assessments" Comment: high attrition rates
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	High risk	Comment: although the study protocol was not available, it seems that all ex- pected outcomes were included in the re- port. However, some outcome data (e.g. short-term weight loss and weight loss of at least 5%) were not completely reported
Other bias	High risk	Comment: there is no information on sam- ple power calculations to support the sig- nificance of findings. Additionally, there is no reference to participants giving in- formed consent. The trial employed subjec- tive measures only (e.g. Fred Hutchinson FFQ, Godin Leisure-Time Exercise Ques- tionnaire). Risk of recall bias due to the use of self-reported instruments However, investigators also performed ob- jective measures of weight, physical activity, and food intake in a subsample of partici- pants (n = 202/1277) which were found to correlate well with self-reported measures

Jones 2003

Methods	Factorial randomised controlled clinical trial (stratification according to insulin or oral antidiabetic use; randomisation to treatment with PTC or TAU as well as regarding receipt of free blood testing strips)
Participants	 Inclusion criteria: adults (age not reported), male and female, BMI more than 27 & other criteria (enrolled in healthy eating intervention, in pre-action stage for health - diet more than 30% fat) Exclusion criteria: not stated and others (on diet therapy alone, if could not respond to

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 39 obese adults (Review)

	English, if required more than usual care, no telephone Diagnostic criteria : BMI, dietary intake using food frequency questionnaire and others (blood glucose meter, SOC algorithms, venous blood sample) Co-morbidities : type 1 and type 2 diabetes Co-medications : insulin or oral antihyperglycaemic agents
Interventions	Number of study centres: general diabetes population Country/location: Canada/Southern Ontario, Nova Scotia Setting: delivered by investigators and healthcare professionals (counsellors, family physi- cians), using mail and telephone call Intervention: 1) pathway to change (PTC): use of TTM-SOC to assign and assess stage of change (stage-matched PTC, assessed at baseline, 3, 6, 9 and 12 months), self- help manuals for diabetes, monthly newsletters and telephone counselling, staged-based personalised assessment report quarterly, diet (assessment of intake), 2) PTC + blood test strips Control: 1) usual diabetes treatment (regular family physician visits, diabetes education sessions as prescribed), 2) Usual diabetes treatment + blood test strips Treatment before study: none
Outcomes	Outcomes (as stated in the protocol/registered trial documents) Primary outcome(s) : in SMBG + healthy eating groups - significant weight loss in action stage (individuals are ready to change their behaviour) versus pre-action stage (individuals are not ready to change behaviour) for PTC (1.78kg versus 0.26kg, P < 0. 01) at 12 months. No information given for usual diabetes treatment Secondary outcomes : in healthy eating group - lower calories from fat for PTC versus usual diabetes treatment (35.2% versus 36.1%, P < 0.004) at 12 months; significant increased servings of fruit per day for PTC versus usual diabetes treatment (OR 1.89 vs OR 1.68, P < 0.01); and higher vegetables servings for PTC versus usual diabetes treatment (OR 2.24 versus OR 2.06, P < 0.011) Additional outcomes : in SMBG - more participants progressed to action stage in inter- vention groups (PTC + blood test strips = 43.4%, usual diabetes treatment + blood test strips = 27%) versus control groups (PTC = 30.5%, treatment as usual = 18.4%) (P < 0.001) at 12 months In healthy eating behaviour - greater proportion of participants moved to action or maintenance in PTC group (32.5%) versus usual diabetes treatment (25.8%) group (P < 0.001) at 12 months
Study details	Duration of intervention: 12 months Duration of follow-up: 3, 6, 9 and 12 months, no follow-up after end of intervention Study terminated before regular end: no
Publication details	Language of publication: English Commercial funding: LifeScan, a Johnson & Johnson Company Publication status (peer review journal): full article
Stated aim for study	"To determine whether the Pathways to Change (PTC) intervention would result in greater readiness to change, greater increase self-care and improved diabetes control"

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Notes	Key findings: PTC intervention is significantly better than TAU in helping individuals
	move into action stages of critical diabetes self-care behaviour. It also was successful
	at helping more people engage in SMBG, make healthy low-fat food choices and stop
	smoking
	PTC: pathways to change; SMBG: self-monitoring blood glucose; TAU: treatment as
	usual

Risk	of	bias

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote from publication: "Participants were stratified according to whether or not they took insulin or oral agents alone and were then randomised into treatment or strips conditions" Comment: no other details given
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Comment: the method of concealment is not described
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) Objective outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: no information provided
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) Subjective outcomes	High risk	Comment: the study design could have in- troduced bias for subjective outcomes
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) Objective outcomes	Low risk	Comment: no information provided; how- ever, it is unlikely that objective outcomes (i.e. weight loss measures) have been af- fected by unblinded outcome assessors
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) Subjective outcomes	High risk	Comment: the study design could have in- troduced bias for subjective outcome
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) Objective outcomes	Low risk	Quote from publication: "Participants who did not complete the entire 12 months of the study did not have different baseline de- mographic characteristics from those who did complete the study Participants who did not complete the study were coded as remaining in pre-action for the intention- to-treat (ITT) analyses" Comment: all participants were included in the final analyses

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 41 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) Subjective outcomes	Low risk	Quote from publication: "Participants who did not complete the entire 12 months of the study did not have different baseline de- mographic characteristics from those who did complete the study Participants who did not complete the study were coded as remaining in pre-action for the intention- to-treat (ITT) analyses" Comment: all participants were included in the final analysis
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	High risk	Comment: although it appears that all ex- pected outcomes were included in the re- port (the study protocol was not available) weight loss data were not completely re- ported
Other bias	High risk	Comment: there is no information on power calculation and informed consent. The study used valid instruments, but there is risk for recall bias due to the use of self-ad- ministered questionnaires (e.g. NCI Block FFQ)

Logue 2005

Methods	Parallel randomised controlled clinical trial
Participants	 Inclusion criteria: adults (40 - 69 years), male and female, BMI > 27, waist-to-hip ratio > 0.95 for men or > 0.80 for women Exclusion criteria: age and BMI not stated and other criteria (no access to a telephone, difficulty understanding eighth-grade level spoken or written English, pregnancy, lactation, < 6 months postpartum, use of a wheel chair for mobility, severe heart or lung disease) Diagnostic criteria: BMI, waist girths and other criteria (blood lipids, blood pressure, daily energy intake and total energy expenditure, PRIME-MD for depression, anxiety, and binge eating disorder) Co-morbidities: hypertension, hypercholesterolaemia, osteoarthritis, stomach problems, diabetes Co-medications: psychotropic medication
Interventions	Number of study centres:15 primary care practices Country/location: USA/Ohio Setting: delivered by weight loss advisor and dietician; telephone-based Intervention: TTM SOC used as framework for intervention and assessment. TM- CD: psychosocial evaluation (anxiety, depression and binge eating disorder) 6 monthly; SOC assessment for five target behaviours (increased exercise, increased usual activity, increased dietary portion control, decreased dietary fat and increased fruits and vegeta-

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 42 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

	bles) every 2 months; assessment on anthropometric, dietary and exercise 6 monthly; 10 min counselling on diet; prescriptions (dietary and exercise); monetary reward for completing each post baseline assessment Control : augmented usual care; assessment on anthropometric; dietary and exercise 6 monthly; 10 min counselling on diet; prescriptions (dietary and exercise); monetary reward for completing each post baseline assessment Treatment before study : none
Outcomes	Outcomes (as stated in the protocol/registered trial documents) Primary outcome(s) : early mean weight loss greater in I group 0.5 kg (SE = 0.4 kg) vs C group at 6 and 12 months; higher mean weight loss in I group (-0.39 kg, SE 0.38 kg, 95% CI -1.1 to 0.4) versus C group (-0.16 kg, SE 0.42 kg, 95% CI -1.0 to 0.7) and weight loss difference was 0.23 kg (P = 0.50, 95% CI -1.4 to 0.9); weight mean change for I group and C group combined was -0.29 kg (95% CI -0.9 to 0.3) at 24 months; no significant mean waist girth change for I group versus C group; decreased mean waist girth for I group and C group combined (1.7 cm, SE 0.4 cm, P = 0.0001) at 24 months; weight gain in I and C groups combined was significant (P < 0.0001) after 12 months (adverse event) Secondary outcomes : no significant mean energy intake per day in I group compared to C group (P = 0.69) at 24 months; a significant reduction in mean energy intake per day for I and C groups combined (-250 kcal/d, P < 0.0001) throughout the 6 to 24 months; mean energy expenditure for I group compared to C group not significant (P = 0.31); energy expenditure mean increased (-2 kcal/kg per day, P = 0.04) for I and C groups combined at 24 months; significant increase in the mean of self-reported exercise minutes per week in I versus C groups (P = 0.008) from 6 to 24 months and the mean difference between I and C groups was 31.5 minutes (SE 12 minutes) Additional outcomes : mean blood lipids showed no difference; mean blood pressure showed no difference
Study details	Duration of intervention: 24 months Duration of follow-up: assessment done at 6, 12, 18 and 24 months, no follow-up after end of intervention Study terminated before regular end: no
Publication details	Language of publication: English Non-commercial funding: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality and the Na- tional Institute of Diabetes, Digestive, and Kidney Diseases Grants, Nutrition and Ex- ercise Studies grants from the Summa Health System Foundation Publication status (peer review journal): full article
Stated aim for study	"To compare health benefits achieved in a transtheoretical model-chronic disease minimal intervention for obesity versus augmented usual care"
Notes	Key findings: a combination of mailed patient materials and monthly telephone calls based on the TTM and some elements of chronic disease care is not powerful enough, relative to augmented usual care, to alter target behaviours among overweight primary care patients in an obesogenic environment

Risk of bias

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 43 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Bias	Authors' judgement	Support for judgement
Random sequence generation (selection bias)	Low risk	Quote from publication: "Participants were randomised by opening an enve- lope with a set of ordered tickets indi- cating "TM-CD" or "Traditional" care. The Office of Biostatistics prepared the ordered randomisation tickets using per- muted blocks of 10" Comment: random sequence generation not exactly described; however, because the office of biostatistics prepared the lists we assume correct randomisation
Allocation concealment (selection bias)	Unclear risk	Quote from publication: ""Participants were randomised by opening an enve- lope with a set of ordered tickets indi- cating "TM-CD" or "Traditional" care. The Office of Biostatistics prepared the ordered randomisation tickets using per- muted blocks of 10 Participants and re- search staff at each practice were blind to the assignment of patients while obtaining baseline measures" Comment: unclear whether envelopes were sealed and opaque
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) Objective outcomes	Unclear risk	Comment: no information is provided to allow judgement of performance bias
Blinding of participants and personnel (performance bias) Subjective outcomes	High risk	Comment: the study design could have in- troduced bias for subjective outcomes
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) Objective outcomes	Low risk	Comment: no information is provided; however, it is unlikely that objective out- comes (i.e. weight loss measures) have been affected by unblinded outcome assessors
Blinding of outcome assessment (detection bias) Subjective outcomes	High risk	Comment: the study design could have in- troduced bias for subjective outcome
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) Objective outcomes	Low risk	Quote from publication: "An intention- to-treat analysis including all randomised participants was performed using linear models and linear mixed (repeated-mea-

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 44 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Logue 2005 (Continued)

		sures) models using baseline variables, un- structured covariance matrices, and a miss- ing at random (MAR) assumption" Comment: baseline weight was used for 12% of patients with missing weights for month 18 or 24 months
Incomplete outcome data (attrition bias) Subjective outcomes	Low risk	Quote from publication: "An intention-to- treat analysis including all randomised par- ticipants was performed using linear mod- els and linear mixed (repeated-measures) models using baseline variables, unstruc- tured covariance matrices, and a missing at random (MAR) assumption" Comment: attrition was adequately ad- dressed
Selective reporting (reporting bias)	High risk	Comment: although it appears that all ex- pected outcomes were included in the re- port (the study protocol was not available) , it is clear that some outcome data (e. g. short-term weight loss) were not com- pletely reported
Other bias	High risk	Comment: the trial used valid measures and provided detailed information on sam- ple power and participant informed con- sent. However, there is risk for recall bias due to the use of self-reported instruments (e.g. Stanford 7-Day Recall Questionnaire)

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

Study	Reason for exclusion
Albright 2012	Ineligible participants and use of TTM in combination with other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial with with non-overweight and obese participants included in the study using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Annunziato 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the cognitive behaviour therapy as framework for intervention
Anton 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC was not used as framework for intervention

Arrebola 2011	Ineligible study design and use of other theoretical framework: non-randomised pilot clinical trial with unspecified theoretical framework for intervention
Bennett 2010	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the self-efficacy theory and obesogenic behaviour change principles as framework for intervention
Bibeau 2008	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with children as participants included
Blalock 2002	Ineligible study participants: randomised controlled trial with participants' body mass index (BMI) status not specified
Bonner 1997	Ineligible study design and participants: non-randomised experimental design with participants' BMI not stated
Bourke 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the self-monitoring theory as framework for intervention
Burke 2002	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial with unspecified theoretical framework for intervention
Carlson 2012	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Chin 2002	Ineligible participants and use of other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial with partic- ipants' BMI less than or equal to 25 and TTM SOC not used as framework for intervention
Christensen 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Clark 2011	Ineligible participants: study design and methodology paper describing an intervention to promote the maintenance of both exercise and healthful eating in older adults (BMI not stated)
Cleanthous 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Coday 2002	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social action theory as framework for intervention
Coleman 2012	Ineligible study outcomes: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC as framework of interven- tion, weight change is not measured
Collins 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Craigie 2011a	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Craigie 2011b	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention - study protocol

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and do bese adults (Review)

Dallow 2003	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the self-efficacy theory as frameworks for intervention
De Vet 2007	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with non-overweight and obese participants included in the study
Dekkers 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Demark-Wahnefried 2008	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Demark-Wahnefried 2012	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as frameworks for intervention
Desouza 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Digenio 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using behaviour treatment strategies as frame- work for intervention
Dinger 2007	Ineligible study outcomes: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC as framework of interven- tion, weight change is not measured
Donnelly 2008	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
DPPRG 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised clinical trial using lifestyle curriculum strategies as framework for intervention
Drieling 2011	TTM SOC + other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Eriksson 2009	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC as framework for intervention with normal weight participants included
Estabrook 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Feldman 2000	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial among women with unspecified BMI status
Fernandez 2009	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial applying the TTM SOC with normal weight par- ticipants included
Ferrara 2011	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Ferre 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention

47 Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Finckenor 2000	Ineligible study design and participants: non-randomised experimental design with non-equivalent control group and participants' BMI status not stated
Fitch 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Folta 2009	Ineligible participants and use of other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention and participants with normal weight included
Fortier 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the self-determination theory as frame- work for intervention
Fox 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Foy 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Frisch 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using telemedicine principles as framework for intervention
Gill 1998	Ineligible study design and use of other theoretical framework: non-randomised experimental design using biopsychosocial model as framework for intervention
Glanz 1994	Ineligible study design: cross-sectional prospective study
Greene 1998	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with normal weight participants included in the study
Groeneveld 2011a	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Groeneveld 2011b	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Gusi 2008	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using no explicit behaviour model or theory as framework for intervention
Gögebakan 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Hageman 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the health promotion model as frame- work of intervention
Heideman 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Hersberger 2006	Ineligible study design: prospective evaluation study with no intervention and control group, using diabetes risk assessment and TTM SOC as framework for intervention

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

48

Hughes 2011	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial using TTM SOC as framework for intervention, some normal-weight participants were included in the study
Hui 2012	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial, some normal-weight participants are included in the study
Huisman 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using self-regulation principles as framework for intervention
Hussien 2007	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial with no theoretical model use as framework for intervention
Imayama 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Irvine 2011	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised control trial using the TTM SOC, the social cognitive theory and the theory of reasoned action as framework for intervention
Irwin 2004	Ineligible participants and TTM SOC used in combination with other theoretical framework: ran- domised controlled trial using TTM SOC and self efficacy as theoretical frameworks for intervention and participants with normal weight included
Jackson 2011	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with normal-weight participants included
Jacobs 2011a	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the theory of planned behaviour and the self-determination theory as framework for intervention
Jacobs 2011b	Other theoretical framework: randomised control trial using the theory of planned behaviour and the self-determination theory as framework for intervention
Jakicic 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Jeffery 1999	Ineligible study design and participants: a follow-up prospective study design of a randomised controlled trial with participants within normal BMI range
Jeffery and French 1999	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial with no theoretical model use as framework for intervention
Jimmy 2005	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with normal weight participants aged below 18 included in the study
Johnson 2006	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with undefined participants' weight categories
Jones 2005	Ineligibel study design using the TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: prospective study using the self efficacy theory and the TTM SOC as frameworks for intervention

Jonsson 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using Paleolithic diet principles as framework for intervention
Kallings 2009	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using social cognitive theory, TTM SOC, motivational interviewing and supportive environment as theoretical frameworks for in- tervention
Katula 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised control trial using the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Kelly 2005	Ineligible study design using the TTM SOC and Other theoretical framework: cross-sectional study using the TTM SOC and the decisional balance theory as framework for intervention
Kennedy 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using unspecified theoretical framework for intervention
Keranen 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using effective counselling principles as the- oretical framework for intervention
Kim 2011	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC as framework of intervention with normal-weight participants included in the study
Kim 2013	Pilot study, not a randomised controlled trial
Kirk 2003	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with normal-weight participants included in the study
Korpi-Hyovalti 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Kraschnewski 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Kris-etherton 2002	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using unspecified theoretical framework for intervention
Kumanyika 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social learning theory as framework for intervention
Laforge 1994	Ineligible study design: cross-sectional study using the TTM SOC as framework for intervention
Latka 2009	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC as framework for intervention with normal weight participants included
Lee 1996	Ineligible study design and participants: non-randomised prospective experimental study with partici- pants' BMI status not stated
Lee 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using counselling principles as framework for intervention

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 50 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Lee 2012	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Leichtle 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Lim 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Luley 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Luoto 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Ma 2009	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as theoretical framework for intervention
Macrodimitris 2005	Ineligible study design and participants: descriptive study as part of a larger RCT which only looked at preliminary assessment phase prior to randomisation to intervention groups and participants with normal weight and obese included
Mardones 2009	Ineligible study design: cross-sectional descriptive study to assess participants' TTM SOC
Martin 2007	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory
McDermott 2012	Ineligible participants and use of other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention and including some normal-weight participants
McTiernan 1999	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the cognitive-behavioural skills framing and the TTM SOC as theoretical framework for intervention
Merriam 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Methapatara 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Monteiro 2011	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC, the social cognitive theory and the Precede-Proceed Framework - unclear if all participants are overweight/ obese
Morgan 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Morgan 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory and the family systems theory as framework for intervention

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 51 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Munakata 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Nakade 2012	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC used in combination with other behavioural approach
Nakata 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Nanchahal 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using unspecified theoretical framework for intervention
Nicklas 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using unspecified theory as framework for intervention
Nilsen 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Oden 2005	Ineligible study design and participants: experimental study with underweight and normal-weight par- ticipants included in the study
Ostbye 2009	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory, the stages of readiness and motivation models as framework for intervention
Ostbye 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using self-regulatory techniques as framework for intervention
Ostendorf 1998	Ineligible study design: cross-sectional exploratory descriptive study
O'Connell 1988	Ineligible study design and participants: cross-sectional study among graduate and undergraduate stu- dents with participants' BMI status not specified
Pace 2013	The TTM SOC used in combination with other behavioural approach (TTM + motivational inter- viewing / small changes approach): practices were randomized to an enhanced practice approach that involved both clinicians and office staff making personal changes and creating a healthy practice en- vironment. The enhanced practices were compared with traditional practices, which were trained and asked to use the tools directly with patients
Parikh 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Parra 2010	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention with normal-weight participants included
Partick 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using behavioural and dietary strategies as framework for intervention
Pekmezi 2009	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 52 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Pellegrini 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Petrofsky 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Petry 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Pett 2013	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory / ecological theory of human development as frameworks for intervention
Pettman 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using unspecified theoretical framework for intervention
Pinto 2002	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Pinto 2005	Ineligible participants: randomised control trial with normal weight participants included
Prestwich 2010	Ineligible participants and use of other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the Intention behaviour gap theory and the theory of goal systems as framework for intervention - normal- weight participants included
Prochaska 2008	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with normal weight participants included
Provencher 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using a health-centred approach as framework for intervention
Rejeski 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using self-regulatory techniques as framework for intervention
Retterstol 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised cross-over study using dietary strategies as framework for intervention
Rimmer 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using unspecified theoretical framework for intervention
Robinson 2007	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with normal-weight participants included
Roesch 2010	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Ross 2009	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Ross 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 53 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Ross 2012	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Ruusunen 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Saito 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Salinero-Fort 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Sarkin 2001	Ineligible study design: cross-sectional study design
Schelling 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using cognitive behavioural strategies as frame- work for intervention
Schlenk 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Schumann 2006	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial among smokers with specified BMI status
Shahnazari 2013	The TTM SOC used in combination with motivational interviewing (SOCMMI)
Shuger 2011	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Siegel 2010	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive and self-efficacy theories as framework for intervention
Silva 2008	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the self-determination theory as frame- work for intervention
Silva 2010	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the self-determination theory as frame- work for intervention
Silva 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the self-determination theory as frame- work for intervention
Smith 2007	Ineligible study design: cross-sectional study design
Soureti 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Staudter 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Steptoe 2001	Ineligible study outcomes: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC as framework of interven- tion - weight change is not measured

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 54 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Stewart 2011a	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Stewart 2011b	Other theoretical framework: the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention (pilot study)
Straznicky 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Surkan 2012	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC, the social learning theory and the social support model as framework for intervention
Sutton 2003	Ineligible study design: a trial's baseline assessment study
ter Bogt 2011a	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
ter Bogt 2011b	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Turner 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Unick 2011	Other theoretical framework:randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Vallis 2003	Ineligible study design: cross-sectional study comparing patients at entry into an intervention trial
Van der Vee 2002	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with normal-weight participants included in the study and a duplicate publication
van Genugten 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the self-regulation theory as framework for intervention
van Wier 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory as framework for intervention
Vazquez 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using unspecified theoretical framework for intervention
Verheijden 2004	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with normal-weight participants included
Vermunt 2011	Ineligible study design: non-randomised controlled trial, alternate allocation of participants to inter- vention and control group
Veverka 2003	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial with normal-weight participants included in the study
Vinter 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 55 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Waddden 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using unspecified theoretical framework for intervention
Wadden 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social cognitive theory and be- havioural self-management theories as framework for intervention
Watson 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
Webber 2010	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using self-efficacy theory and motivational interviewing principles as framework for intervention
Weber 2012	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention, methodology paper
Wee 2005	Ineligible study design and participants: cross-sectional design with normal-weight, overweight and obese participants included
West 2011a	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial, the TTM SOC is not used as framework of intervention
West 2011b	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using motivational interviewing strategies as framework for intervention
White 2004	Ineligible participants and use of other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using un- specified theoretical framework for intervention and adolescent participants included
Wijesuriya 2011	Ineligible participants: a study protocol describing a lifestyle intervention based on the TTM SOC with participants between 5-40 years of age
Wilcox 2011	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using social cognitive, social support and relapse prevention behavioural strategies as framework for intervention
Williamson 2010	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using behaviour modification methods as framework for intervention
Wing 2010	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the social learning theory as theoretical framework for intervention
Wright 2011	TTM SOC and other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC and the precaution adoption process model as framework for intervention - unclear whether all participants are overweight/obese
Yassine 2009	Other theoretical framework: randomised controlled trial using unspecified theoretical framework for intervention
Yoo 2012	Ineligible participants: randomised controlled trial using the TTM SOC as framework for intervention with some participants having a BMI < 25.0 kg/m ²

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 56 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

BMI: body mass index; TTM SOC: transtheoretical model stages of change

DATA AND ANALYSES

This review has no analyses.

ADDITIONAL TABLES

Table 1. Overview of study populations

Character- istic Study ID	Interven- tion(s) and control(s)	Sample size a	Screened [N]	Ran- domised [N]	ITT [N]	Complete data or fin- ishing study [N]	Randomised with com- plete data or finishing study [%]	Follow-up ^b
Johnson 2008 ^c	I: SOC + diet, physi- cal activities + stress man- agement	-	4290	628		335	53.7	24 mo
	C: usual care			649		426	66.7	
			total:	1277	1277	761		
Jones 2003	I1: PTC	-	-	250		-	-	12 mo
u	I2: PTC + blood test strips			260		_		
	C1: usual di- abetes treat- ment			250		_		
	C2: usual di- abetes treat- ment + blood test strips			269				
			total:	1029	1029			
Logue 2005	I: TM-CD	540 (90% power to de- tect a differ- ence of 4.5 kg; α = 0.05; 20% drop- out rate))	-	329		266	79.2 (62.2) ^e	24 mo

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 58 obese adults (Review)

Table 1. Overview of study populations (Continued)

	C: augmented usual care		336		271	82.4 (68.7) ^e	
		total:	665	665	537		
Grand total	All inter- ventions		1467				
	All com- parators		1504				
	All inter- ventions and com- parators		2971				

"-" denotes not reported

^aAccording to power calculation in study publication or report

^bDuration of intervention or follow-up, or both, under randomised conditions until end of study

^cMinor mismatch between N with complete data and % as reported in figure 2 of the publication (Johnson 2008)

^dData on drop-outs, losses to follow-up and missing were not reported

eValues in parentheses indicate measured weight (versus measured weight or weight abstracted from chart)

C: control; I: intervention; ITT: intention-to-treat; mo: months; PTC: pathways to change; SOC: stages of change; T: total; TM-CD: transtheoretical model-chronic disease

APPENDICES

Appendix I. Transtheoretical model stages of change (TTM SOC)

Stages of change	Characteristics
Pre-contemplation	 A person has no intent to change behaviour in the near future (usually measured as the next six months). Individuals may be not be informed or lack information about the consequences of their behaviour, or have attempted to change their behaviour and failed, therefore are demoralized on their ability to change the behaviour. These people are often characterized as resistant or unmotivated and tend to avoid information, discussion, or thought with regard to the targeted health behaviour.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 59 obese adults (Review)

Contemplation	 Individuals openly state their intent to change within the next six months. Individuals have increased awareness on the benefits of changing but are still considering the cost involved in changing the behaviour (and are seriously undecided to change and are stuck at this stage for a longer period of time). They are also known as contemplators or procrastinators and are often not ready for traditional action-oriented programs.
Preparation	 The person intends to take steps to change (and usually occurring within the next months). Individuals have attempted some important action in the past and most often have a plan of action, for example attending health education classes and talking to the counsellor. These are the people who should be recruited for action-oriented programs. The individuals have not met the criteria for effective action and can be considered as at the early stirrings of the action stage.
Action	 People made overt modifications in their lifestyles within the past six months. Individuals must meet the criterion agreed by professionals to reduce the risk of a disease. Action is defined as most explicit behavioural transformation and needs considerable commitment of time and energy (a successful change of addictive behaviour means achieving a specific criterion such as abstinence).
Maintenance	 Individuals work to avoid relapse and are most often less tempted to deteriorate as they increasingly become confident and able to continue their changes. It was conventionally viewed as a static stage, whereas it is actually a continuation and not merely an absence of change. The main characteristics are stabilizing behaviour change and avoiding relapse.

Appendix 2. Search strategies

Search terms and databases

Unless otherwise stated, search terms are free text terms.

Abbreviations:

'\$': stands for any character; '?': substitutes one or no character; adj: adjacent (i.e. number of words within range of search term); exp: exploded MeSH; MeSH: medical subject heading (MEDLINE medical index term); pt: publication type; sh: MeSH; tw: text word

The Cochrane Library

- 1 MeSH descriptor Obesity explode all trees
- 2 MeSH descriptor Weight gain explode all trees
- 3 MeSH descriptor Weight loss explode all trees
- 4 MeSH descriptor Body mass index explode all trees
- 5 MeSH descriptor Skinfold thickness explode all trees
- 6 MeSH descriptor Waist-hip ratio explode all trees
- 7 MeSH descriptor Abdominal fat explode all trees
- 8 MeSH descriptor Overweight explode all trees

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 60 obese adults (Review)

9 (overweight* in All Text or (overin All Text and weight* in All Text))

10 (fat in All Text and overloadin All Text and syndrom* in All Text)

- 11 (overeat* in All Text or (overin All Text and eat* in All Text))
- 12 (overfeed* in All Text or (overin All Text and feed* in All Text))
- 13 (adipos* in All Text or obes*in All Text)

14 (weight in All Text near/3 cyc*in All Text) or (weight in All Text near/3 reduc*in All Text) or (weight in All Text near/3 los*in All Text) or (weight in All Text near/3 maint*in All Text) or (weight in All Text near/3 decreas*in All Text) or (weight in All Text near/3 watch*in All Text) or (weight in All Text near/3 control*in All Text) or (weight in All Text near/3 gain*in All Text) or (weight in All Text near/3 chang*in All Text))

- 15 (body in All Text and massin All Text and ind* in All Text) or (waist-hipin All Text and ratio* in All Text))
- 16 (skinfold in All Text and thickness*in All Text)
- 17 (abdominal in All Text and fat*in All Text)
- 18 (#1 or #2 or #3or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7or #8 or #9 or #10 or #11or #12 or #13 or #14 or #15or #16 or #17)
- 19 prochaska in All Text
- 20 diclemente in All Text

21 ((transtheoretical in All Text near/6 model* in All Text) or (trans in All Text and (theoretical in All Text near/6 model*in All Text)))

- 22 "stages of chang*" in All Text
- 23 (behavio?r in All Text and theor*in All Text)
- 24 ((lifestyl* in All Text near/6 model*in All Text) or (behavio?r in All Text near/6 model*in All Text))
- 25 "psychological model*" in All Text
- 26 (diet* in All Text near/6 theor* in All Text)
- 27 MeSH descriptor Health Promotion explode all trees
- 28 MeSH descriptor Psychology explode all trees
- 29 MeSH descriptor Diet explode all trees
- 30 MeSH descriptor Life Style explode all trees
- 31 MeSH descriptor Exercise explode all trees
- 32 (#19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23 or #24 or #25 or #26)
- 33 (#27 or #28 or #29 or #30 or #31 or #32)
- 34 MeSH descriptor Models, theoretical explode all trees
- 35 MeSH descriptor Models, psychological explode all trees
- 36 (#34or #35)
- 37 (#33and #36)
- 38 (#32or #37)
- 39 (#18 and #38)

MEDLINE

- exp Obesity/ 1
- 2 exp weight gain/ or exp weight loss/
- 3 exp body mass index/ or exp skinfold thickness/ or exp waist-hip ratio/
- 4 exp Abdominal Fat/
- 5 exp Overweight/
- 6 (overweight\$ or over weight\$).tw,ot.
- 7 fat overload syndrom\$.tw,ot.
- 8 (overeat\$ or over eat\$).tw.ot.
- 9 (overfeed\$ or over feed\$).tw,ot.
- 10 (adipos\$ or obes\$).tw,ot.
- 11 (weight adj3 (cyc\$ or reduc\$ or los\$ or maint\$ or decreas\$ or watch\$ or control\$ or gain\$ or chang\$)).tw,ot.
- 12 (body mass ind\$ or waist-hip ratio\$).tw,ot.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

- 13 skinfold thickness\$.tw,ot.
- 14 abdominal fat\$.tw,ot.
- 15 or/1-14
- 16 Prochaska.ab,ti,ot.
- 17 Diclemente.ab,ti,ot.
- 18 ((transtheoretical or trans theoretical) adj6 model\$).ab,ti,ot.
- 19 stages of chang\$.ab,ti,ot.
- 20 behavio?r theor\$.ab,ti,ot.
- 21 ((lifestyle or behavio?r) adj6 model\$).ab,ti,ot.
- 22 psychological model\$.ab,ti,ot.
- 23 (diet\$ adj6 theor\$).ab,ti,ot.
- 24 exp Health Promotion/mt [Methods]
- 25 exp Models, Psychological/
- 26 *Models, theoretical/
- 27 exp Diet Therapy/is, mt [Instrumentation, Methods]
- 28 exp Exercise/px [Psychology]
- 29 *Lifestyle/
- 30 or/16-29
- 31 15 and 30
- 32 randomized controlled trial.pt.
- 33 controlled clinical trial.pt.
- 34 randomi?ed.ab.
- 35 randomly.ab.
- 36 placebo.ab.
- 37 drug therapy.fs.
- 38 trial.ab.
- 39 groups.ab.
- 40 or/32-39
- 41 Meta-analysis.pt.
- 42 exp Technology Assessment, Biomedical/
- 43 exp Meta-analysis/
- 44 exp Meta-analysis as topic/
- 45 hta.tw,ot.
- 46 (health technology adj6 assessment\$).tw,ot.
- 47 (meta analy\$ or metaanaly\$ or meta?analy\$).tw,ot.
- 48 ((review\$ or search\$) adj10 (literature\$ or medical database\$ or medline or pubmed or embase or cochrane or cinahl or psycinfo or psyclit or healthstar or biosis or current content\$ or systemat\$)).tw,ot.
- 49 or/41-48
- 50 40 or 49
- 51 31 and 50
- 52 limit 51 to "all adult (19 plus years)"

EMBASE

- 1 exp Obesity/
- 2 exp weight change/ or exp weight control/ or exp weight gain/ or exp weight reduction/
- 3 exp body mass/ or exp waist circumference/ or exp waist hip ratio/
- 4 (obes\$ or overweight or over weight).ab,ti.
- 5 (overeat or over eat or overfeed or over feed or fat overload syndrom\$).ab,ti.
- 6 (weight adj6 (cyc\$ or reduc\$ or los\$ or maint\$ or decreas\$ or watch\$ or control or chang\$ or gain)).ab,ti.

- 7 (body mass ind\$ or waist hip ratio or waist circumferenc\$).ab,ti.
- 8 adipos\$.ab,ti.
- 9 exp skinfold thickness/
- 10 (abdominal fat or skinfold thickness).ab,ti.
- 11 or/1-10
- 12 prochaska.ab,ti,ot.
- 13 Diclemente.ab,ti,ot.
- 14 ((transtheoretical or trans theoretical) adj6 model\$).ab,ti,ot.
- 15 stage\$ of chang\$.ab,ti,ot.
- 16 behavio?r theor\$.ab,ti,ot.
- 17 ((lifestyle or behavio?r) adj6 model\$).ab,ti,ot.
- 18 psychological model\$.ab,ti,ot.
- 19 (diet\$ adj6 theor\$).ab,ti,ot.
- 20 *Health Promotion/
- 21 exp Psychological Model/
- 22 exp Theoretical Model/
- 23 *Diet Therapy/
- 24 (exercis\$ adj6 psycholog\$).ab,ti,ot.
- 25 exp lifestyle modification/
- 26 or/12-25
- 27 11 and 26
- 28 random\$.tw.
- 29 (crossover\$ or cross over\$).tw.
- 30 placebo\$.tw.
- 31 (double adj blind\$).tw.
- 32 (single adj blind\$).tw.
- 33 (assign\$ or allocat\$ or volunteer\$).tw.
- 34 Crossover Procedure/
- 35 Double Blind Procedure/
- 36 Randomized Controlled Trial/
- 37 Controlled Clinical Trial/
- 38 Single Blind Procedure/
- 39 Randomization/
- 40 or/28-39
- 41 exp meta analysis/
- 42 exp Review/
- 43 (metaanaly\$ or meta analy\$ or meta?analy\$).ab,ti,ot.

44 ((review\$ or search\$) adj10 (literature\$ or medical database\$ or medline or pubmed or embase or cochrane or cinahl or psycinfo or psyclit or healthstar or biosis or current content\$ or systematic\$)).ab,ti,ot.

- 45 exp Literature/
- 46 exp Biomedical Technology Assessment/
- 47 hta.tw,ot.
- 48 (health technology adj6 assessment\$).tw,ot.
- 49 or/41-48
- 50 40 or 49
- 51 27 and 50
- 52 limit 51 to (adult <18 to 64 years> or aged <65+ years>)

PsycINFO

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 63 obese adults (Review)

- 1 exp Obesity/
- 2 exp weight gain/ or exp weight loss/
- 3 exp body mass index/ or exp skinfold thickness/ or exp waist-hip ratio/
- 4 exp Overweight/
- 5 (overweight\$ or over weight\$).tw,ot.
- 6 fat overload syndrom\$.tw,ot.
- 7 (overeat\$ or over eat\$).tw,ot.
- 8 (overfeed\$ or over feed\$).tw,ot.
- 9 (adipos\$ or obes\$).tw,ot.
- 10 (weight adj3 (cyc\$ or reduc\$ or los\$ or maint\$ or decreas\$ or watch\$ or control\$ or gain\$ or chang\$)).tw,ot.
- 11 (body mass ind\$ or waist-hip ratio\$).tw,ot.
- 12 skinfold thickness\$.tw,ot.
- 13 abdominal fat\$.tw,ot.
- 14 or/1-13
- 15 Prochaska.ab,ti,ot.
- 16 Diclemente.ab,ti,ot.
- 17 ((transtheoretical or trans theoretical) adj6 model\$).ab,ti,ot.
- 18 stages of chang\$.ab,ti,ot.
- 19 behavio?r theor\$.ab,ti,ot.
- 20 ((lifestyle or behavio?r) adj6 model\$).ab,ti,ot.
- 21 psychological model\$.ab,ti,ot.
- 22 (diet\$ adj6 theor\$).ab,ti,ot.
- 23 or/15-22
- 24 14 and 23
- 25 randomi?ed.ab.
- 26 randomly.ab.
- 27 placebo.ab.
- 28 trial.ab.
- 29 groups.ab.
- 30 or/25-29
- 31 exp Review/
- 32 exp Meta-analysis/
- 33 hta.tw,ot.
- 34 (health technology adj6 assessment\$).tw,ot.
- 35 (meta analy\$ or metaanaly\$ or meta?analy\$).tw,ot.

36 ((review\$ or search\$) adj10 (literature\$ or medical database\$ or medline or pubmed or embase or cochrane or cinahl or psycinfo or psyclit or healthstar or biosis or current content\$ or systemat\$)).tw,ot.

- 37 or/31-36
- 38 30 or 37
- 39 24 and 38

Appendix 3. Description of interventions

Characteristic Study ID	Intervention(s): application of TTM	Control(s): usual advice on diet, exercise or both
Johnson 2008	Assessment and feedback on fat intake, physical ac- tivities per week and stress management at base- line, 3, 6, 9 months. The TTM SOC was used as framework for intervention and assessment (stage- matched multiple behaviour interventions for up to three behaviours related to weight management) for diet (healthy eating - reducing dietary fat to 30% of calories and calories reduction of 500 calories per day), physical activity (moderate exercise - at least 30 min on 5 days per week) and managing emo- tional stress without eating (using healthy strategies rather than eating to cope). Four series of tailored TTM-based reports were mailed to all participants at 0, 3, 6, 9 months	
Jones 2003	 I1: PTC (diabetes manuals, monthly newsletters, telephone counselling, staged-based personalized assessment report quarterly and dietary intake assessment) I2: PTC (diabetes manuals, monthly newsletters, telephone counselling, staged-based personalized assessment report quarterly and dietary intake assessment) + blood testing strips The TTM-SOC was used as framework for intervention and assessment (staged-matched pathways to change) for diet (healthy eating), self-monitoring of blood glucose and/or smoking cessation. Personalised, stage-based assessment reports were sent to all participants at baseline, 3, 6, 9, 12 months 	
Logue 2005	TM-CD: psychosocial evaluation every 6 months; SOC assessment for five target behaviours every 2 months; assessment on anthropometric, dietary and exercise every 6 months; 10 min counselling on diet; dietary and exercise prescriptions; monetary reward for completing each post baseline assessment The TTM SOC was used as framework for inter- vention and assessment for five target behaviours (increased exercise, increased usual activity, in- creased dietary portion control, decreased dietary fat and increased fruits and vegetables). Stage-based individualised workbooks were mailed to all partic- ipants at 0, 6, 12, 18, 24 months	ric, dietary and exercise every 6 months; 10 min counselling on diet; dietary and exercise prescrip- tions; monetary reward for completing each post-

Footnotes

C: control; I: intervention; PTC: pathways to change; SOC: stages of change; TM-CD: transtheoretical model-chronic disease; TTM: transtheoretical model

Characteristic **Primary**^{*a*} endpoint(s): Secondary^b endpoint Other^c endpoint(s) Study ID (s) Johnson 2008 Healthy eating, exercise emotional SOC progression (ac-Managing tion/maintenance) stress, weight Jones 2003 Readiness to change, increases in self-care, improved diabetes control, weight loss, decreased calories (fat), increase in fruits and vegetables servings, quit smoking, SOC progression Logue 2005 Body weight change -Waist girths, energy infrom baseline at or near take, energy expendithe end of 24-month folture, self-reported exercise, blood pressure and low-up blood lipids, psychoso-

Appendix 4. Matrix of study endpoints

Footnotes

"-" denotes not reported

^{*a,b*}As stated in the publication

^cNot stated as primary or secondary endpoint(s) in the publication

BMI: body mass index; C: control; I: intervention; PRIME-MD: primary care evaluation of mental disorders; PTC: pathways to change; SOC: stages of change; TM-CD: transtheoretical model-chronic disease; TTM: transtheoretical model

cial measurements, SOC and PRIME-MD scores

Appendix 5. Baseline characteristics (I)

Characteris- tic Study ID	Intervention (s) and control(s)	Duration of intervention (duration of follow-up)	Participating population	Country	Setting	Ethnic groups [%]	Duration of condition [mean/range years (SD), or as reported]
Johnson 2008	I: SOC + diet, physical activ- ities + stress management C: usual care	9 months (12, 24 months)	Overweight and obese adults	USA	Person- nel not stated, home-based (using tele- phone and mail)	White, not His- panic: 79 Hispanic: 7 Black not His- panic: 7 Asian or other Pacific Islander: 1 American In- dian or Alaskan Native: 1 Others: 5 Missing: 0.3	-
Jones 2003	I1: PTC I2: PTC + blood test strips C1: usual dia- betes treatment C2: usual dia- betes treat- ment + blood test strips	12 months (no follow-up, assessments at 3, 6, 9, 12 months)	Diabetic adults with a body mass in- dex ≥ 27	Canada	Delivered by in- vestiga- tors and health care profession- als (counsellors, fam- ily physicians), using mail and telephone call	-	-
Logue 2005	I: TM-CD C: augmented usual care	24 months (no follow-up, assessments at 6, 12, 18, 24 months)	Adults with a body mass in- dex > 27	USA	Delivered by weight loss ad- visor and dieti- cian; telephone- based; primary care practices	African Ameri- can: I: 28, C: 27	-

Footnotes

C: control; I: intervention; PTC: pathways to change; SOC: stages of change; TM-CD: transtheoretical model-chronic disease

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

Appendix 6. Baseline characteristics (II)

Characteristic Study ID	Intervention(s) and control(s)	Sex [female %]	Age [mean/range years (SD), or as reported]	BMI [mean kg/m ² (SD)]	Co-medications / Co- interventions [%]	Co-morbidities [%]
Johnson 2008	I: SOC + diet, physical activities + stress management C: usual care	47	45.4	30.8	-	-
Jones 2003	I1: PTC	48	I1: 55.1	I1: 32.2		Type 1 and 2 di-
	I2: PTC + blood test strips		I2: 54.6	I2: 32		abetes: 100
	C1: usual dia- betes treatment	_	C1: 54.6	C1: 31.6	_	
	C2: usual dia- betes treatment + blood test strips		C2: 54.9	C2: 31.4		
Logue 2005	I: TM-CD	70	40 to 49: 42% 50 to 59: 42% 60 to 69: 16%	BMI 25-29.9: 20% BMI 30-34.5: 34% BMI 35-39.0: 23% BMI 40.0+: 23%	Prior/current psychotropic medication: I: 26, C: 24	Hypertension: I: 44, C: 48 Hypercholes- terolaemia: I: 36, C: 38 (Osteo)arthritis: I: 35, C: 33
	C: augmented usual care	67	40 to 49: 38% 50 to 59: 42% 60 to 69: 20%			Stomach prob- lems: I: 25, C: 19 Diabetes: I: 14, C: 17

Footnotes

"-" denotes not reported,

* denotes figure for number of participants analysed (not randomised)

BMI: body mass index; C: control; F: female; I: intervention; M: male; PTC: pathways to change; SD: standard deviation; SOC: stages of change; TM-CD: transtheoretical model-chronic disease

Appendix 7. Primary and secondary outcomes (results)

Study ID Characteristic	Johnson 2008	Jones 2003	Logue 2005
	I: SOC + diet, physical activities + stress management C: usual care	I1: PTC I2: PTC + blood test strips C1: usual diabetes treatment C2: usual diabetes treatment + blood test strips	I: TM-CD C: augmented usual care
Data for primary outcomes of	this Cochrane review		
Objectively measured weight- loss (short-term and sustained)		months:	CI -1.1 to 0.4) C: - 0.16 kg (SE 0.42 kg, 95% CI -1.0 to 0.7) T (I vs C): 0.23 kg (95% CI -1. 4 to 0.9; P = 0.50) T (combined): - 0.29 kg (95%
Self-measured weight loss (sus- tained)	Absolute weight loss at 24 months: Treatment group weight loss versus control at 24 months: - 2.12 kg; P < 0.05 At least 5% of body weight for healthy eating behaviour at 24 months: I: 27.4%; C: 20.3% Overall effect over time: 2.07 kg; P < 0.05; OR 1.22 (95% CI 10.1 to 1.48) Weight lost 5% or more for exercise behaviour at 24 months: I: 28.8%; C: 19.4% Overall effect with increasing differences over time: 1.96 kg; P = 0.05; OR 1.32 (95% CI 0. 99 to 1.75) Weight lost 5% or more for		-

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 69 obese adults (Review)

	healthy eating + exercise be- haviours at 24 months: I: 30%; C: 18.6% Overall group effect for in- tervention had increased over time: 2.05 kg; P < 0.05; OR 1. 35 (95% CI 1.01 to 1.81)		
Health-related quality of life	-	-	Measured but not reported

Data for secondary outcomes of this Cochrane review

	points: P < 0.001; OR 1.61 (95% CI 1.33 to 1.94)	in healthy eating behaviour at 12 months: I: 35.2% C: 36.1% Difference: P = 0.004 Higher daily vegetable servings intake per day at 12 months: I: 2.24 C: 2.06 Difference: P = 0.011 Higher daily fruit servings in- take at 12 months:	•.
Self-reported uptake in physical activity and measured change in physical activity	Increased exercise habit (pro- gression to action/maintenance stage) at 6 months: I: 43%; C: 34.6% Increased exercise habit (pro- gression to action/maintenance stage) at 12 months: I: 37.7%; C: 35.9% Increased exercise habit (pro- gression to action/maintenance stage) at 24 months: I: 44.9%; C: 38.1% Overall group effect for all time	-	Increase in mean self-reported exercise minutes per week (from 6 to 24 months): Mean difference between groups 31.5 min (SE 12); P = 0. 008 (additional minutes in the intervention groups)

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 70 obese adults (Review)
	points: P < 0.05; OR 1.27 (95% CI 1.03 to 1.57)		
Objectively measured change in other weight loss measures	-	-	Decrease in mean waist girth at 24 months: difference between groups P = 0.57 T (combined): 1.7 cm (SE 0.4) ; P = 0.0001
Self-reported progression through SOC	nance stage for healthy eating outcome At 6 months: I: 43.9%; C: 31. 3% At 12 months: I: 43.1%; C: 35. 2% At 24 months: I: 47.5%; C: 34. 3%	Progressed to action/mainte- nance stage in SMBG at 12 months (n = 860): I1: 30.5%; C1: 18.4%; I2: 43. 4%; C2: 27% (P < 0.001) Progressed to action/mainte- nance stage for healthy eating behaviour at 12 months (n = 445): I1: 32.5%; C1: 25.8% (P < 0. 001)	
Adverse events	-	-	Significant combined weight gain at 12 months (P < 0.0001)
Morbidity	-	-	-

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 71 obese adults (Review) Copyright © 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

(Continued)

Economic costs	-	-	-

Footnotes

"-" denotes not reported

% E: percentage of total energy intake; BMI: body mass index; C: control (usual advice on diet, exercise or both); f: females; I: intervention (application of transtheoretical model); m: males; MD: mean difference; PTC: pathways to change; SE: standard error; SMBG: self monitoring blood glucose; SOC: stages of change; T: total; TM-CD: transtheoretical model-chronic disease; TTM: transtheoretical model

Appendix 8. Adverse events

Characteris- tic Study ID	Intervention (s) and con- trols(s)	Relapse into unhealthy be- haviour and weight gain [%]	Serious ad- verse events [%]	Left study due to adverse events [%]	Hospitalisa- tion [%]	Out-patient treatment [%]	Symptoms [%]
Johnson 2008	I: SOC + diet, physical activ- ities + stress management C: usual care	-	-	-	-	-	-
Jones 2003	I1: PTC I2: PTC + blood test strips C1: usual dia- betes treatment C2: usual dia- betes treat- ment + blood test strips	-	-	-	-	-	-
Logue 2005	I: TM-CD C: augmented usual care	Significant combined weight gain at 12 months (P < 0.0001)	-	-	-	-	-

Footnotes

"-" denotes not reported

C: control; I: intervention; PTC: pathways to change; SOC: stages of change; TM-CD: transtheoretical model-chronic disease; T: total

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 72 obese adults (Review)

Appendix 9. Survey of authors' providing information on trials

Characteristic Study ID	Study author contacted	Study author replied	Study author asked for additional information	Study author provided data
Johnson 2008	Y	Y	Υ	Ν
Jones 2003	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν
Logue 2005	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν
<i>Footnotes</i> N: no; Y: yes				

FEEDBACK

Flaws in review call into question the validity of the conclusions drawn, 16 November 2011

Summary

On Wednesday, October 5th, 2011, The Cochrane Collaboration published a narrative review of five studies by Tuah, Amiel, Qureshi, Car, Kaur, and Majeed that claimed to assess the effectiveness of dietary and physical activity interventions based on the Transtheoretical Model of behavior change (TTM) to produce sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese adults. The review included a series of serious flaws that call into question the validity of the conclusions drawn.

(a) First, the authors claimed to be studying the impact of TTM-based intervention on weight loss and reported that the selection criteria included randomized controlled trials using the TTM SOC as a model, theoretical framework, or guideline in designing lifestyle modification strategies, mainly dietary and physical activity versus a comparison intervention of usual care, one of the outcome measures of the study was weight loss, and participants were overweight and obese adults.

(b) These criteria, however, were not systematically applied. Most glaringly, two of the five trials (Dinger et al., 2007 & Steptoe et al., 2001) did not include weight loss as an outcome.

(c) Furthermore those two studies included participants who were not overweight or obese. Jones et al. (2003) included no physical activity intervention and measured weight only as a secondary outcome. That leaves two studies that potentially met the inclusion criteria.

(d) A careful reading of Logue et al. (2005), however, indicates that behavior change targets were not clearly specified in that intervention, which the authors defined as a minimal intervention for obesity. Rather than using public health criteria for reaching action for diet and physical activity, Logue et al. (2005) reported focusing on small, non-specific increases in exercise and eating.

(e) Second, though the stated outcome of the review was to assess the potential for TTM-based interventions to measure sustained weight loss, sustainability of weight loss was not adequately assessed. Of the three studies that measured weight loss, two of the three (Jones et al., 2003 and Logue et al., 2005) measured weight loss only at the end of treatment. No follow-up beyond the end of treatment was included.

(f) Only one of five studies measured weight loss at one year post-intervention (Johnson et al., 2008). When examined carefully, the results of this study demonstrate that in the context of a truly effective, evidence-based TTM individualized intervention, weight loss in the treatment and control groups begins to diverge at 24 months (a full 12 months after treatment ended). In fact, Johnson et al. (2008) reported that among participants in the pre-action stages (i.e., those at risk for diet and/or physical activity), there was a significant

and increasing difference over time in the proportion of participants losing at least 5% of their body weight. At the 24 month followup, 30% of those in a pre-action stage for both healthy eating and exercise at baseline had lost at least 5% of their body weight in the treatment group versus only 18.6% of the comparison group.

(g) Third, the bar for being defined as TTM-based intervention study was set far too low. The authors note that listing stage names fulfills criteria for using TTM SOC. The only thing common to the included studies, however, is that stages of change (SOC) names appeared in the abstracts. As the authors acknowledge, the TTM was inconsistently applied in everything from one size fits all email reminders (improperly using primarily behavioral processes of change for a sample almost entirely in contemplation at pre-test) in an under-powered 6 week long study with no follow-up in which weight wasn't even measured (Dinger et al., 2007) to stage-matched messages in 2-3 interactions from a nurse with only brief training (Steptoe et al., 2001), to weight loss advisors who adhered to the intervention protocol less than 50% of the time (Logue et al., 2005). Investigators with adequate knowledge of the TTM recognize that it is a comprehensive model of behavior change in which stage of change is one of 14 variables that make up the model.

(h) To date, the best practices for TTM-based interventions employ statistical decision-making to derive evidence-based decision rules about how to best match messages to participants' readiness to change and status on multiple behavior change variables. Conclusions regarding the efficacy and effectiveness of TTM-based interventions should be based on high quality research that applies the model appropriately, just as conclusions about the efficacy of medications are based on well-controlled trials of pharmacologic agents manufactured under the strictest quality controlled procedures. Unfortunately, those standards were not applied here.

(i) The review gave no consideration to the quality of studies included beyond the reporting of potential biases that were often, as the authors admitted, inappropriate for consideration for the trials included. No mention, for example, was made about whether the studies reviewed had adequate statistical power.

(j) Finally, the review included multiple errors and inconsistencies in reporting. A brief, but not exhaustive, list of examples includes: Page 2: Main Results. The overall sample size is technically inaccurate because only 445 of 1029 individuals in Jones et al. (2003), study were overweight or obese and therefore included in the healthy eating condition.

(k) Page 6: The authors state that for a study to be included in the review the intervention had to be delivered by health care professionals or trained lay-people. However, two of five studies do not meet these inclusion criteria. Johnson et al. (2008) applied a computer and mail-based intervention, and Dinger (2007) delivered the intervention through e-mail.

(1) Page 6: The authors state that another review done on TTM application found that it is difficult to apply the model looking at dietary change (Ni Mhurchu, 1997). However, the Ni Mhurchu citation never appears in the reference list, making it difficult for interested readers to evaluate this claim.

(m) Page 7: The authors erroneously report that all interventions included in the study were tailored to individuals who were overweight or obese. Dinger (2007), used a one size fits all intervention that was not tailored. All participants received the same intervention messages through e-mail regardless of their stage of change.

(n) Page 13: Erroneously reported that all participants in the included trials were analyzed based on traditional intention-to-treat (ITT). Johnson et al. (2008) conducted contemporary ITT analyses on data derived from multiple imputation rather than using traditional ITT analyses to address missing data.

(o) Page 13: Erroneously reported that Johnson et al. (2008) showed no weight loss despite the fact that this study reported statistically significant long-term weight loss outcomes. The Johnson et al. (2008) outcomes are correctly reported on page 17.

(**p**) Page 14 & page 20: Criticized Johnson et al. (2008) for not reporting which study personnel delivered the intervention when Johnson et al. (2008) clearly reported that the intervention was computer-tailored and reports were mailed to participants' homes.

(q) Page 17: Mis-reported Jones outcomes. The authors reported that there was a significant weight loss amongst participants in the action stage (individuals are ready to change their behavior) compared to those in the pre-action stage (individuals are not ready to change behavior) for the intervention in both the self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG) and healthy eating groups at 12 months. The definitions of stages provided are incorrect: Being in the action stage does not mean being ready to change. Action is having recently made the change/adopted the new behavior. Preparation, which is a pre-action stage, is defined as being ready to change. Furthermore, to clarify, the authors should have reported that weight loss was significantly greater for those receiving the intervention for SMBG & healthy eating who progressed to action or maintenance for SMBG.

(r) Page 17: The authors mis-reported changes in self-reported dietary intake for Logue et al. (2005), but Logue reports no differences on self-reported energy expenditure or intake.

(s) Page 17: The authors erroneously defined progress to action/maintenance.

(t) Page 22: In the same paragraph, the authors report that this review provides evidence for the efficacy of dietary and physical activity interventions based on the TTM SOC in producing sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese adults. Immediately before stating TTM SOC and a combination of physical activities, diet, and other interventions resulted in minimal weight loss, and there was no conclusive evidence for sustainable weight loss.

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{C}}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

(u) In summary, we wholeheartedly and respectfully disagree with the assertion that the included studies contain sufficient information to examine the effectiveness of dietary and physical activity interventions based on the TTM SOC for weight loss in overweight and obese adults. The authors included only one study (Johnson et al., 2008) that provided an adequate test of this question, and erroneously and inconsistently reported the nature and findings of that study throughout the review.

(v) Given that the selection criteria were not applied correctly, sustainability of weight loss cannot be assessed based on a single study, the inappropriately low bar set for defining a TTM-based intervention, and the number of errors in this review, we would suggest that this review be retracted from *The Cochrane Library*.

Reply

(a) Disagree. The assessment about the aim of the study is not accurate ('...studying the impact of TTM-based intervention on weight loss...'). The objective of the review is 'to assess the effectiveness of dietary and physical activity interventions based on the transtheoretical model (TTM), to produce sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese adults'. This review is intended to collate evidence and allow rigorous appraisal on how and to what extent TTM works as a theoretical and pragmatic ('real life tested') framework for lifestyle modification (with diet and physical exercise) resulting in weight loss among the target population. This is clearly stated on 'page 7'.

The assessment on the inclusion criteria is also inaccurate. The 'inclusion' criteria were formulated using 'PICO' based on Cochrane review guidelines and a protocol approved by the Cochrane Review Group (CRG), and are clearly defined in page 7.

(b) Disagree. The comment ('...these criteria, however, were not systematically applied. Most glaringly...') is not an accurate assessment on how the criteria of the review are applied during the data extraction and management of the review. The authors have read and followed the data collection and extraction methods stated in the Cochrane review guidelines. The explanation on systematic application of the criteria are explained in page 9 and explicitly shown in 'Table 1', 'Characteristics of included studies', 'Appendix 2', 'Appendix 4', 'Appendix 5', 'Appendix 6' and 'Appendix 7' of the review. All methods used and the results in the review (including on eligibility and appropriateness of each included study) were discussed among authors and submitted to peer reviewers through the CRG for approval. The main outcomes measured in the review are 'weight loss', 'changes in diet', 'changes in physical activity', 'health-related quality of life' and others (as clearly stated in 'the criteria for considering studies for this review: types of outcome measures' in page 4).

The authors agreed to include Dinger et al (2007) because the article met the inclusion criteria, particularly in applying TTM SOC (as explained in page 298 of the article) and reporting changes in physical activities (PA) as an outcome (stated in page 301 of the article). Although, there is no information on 'weight loss', 'changes in diet', 'health-related quality of life' and other outcomes are reported in the article, and the study's results provide useful information on how TTM works for a short-term study. We also have considered all the limitations of this study including small sample size and potential biases (as stated in the review in page 31).

Similarly, the authors included Steptoe et al (2001) because the article met the inclusion criteria, in particular on using TTM SOC as intervention (as explained in page 266 of the article) and reporting changes in the readiness for dietary fat intake and PA as its main outcomes. We identified an additional outcome, that is progression through SOC for targeted behaviours: dietary fat intake, PA and smoking reported when assessing this study. This was also found in some other included studies. Therefore, we added the 'progression through SOC' as an outcome in our review, although it was not stated in our original protocol. There is no information on 'weight loss', 'health-related quality of life' and other outcomes reported in the article. We have declared any differences found in the final manuscript from the protocol when submitting the review.

(c) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate assessment of the body mass index (BMI) status of the participants and outcomes for Jones et al (2003). The article has clearly reported 'BMI >27 kg/m²' in the 'inclusion criteria' for self monitoring blood glucose (SMBG) and health eating interventions (as clearly stated in page 733 of the article). The article did not specifically report the outcomes as primary or secondary. The outcomes stated are shift in SOC for SMBG, healthy eating and smoking, changes in self-care outcomes, changes in health care utilization and impact of self-change (as described in pages 734-5 of the article). We have explained issues related to outcomes measured throughout the review (in particular in pages 17-21).

(d) Disagree. The comment is not clearly written (either it is referring to the inclusion criteria or results of the review). The comment is an inaccurate assessment of the information we have reported for the study (Logue et al 2005) in the review (as shown in pages 3, 35 and 36).

The comment as such '...behavior change targets were not clearly specified in that intervention, which the authors defined as a minimal intervention for obesity...' is written in the 'objective' section of the study's abstract (in page 917 of the article). We have extracted more information on the given point from 'the research methods and procedure' section of the paper, '... the target behaviours were increased exercise, increased usual activity, increased dietary portion control, decreased dietary fat and increased fruits and vegetables...' (page 919).

(e) Disagree. The comment is not an accurate assessment of the outcome measurement and results reported in the review. We have clearly defined the 'timing of outcome measurement: at one month, three months, six months, one year and if available two to five years, as stated by each trial' (page 8). All the studies (Jones et al 2003 and Logue et al 2005) met the given criteria.

For Logue et al (2005), the 'abstract' of the article did not discuss 'follow up', but more information is available in the 'results' section of the article,'.. Figure1 shows the proportion of participants in each study group (AUC or TM-CD) with a measured weight (53.9% to 79.6%) and other information at the four follow-up assessments' (pages 920-1). The study delivered the intervention and follow-up at the same time point. Similarly, for Jones (2003), the 'abstract' of the article did not discuss 'follow up', but more information is available in the 'Research design and methods' section of the article (pages 733-4) and 'conclusion' (page 736). We have considered this point in the review (page 14). The information is stated in the 'intervention' and 'outcome' sections of the 'Characteristics of included studies' table.

(f) Disagree. Although, the comments reiterated the use of 'superficial judgments' based on information stated in the 'abstract' and 'weight outcomes' section of the article, there is no explanation on methods used in examining the information.

We have sufficiently reported the weight loss outcome in the study (Johnson et al 2008) as described in the paper (page 243) together with the statistical values (which are stated in page 17 of the review). Two assessors used the data extraction templates generated based on Cochrane review guidelines and recommended by the CRG (for example Appendix 7 'primary and secondary outcomes' table). The templates enable the assessors to identify some missing data for intervention and control groups pertaining to some of the measured outcomes (for example absolute weight, weight loss of at least 5% and weight loss of 5% or more) particularly at 6 and 12 months of the trial.

(g) Disagree. We have clearly described TTM SOC in the 'description of intervention' section of the review (pages 5-6) and the characteristics are stated in Appendix 1 (page 44) as described by Prochaska and DiClemente (Prochaska 1992).

Two assessors independently read and assessed the entire article based on the given description. Each study is included upon discussion and agreement of both assessors, as stated in the 'extraction and management' section of the review (page 9).

We also took account of important considerations when assessing the included studies, including the fact that the framework might not be properly listed as TTM or SOC in the included studies; limitations in each study; and limited information reported in each article. For example, in Dinger et al (2007) use of TTM SOC is reported as '... the stage of change questionnaire was used to assess motivational readiness to become regularly physically active. An algorithm was used to categorize participants as contemplators, preparers, active and maintainers...' (page 298) and more information is given in table 1 'Curriculum outline for COMBO group' (page 299). We made our judgments based on the reported information, retrieving the articles related to the questionnaire used in the study and contacting the authors for additional information. The summary of information about use of TTM SOC in each included study is stated in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table of the review (pages 30-8). We are fully aware of the complete components of the TTM as it is investigated in our other ongoing research project. However, for the purpose of this review we only focus on SOC as stated in our approved review protocol.

(h) Agree and disagree. We will consider these points in our future projects on TTM. We found only a few studies that used suitable statistical approaches in measuring stage-matched intervention and outcomes. As stated earlier, this review is intended to collate evidence and allow rigorous appraisal on how and to what extent TTM works as a theoretical and pragmatic ('real life tested') framework for lifestyle modification (with diet and physical exercise) resulting in weight loss among the target population. as clearly stated in page 7. The second comment is not clear. However, we have considered the limitations (for example prior exposure, lack of blinding) of using the RCT design for behavioural intervention particularly at community settings when conducting the review (as stated in page 16).

(i) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate assessment of our results. We assessed 'risk of bias' and the 'quality of included studies' based on guidelines in the '*Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*'. Information on 'statistical power' of included studies was stated in the review (page 22).

(j) Disagree. The comment is not an accurate assessment of the overall sample size. We have explained our methods in considering the sample sizes in 'types of participants' section (page 7), the 'unit of analysis' section of the review and please refer to table 1 'overview of study populations' (page 42), based on the '*Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*'. The inclusion criteria for Jones et al (2003) indicated that '... Participants were considered as being in a pre-action stage if they performed SMBG fewer than four times per day...and/or of they had a BMI > 27 kg/m²..' (page 733). Furthermore, the data analysis methods in the study reported'... participants who did not complete the study were coded as remaining in pre-action for the ITT analyses. The main comparisons were between the proportion of participants in PTC versus TAU, and free strips versus no free strips for the SMBG intervention, across the stages at the end of study....' (page 734).

(**k**) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate interpretation of our statements about 'delivery of intervention' in the review (page 6). The method of delivery is useful and additional information we wish to consider when defining the intervention but is not the main reason for including the studies (please refer to 'criteria of considering studies for this review' in page 7). We agreed to include both studies (Johnson et al 2008 and Dinger 2007) upon carefully considering the description on the methodology of each study and our inclusion

criteria. We have reported '... personnel not stated, home based using telephone and email...' (page 29) for Johnson et al (2008); and '...delivered by health care professionals at community and university via email...' for Dinger (2007) in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table of the review (page 28).

(1) Disagree. The reference is listed in page 31 of the review (under additional references).

(m) Disagree. The comment '... all interventions included in the study were tailored to individuals who were overweight or obese...' is not found in the review (page 7).

The comment is an inaccurate assessment of the result for 'interventions of included studies'. We have discussed our results in the 'interventions' section of the review (page 12) and 'Characteristics of included studies' table (pages 28-35) as well as 'Descriptions of interventions' table (page 48). The study by Dinger (2007) did not report adequate information on the intervention in the 'abstract', however there is more information on the study's intervention reported in the 'methods' section of the article (pages 298-299).

(n) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate assessment of our results on 'risk of bias in the included studies' of the review (please refer to pages 12-14). For Johnson et al (2008), we have reported MI approach in the study in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table of the review (page 30).

(o) Agree, thank you. This statement contains a typing error. The statement should read as "... Another trial evaluated a combination of PA, diet and other interventions such as stress management strategies (by giving individualized feedback) compared to usual care and showed significant weight loss, particularly at 24 months (Johnson 2008)." This information is correctly reported together with statistical values in various sections throughout the review (for example 'Effects of interventions, primary outcomes, weight loss maintenance; 'Characteristics of include studies' table; and 'Appendix 7. Primary and secondary outcomes').

(p) Disagree. The point is similar to question 'k', and has been addressed above.

(q) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate assessment of our results on the 'secondary outcomes' in the review (page 17). We have described the 'progression through SOC' outcome using the statistical values extracted from the articles of the included studies, including the study by Jones (2003, refer to pages 732-35 in the article). The definition of SOC in the review is based on the description given by Prochaska (1992; 1997; 2008a) and is one that is widely used in studies as discussed in the review (pages 5, 6 and 43). The point on definition of SOC is similar to question 'h' and has been addressed above.

Please take note of the given references used in the review to define the SOC as stated below (page 27):

Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC, Norcross JC. In search of how people change: Applications to addictive behaviors. American Psychologist. 1992;47(9):1102-14.

Prochaska JO, Redding CA, Evers KE. The transtheoretical model and stages of change. In: K Glanz, F Marcus Lewis, BK Rimer, editors. Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice. 2nd edition. San Francisco Jossey-Bass; 1997.

Prochaska JO, Redding CA, Evers KE. The transtheoretical model and stages of change. In: Karen Glanz BKR, and K. Viswanath editor. Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice. 4th edition. San Francisco Jossey-Bass; 2008.

(r) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate assessment of our results on 'self-reported change in dietary habit and measured change in dietary habit' outcome reported in the 'secondary outcomes' section of the review (pages 15-16). We have clearly defined the 'change in dietary consumption' outcome as a reduction in the daily number of calories, a reduction in fatty food intake and an increase in daily fruit and vegetable consumption, as stated in 'types of outcome measures' in the review (page 7). For the study by Logue (2005), we have reported as such '... TTM SOC combined with diet, physical activity and monetary reward interventions in a trial reported no significant mean change in energy intake per day in the intervention group compare to control (P = 0.69) at 24 months. There was a significant reduction in the mean change energy intake per day for both groups combined (~250 kcal/d; P < 0.0001) throughout the 6 to 24 months follow-up...' (pages 15-16). We also reported that the data on energy expenditure at 6, 12 and 18 months were not explicitly reported. The data for the intervention group and the control pertaining to both outcomes (mean energy intake and expenditure) were not given. We have extracted the data of the given outcome from the article on pages 922 and 923. The abstract of the article reported the results simply as 'Repeated measures models under the missing at random assumption yielded non-significant adjusted differences between the AUC and TM-CD groups for weight change, waist circumference, energy intake or expenditure, blood pressure, and blood lipids...' (page 917), but we have examined the results systematically using methods recommended by the Cochrane review guidelines. Please refer to more information shown in the review including 'Characteristics of included studies' table (pages 33-34), matrix of study endpoints (Appendix 5, page 51) and the 'primary and secondary outcomes' table (Appendix 7, page 52).

(s) Disagree. We have explicitly defined the terms 'progress to action stage' and 'maintenance stage' in the review (page 17) as defined in the study by Steptoe 2001 (page 266). This point was recommended by the CRG during the peer-review process and aimed to provide a clear explanation of the results when reporting the outcome of the study in the review. We think the definitions for the terms given throughout the article are acceptable and similar to our definition of SOC (as mentioned on question 'q' above).

(t) Agree, thank you. The statement in 'Abstract/Main results' should read "The intervention was found to have limited impact on weight loss (about 2 kg or less). There was no conclusive evidence for sustainable weight loss." and the statement in 'Implications for

practice' should read "This review provides evidence on the use of the TTM SOC as a theoretical framework for dietary and physical activity interventions in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults. TTM SOC and a combination of physical activities, diet and other interventions (such as feedback reports, anthropometric measurements and counseling) have limited impact on weight loss (about 2 kg or less). There was no conclusive evidence for sustainable weight loss."

(u) Disagree. We have reviewed the current evidence and based our conclusions on this evidence. Future research from new high quality studies may change our findings but until then, our findings are valid.

(v) Disagree. We think the request is invalid because most of the comments are based on an inaccurate assessment of the review. We have followed an approved protocol in conducting this review which is based on the 'Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions'. The information and results in the review reported are peer-reviewed and approved by the editor of the CRG. We have reviewed the current evidence and based our conclusions on this. Future research from high quality studies may change our findings but until then, our findings are valid.

Contributors

Sara Johnson, Ph.D.

Occupation Senior Vice President, Research and Product Development, Pro-Change Behavior Systems, Inc.

Email Address: sjohnson@prochange.com

Submitter has modified conflict of interest statement: I am an employee of Pro-Change Behavior Systems, Inc. who licenses evidencebased behavior change programs grounded in the Transtheoretical Model of Behavior Change.

Nik Tuah on behalf of the authors.

Notes: Listing (such as (a), (b) etc.) was introduced by the Feedback Editor to provide better comparability between contributor's comments and authors' replies.

Cochrane review response rebuttal, 9 February 2012

Summary

On Wednesday, October 5th, 2011, the Cochrane Collaboration published a narrative review of five studies by Tuah, Amiel, Qureshi, Car, Kaur, and Majeed that claimed to assess the effectiveness of dietary and physical activity interventions based on the Transtheoretical Model of behavior change (TTM) to produce sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese adults. The review included a series of serious flaws that call into question the validity of the conclusions drawn.

(a) First, the authors claimed to be studying the impact of TTM-based intervention on weight loss and reported that the selection criteria included randomized controlled trials using the TTM SOC as a model, theoretical framework, or guideline in designing lifestyle modification strategies, mainly dietary and physical activity versus a comparison intervention of usual care, one of the outcome measures of the study was weight loss, and participants were overweight and obese adults.

(b) These criteria, however, were not systematically applied. Most glaringly, two of the five trials (Dinger et al., 2007 & Steptoe et al., 2001) did not include weight loss as an outcome.

First of all, the authors have divided our critique in to statements that they ordered "a, b, c... etc." While we are not opposed to them re-organizing our statements for the purposes of clarity, they actually divided our comments up in ways that increased confusion in some cases. The first sentence of section "b" would more appropriately fall under statement "a.." The first sentence of statement "c" is clearly referring to the articles in statement "b." These mistakes actually caused the authors of the review to defend their article against claims we did not make (e.g., we did not argue that Jones et al., 2003 did not include overweight adults).

(c) Furthermore those two studies included participants who were not overweight or obese. Jones et al. (2003) included no physical activity intervention and measured weight only as a secondary outcome. That leaves two studies that potentially met the inclusion criteria.

The first sentence of statement "c" is referring to the articles in statement "b."

(d) A careful reading of Logue et al. (2005), however, indicates that behavior change targets were not clearly specified in that intervention, which the authors defined as a minimal intervention for obesity. Rather than using public health criteria for reaching action for diet and physical activity, Logue et al. (2005) reported focusing on small, non-specific increases in exercise and eating.

(e) Second, though the stated outcome of the review was to assess the potential for TTM-based interventions to measure sustained weight loss, sustainability of weight loss was not adequately assessed. Of the three studies that measured weight loss, two of the three

(Jones et al., 2003 and Logue et al., 2005) measured weight loss only at the end of treatment. No follow-up beyond the end of treatment was included.

(f) Only one of five studies measured weight loss at one year post-intervention (Johnson et al., 2008). When examined carefully, the results of this study demonstrate that in the context of a truly effective, evidence-based TTM individualized intervention, weight loss in the treatment and control groups begins to diverge at 24 months (a full 12 months after treatment ended). In fact, Johnson et al. (2008) reported that among participants in the pre-action stages (i.e., those at risk for diet and/or physical activity), there was a significant and increasing difference over time in the proportion of participants losing at least 5% of their body weight. At the 24 month follow-up, 30% of those in a pre-action stage for both healthy eating and exercise at baseline had lost at least 5% of their body weight in the treatment group versus only 18.6% of the comparison group.

(g) Third, the bar for being defined as TTM-based intervention study was set far too low. The authors note that listing stage names fulfills criteria for using TTM SOC. The only thing common to the included studies, however, is that stages of change (SOC) names appeared in the abstracts. As the authors acknowledge, the TTM was inconsistently applied in everything from one size fits all email reminders (improperly using primarily behavioral processes of change for a sample almost entirely in contemplation at pre-test) in an under-powered 6 week long study with no follow-up in which weight wasn't even measured (Dinger et al., 2007) to stage-matched messages in 2-3 interactions from a nurse with only brief training (Steptoe et al., 2001), to weight loss advisors who adhered to the intervention protocol less than 50% of the time (Logue et al., 2005). Investigators with adequate knowledge of the TTM recognize that it is a comprehensive model of behavior change in which stage of change is one of 14 variables that make up the model.

(h) To date, the best practices for TTM-based interventions employ statistical decision-making to derive evidence-based decision rules about how to best match messages to participants' readiness to change and status on multiple behavior change variables. Conclusions regarding the efficacy and effectiveness of TTM-based interventions should be based on high quality research that applies the model appropriately, just as conclusions about the efficacy of medications are based on well-controlled trials of pharmacologic agents manufactured under the strictest quality controlled procedures. Unfortunately, those standards were not applied here.

(i) The review gave no consideration to the quality of studies included beyond the reporting of potential biases that were often, as the authors admitted, inappropriate for consideration for the trials included. No mention, for example, was made about whether the studies reviewed had adequate statistical power.

(j) Finally, the review included multiple errors and inconsistencies in reporting. A brief, but not exhaustive, list of examples includes Page 2: Main Results. The overall sample size is technically inaccurate because only 445 of 1029 individuals in Jones et al. (2003), study were overweight or obese and therefore included in the healthy eating condition.

(k) Page 6: The authors state that for a study to be included in the review the intervention had to be delivered by health care professionals or trained lay-people. However, two of five studies do not meet these inclusion criteria. Johnson et al. (2008) applied a computer and mail-based intervention, and Dinger (2007) delivered the intervention through e-mail.

(1) Page 6: The authors state that another review done on TTM application found that it is difficult to apply the model looking at dietary change (Ni Mhurchu, 1997). However, the Ni Mhurchu citation never appears in the reference list, making it difficult for interested readers to evaluate this claim.

(m) Page 7: The authors erroneously report that all interventions included in the study were tailored to individuals who were overweight or obese. Dinger (2007), used a one size fits all intervention that was not tailored. All participants received the same intervention messages through e-mail regardless of their stage of change.

(n) Page 13: Erroneously reported that all participants in the included trials were analyzed based on traditional intention-to-treat (ITT). Johnson et al. (2008) conducted contemporary ITT analyses on data derived from multiple imputation rather than using traditional ITT analyses to address missing data.

(o) Page 13: Erroneously reported that Johnson et al. (2008) showed no weight loss despite the fact that this study reported statistically significant long-term weight loss outcomes. The Johnson et al. (2008) outcomes are correctly reported on page 17.

(p) Page 14 & page 20: Criticized Johnson et al. (2008) for not reporting which study personnel delivered the intervention when Johnson et al. (2008) clearly reported that the intervention was computer-tailored and reports were mailed to participants' homes.

(q) Page 17: Mis-reported Jones outcomes. The authors reported that there was a significant weight loss amongst participants in the action stage (individuals are ready to change their behavior) compared to those in the pre-action stage (individuals are not ready to change behavior) for the intervention in both the self-monitoring of blood glucose (SMBG) and healthy eating groups at 12 months. The definitions of stages provided are incorrect: Being in the action stage does not mean being ready to change. Action is having recently made the change/adopted the new behavior. Preparation, which is a pre-action stage, is defined as being ready to change. Furthermore, to clarify, the authors should have reported that weight loss was significantly greater for those receiving the intervention for SMBG & healthy eating who progressed to action or maintenance for SMBG.

(r) Page 17: The authors mis-reported changes in self-reported dietary intake for Logue et al. (2005), but Logue reports no differences on self-reported energy expenditure or intake.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 79 obese adults (Review)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\textcircled{0}}$ 2014 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

(s) Page 17: The authors erroneously defined progress to action/maintenance.

(t) Page 22: In the same paragraph, the authors report that this review provides evidence for the efficacy of dietary and physical activity interventions based on the TTM SOC in producing sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese adults. Immediately before stating TTM SOC and a combination of physical activities, diet, and other interventions resulted in minimal weight loss, and there was no conclusive evidence for sustainable weight loss.

(u) In summary, we wholeheartedly and respectfully disagree with the assertion that the included studies contain sufficient information to examine the effectiveness of dietary and physical activity interventions based on the TTM SOC for weight loss in overweight and obese adults. The authors included only one study (Johnson et al., 2008) that provided an adequate test of this question, and erroneously and inconsistently reported the nature and findings of that study throughout the review.

(v) Given that the selection criteria were not applied correctly, sustainability of weight loss cannot be assessed based on a single study, the inappropriately low bar set for defining a TTM-based intervention, and the number of errors in this review, we would suggest that this review be retracted from The Cochrane Library.

Reply

(a) Disagree. The assessment about the aim of the study is not accurate ('...studying the impact of TTM-based intervention on weight loss...'). The objective of the review is 'to assess the effectiveness of dietary and physical activity interventions based on the transtheoretical model (TTM), to produce sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese adults'. This review is intended to collate evidence and allow rigorous appraisal on how and to what extent TTM works as a theoretical and pragmatic ('real life tested') framework for lifestyle modification (with diet and physical exercise) resulting in weight loss among the target population. This is clearly stated in page 7.

The assessment on the inclusion criteria is also inaccurate. The 'inclusion' criteria were formulated using 'PICO' based on Cochrane review guidelines and a protocol approved by the Cochrane Review Group (CRG), and are clearly defined in page 7.

We are not disputing that the authors' objective was "to assess the effectiveness of dietary and physical activity interventions based on the Transtheoretical Model (TTM), to produce sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese adults". We are, however, disputing that the studies included allow an adequate examination of the effectiveness of the interventions given that two out of the five did not measure weight loss at all; two included participants who were not all overweight; and only one measures weight loss beyond the end of treatment. Nor are we are arguing that the inclusion criteria for PICO/Cochrane were incorrect, but rather that at least three of the studies included do not meet the specified inclusion criteria (as the authors acknowledge below). Thus, the aims, description, and conclusions of the study do not accurately represent the literature that was actually reviewed (e.g. "true" TTM interventions were not used in the majority of studies, not all adults in the literature were overweight or obese, and not all of the studies measured weight loss as an outcome).

(b) Disagree. The comment ('...these criteria, however, were not systematically applied. Most glaringly...') is not an accurate assessment on how the criteria of the review are applied during the data extraction and management of the review. The authors have read and followed the data collection and extraction methods stated in the Cochrane review guidelines. The explanation on systematic application of the criteria are explained in page 9 and explicitly shown in 'Table 1', 'Characteristics of the included studies', 'Appendix 3', 'Appendix 4', 'Appendix 5', 'Appendix 6' and 'Appendix 7' of the review. All methods used and the results in the review (including on eligibility and appropriateness of each included study) were discussed among authors and submitted to peer-reviewers through the CRG for approval. The main outcomes measured in the review are 'weight loss', 'changes in diet', 'changes in physical activity', 'health-related quality of life' and others (as clearly stated in 'The criteria of considering studies for this review: types of outcome measures' in page 4). The authors agreed to include Dinger et al (2007) because the article met the inclusion criteria, particularly on applying TTM SOC (as explained in page 298 of the article) and reporting changes in physical activities (PA) as an outcome (stated in page 301 of the article). Although, there is no information on 'weight loss', 'changes in diet' and 'health-related quality of life' other outcomes are reported in the article, and the study's results provide useful information on how TTM works for a short-term study. We also have considered all the limitations of this study including small sample size and potential biases (as stated in the review in page 31).

Similarly, the authors included Steptoe et al (2001) because the article met the inclusion criteria, in particular on using TTM SOC as intervention (as explained in page 266 of the article) and reporting changes in the readiness for dietary fat intake and PA as its main outcomes. We identified an additional outcome, that is progression through SOC for targeted behaviours: dietary fat intake, PA and smoking reported when assessing this study. This was also found in some other included studies. Therefore, we added the 'progression through SOC' as an outcome in our review, although it was not stated in our original protocol. There is no information on 'weight loss', 'health-related quality of life' and other outcomes reported in the article. We have declared any differences found in the final manuscript from the protocol when submitting the review.

Here, in section B, the authors themselves acknowledge that they in fact misapplied the inclusion criteria. On Page 9, the authors state that relevant population and intervention characteristics were extracted from studies that fulfilled the inclusion criteria. On page 7, the authors stated that the inclusion criteria are: "Adults, aged 18 and over, who are overweight or obese

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 80 obese adults (Review)

according to any standard parameters...". Under the heading Types of outcome measures, the authors state that weight loss measured at one month, three months, or six months after the intervention) is a primary outcome.

Being overweight or obese was not a stated inclusion criterion for Dinger et al. (page 298 of the original article) and only 57% of the sample was obese (page 301). Weight loss is not an outcome at all, let alone a primary outcome.

Being overweight or obese was not an inclusion criterion for Steptoe et al. (page 265), and weight loss was not reported as an outcome.

Thus, the title, abstract, and objectives of this review are misleading. This review repeatedly states that its objective is "to assess the effectiveness of dietary and physical activity interventions based on the Transtheoretical Model (TTM), to produce sustainable weight loss in overweight and obese adults.' (See title, abstract, and objectives section, pg 7). If the authors were going to include studies about stage progression among more general populations, a number of other important studies were omitted. On page 7 under the section Why it is important to do this review the authors clearly state "The review will collate evidence and allow rigorous appraisal on how and to what extent TTM works as a theoretical and pragmatic (real life tested) framework for life modification (with diet and physical exercise) resulting in weight loss amongst the target population."

The authors argue in their rebuttal that more detailed information about each study's outcomes is provided in appendices and tables throughout the review, but this does not change the fact that the authors provide contradictory and misleading information about the scope of this review in the most salient sections of their article. In addition, they draw conclusions about the effectiveness of the TTM on weight loss based on only three studies. Stated in another way, we believe it is irresponsible that 40% of the studies (2 out of 5) included in this review do not include weight loss as an outcome given the stated objectives and conclusions drawn. In addition, three weight-loss studies is arguably too few to draw a conclusion about the effectiveness of the TTM on this area of behavior change.

(c) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate assessment of the body mass index (BMI) status of the participants and outcomes for Jones et al (2003). The article has clearly reported 'BMI > 27 kg/m^2 ' in the 'inclusion criteria' for self monitoring blood glucose (SMBG) and health eating interventions (as clearly stated in page 733 of the article). The article did not specifically report the outcomes as primary or secondary. The outcomes stated are shift in SOC for SMBG, healthy eating and smoking, changes in self-care outcomes, changes in health care utilization and impact of self-change (as described in pages 734-5 of the article). We have explained issues related to outcomes measured throughout the review (in particular in pages 17-21).

The authors are refuting a statement we did not make. They incorrectly edited our statement into sections "b" and "c" and then erroneously associated the Jones reference with a statement we were clearly making about two different articles (see Dinger et al., 2007 & Steptoe et al., 2001). The issue at hand is that two articles (Dinger et al., 2007 & Steptoe et al., 2001) did not exclusively include adults who were overweight or obese despite the fact that this review claims that the selection criteria included "participants who were overweight or obese." See title, abstract, plain language summary (page 2), types of participants section (page 7). It is true that those articles included other outcomes such as physical activity. What is of concern is that the reviewers in fact drew conclusions on intervention effectiveness for a myriad of outcomes based on very few studies. On page 13 in the section on Participants and Setting*the authors state "The trials were conducted amongst overweight and obese adults participants only.*"

The authors response here, does not change the fact that the inclusion criteria for the Dinger et al. (2007) article and Steptoe et al., (2001) did not include being overweight or obese. The authors inaccurately list the inclusion criteria for Dinger et al., (2007) as BMI > 30 (See characteristics of studies, page 30). In fact, only 57% of participants in the Dinger et al., (2007) study had a BMI > 30. This is clearly stated on page 301 of the original article.

Similarly Steptoe et al., (2001) included participants based on any one of three risk factors including cigarette smoking, high cholesterol, or a combination

of a high body mass index and low physical activity (see page 266 of the original article). Only 79% fell in to the overweight category. The inclusion criteria for this study are misstated on Page 37 of the review in the 'Characteristics of Studies' section. (d) Disagree. The comment is not clearly written (either it is referring to the inclusion criteria or results of the review). The comment is an inaccurate assessment of the information we have reported for the study (Logue et al 2005) in the review (as shown in pages 3, 35 and 36).

The comment as such '...behavior change targets were not clearly specified in that intervention, which the authors defined as a minimal intervention for obesity...' is written in the 'objective' section of the study's abstract (in page 917 of the article). We have extracted more information on the given point from 'the research methods and procedure' section of the paper, '...the target behaviours were increased exercise, increased usual activity, increased dietary portion control, decreased dietary fat and increased fruits and vegetables...' (page 919).

On page 919, Logue et al. state the goal was increased exercise, increased usual activity, increased dietary portion control, decreased dietary fat, and increased fruits and vegetables. As we highlighted initially, these are non-specific increases (increase

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 81 obese adults (Review)

to what frequency of exercise, what % of calories from fat, etc.). Furthermore, Logue et al. repeat their assertion that the intervention examined was minimal in the Discussion on page (925).

(e) Disagree. The comment is not an accurate assessment of the outcome measurement and results reported in the review. We have clearly defined the 'timing of outcome measurement: at one month, three months, six months, one year and if available two to five years, as stated by each trial' (page 8). All the studies (Jones et al, 2003 and Logue et al, 2005) met the given criteria.

For Logue et al (2005), the 'abstract' of the article did not discuss 'follow up', but more information is available in the 'results' section of the article, '.. Figure1 shows the proportion of participants in each study group (AUC or TM-CD) with a measured weight (53.9% to 79.6%) and other information at the four follow-up assessments' (pages 920-1). The study delivered the intervention and follow-up at the same time point. Similarly, for Jones (2003), the 'abstract' of the article did not discuss 'follow up', but more information is available in the 'Research design and methods' section of the article (pages 733-4) and 'conclusion' (page 736). We have considered this point in the review (page 14). The information is stated in the 'intervention' and 'outcome' sections of the 'Characteristics of included studies' table.

Weight is reported in the Logue study in Figure 1, but the intervention and follow-ups took place at the same time, with no additional follow-ups beyond the end of the intervention. Loge reports on page 918 that the participants receive 100 weeks of treatment, elaborating on page 919 that assessment occurred every 6 months.

Jones et al. report on page 733 that participants completed quarterly assessments and received an "integrated, multicomponent intervention program that provides monthly mail or telephone contact for 12 months". As is reported on page 734, all participants completed a final, end of study assessment at 12 months. Thus, there was no assessment at an extended follow-up. Thus, only one study meets the criteria of having a follow-up post-intervention.

(f) Disagree. Although, the comments reiterated the use of 'superficial judgments' based on information stated in the 'abstract' and 'weight outcomes' section of the article, there is no explanation on methods used in examining the information.

We have sufficiently reported the weight loss outcome in the study (Johnson et al 2008) as described in the paper (page 243) together with the statistical values (which are stated in page 17 of the review). Two assessors used the data extraction templates generated based on Cochrane review guidelines and recommended by the CRG (e.g. Appendix 7 'Primary and secondary outcomes' table). The templates enable the assessors to identify some missing data for intervention and control groups pertaining to some of the measured outcomes (e.g. absolute weight, weight loss of at least 5% and weight loss of 5% or more) particularly at 6 and 12 months of the trial.

This statement does not pertain to our point which is that only one study in this review reported long-term weight-loss outcomes. (g) Disagree. We have clearly described TTM SOC in the 'description of intervention' section of the review (pages 5-6) and the characteristics are stated in Appendix 1 (page 44) as described by Prochaska and DiClemente (Prochaska 1992).

Two assessors independently read and assessed the entire article based on the given description. Each study is included upon discussion and agreement of both assessors, as stated in the 'extraction and management' section of the review (page 9).

We also took account of important considerations when assessing the included studies, including the fact that the framework might not be properly listed as TTM or SOC in the included studies; limitations in each study; and limited information reported in each article. For example, in Dinger et al (2007), use of TTM SOC is reported as '... the stage of change questionnaire was used to assess motivational readiness to become regularly physically active. An algorithm was used to categorize participants as contemplators, preparers, active and maintainers...' (page 298) and more information is given in table 1 'Curriculum outline for COMBO group' (page 299). We made our judgments based on the reported information, retrieving the articles related to the questionnaire used in the study and contacting the authors for additional information. The summary of information about use of TTM SOC in each included study is stated in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table of the review (pages 30-8). We are fully aware of the complete components of the TTM as it is investigated in our other ongoing research project. However, for the purpose of this review we only focus on SOC as stated in our approved review protocol.

(h) Agree and disagree. We will consider these points in our future projects on TTM. We found only a few studies that used suitable statistical approaches in measuring stage-matched intervention and outcomes. As stated earlier, this review is intended to collate evidence and allow rigorous appraisal on how and to what extent TTM works as a theoretical and pragmatic ('real life tested') framework for lifestyle modification (with diet and physical exercise) resulting in weight loss among the target population. as clearly stated in page 7. We understand the authors had difficulty finding articles with suitable statistical approaches that measure stage-based outcomes. This fact should have deterred them from writing a review. We fully agree that the literature is lacking and echo the point that well-designed studies on the TTM on weight loss are needed to make conclusions about its effectiveness. The authors also claim that this review addresses how the TTM works "as a theoretical and pragmatic (real-life tested) framework." We do not agree that misapplying the TTM as a Stage of Change "model" constitutes "real-life testing". The Transtheoretical Model of Change has 14 constructs, one of which is Stage of Change. This article misrepresents decades of research and development by consistently calling the TTM the TTM SOC "model." Real-world tests of interventions should not mean applying one aspect of a complex model to draw conclusions about that model's efficacy.

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 82 obese adults (Review)

The second comment is not clear. However, we have considered the limitations (e.g. prior exposure, lack of blinding) of using the RCT design for behavioural intervention particularly at community settings when conducting the review (as stated in page 16).

(i) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate assessment of our results. We assessed 'risk of bias' and the 'quality of included studies' based on guidelines in the 'Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions'. Information on 'statistical power' of included studies was stated in the review (page 22).

Page 22 does not report details on the power of studies, it states (in the conclusion section) that many of the studies had small sample sizes and lacked statistical power. This is exactly our point. The conclusions the authors draw about the efficacy of the TTM, or lack thereof, are based on inconclusive research for which null findings may simply be the reflection of study design. We believe this makes the conclusions of this review stated on page 22 invalid and premature.

(j) Disagree. The comment is not an accurate assessment of the overall sample size. We have explained our methods in considering the sample sizes in 'types of participants' section (page 7), the 'unit of analysis' section of the review and please refer to Table 1 'Overview of study populations' (page 42), based on the 'Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions'. The inclusion criteria for Jones et al (2003) indicated that '... Participants were considered as being in a pre-action stage if they performed SMBG fewer than four times per day...and/or of they had a BMI >27 kg/m²..' (p.733). Furthermore, the data analysis methods in the study reported '... participants who did not complete the study were coded as remaining in pre-action for the ITT analyses. The main comparisons were between the proportion of participants in PTC versus TAU, and free strips versus no free strips for the SMBG intervention, across the stages at the end of study....' (page 734).

A careful reading of Jones et al. indicates that only subjects with a BMI of 27 or more were enrolled in the healthy eating intervention and that only those who were in a pre-action stage for healthy eating (n=445) were included in the analyses (page 733). Given that the review criteria was to examine the effect of healthy eating and physical activity interventions, it seems that only the 445 who received the healthy eating intervention could possibly be included.

(k) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate interpretation of our statements about 'delivery of intervention' in the review (page 6). The method of delivery is useful and additional information we wish to consider when defining the intervention but is not the main reason for including the studies (please refer to 'criteria of considering studies for this review' in page 7). We agreed to include both studies (Johnson et al 2008 and Dinger 2007) upon carefully considering the description on the methodology of each study and our inclusion criteria. We have reported '... personnel not stated, home based using telephone and email...' (page 29) for Johnson et al. (2008); and '...delivered by health care professionals at community and university via email...' for Dinger (2007) in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table of the review (page 28).

While the authors may correctly report intervention delivery in table 1 (on page 31; not page 29) this does not change the fact that they provide contradictory information in the text on page 6: The statement reads:

"For this review...... The intervention must be delivered by health care professionals or trained lay people at the hospital and community level targeted for overweight and obese adults, such as at community health centres and schools."

If this was in fact the inclusion criteria, two studies that delivered interventions by computer and e-mail should have been excluded.

Correctly reporting study methodology in one part of the review does not negate misreporting in another. Inconsistency in reporting propagates poor science and confuses readers.

(l) Disagree: The reference is listed in pg.31 of the review (under additional references).

(m) Disagree. The comment '... all interventions included in the study were tailored to individuals who were overweight or obese...' is not found in the review (page 7).

The comment is an inaccurate assessment of the result for 'interventions of included studies'. We have discussed our results in the 'interventions' section of the review (page 12) and 'Characteristics of included studies' table (pages 28-35) as well as 'Descriptions of interventions' table (page 48).

This statement is in the review: See page 6: The statement reads

"For this review...... The intervention must be delivered by health care professionals or trained lay people at the hospital and community level targeted for overweight and obese adults, such as at community health centeres and schools."

On page 13: see section on Participants and Setting

The trials were conducted amongst overweight and obese adult participants only."\\

(m cont....) The study by Dinger (2007) did not report adequate information on the intervention in the 'abstract', however there is more information on the study's intervention reported in the 'methods' section of the article (pages 298-299).

As can be seen clearly on 299, all participants received the same intervention messages regardless of their stage of change. Our point is that TTM-based interventions tailor interventions to Stage of Change (i.e. people in different stages get intervention messages matched to or targeted for their stage).

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and 83 obese adults (Review)

(n) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate assessment of our results on 'risk of bias in the included studies' of the review (please refer to pages 12-14). For Johnson et al (2008), we have reported MI approach in the study in the 'Characteristics of included studies' table of the review (page 30).

This does not change the fact that the authors erroneously reported on page 13 in the participants and settings section: *"All participants in the analysed trials were on the basis of intention to treat (ITT)"*

(o) Agree, thank you. This statement contains a typing error. The statement should read as "... Another trial evaluated a combination of PA, diet and other interventions such as stress management strategies (by giving individualized feedback) compared to usual care and showed significant weight loss, particularly at 24 months (Johnson 2008)." This information is correctly reported together with statistical values in various sections throughout the review (e.g. 'Effects of interventions, primary outcomes, weight loss maintenance; 'Characteristics of include studies' table; and 'Appendix 7. Primary and secondary outcomes').

(p) Disagree. The point is similar to question 'k', and has been addressed above.

Nonetheless, incorrect information appears on both pages 6 and 13. The methodology was correctly reported only in Table 1. The authors incorrectly extrapolated information from this table repeatedly throughout the review.

(q) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate assessment of our results on the 'secondary outcomes' in the review (page 17). We have described the 'progression through SOC' outcome using the statistical values extracted from the articles of the included studies, including the study by Jones (2003, refer to pages 732-35 in the article). The definition of SOC in the review is based on the description given by Prochaska (1992; 1997; 2008a) and is one that is widely used in studies as discussed in the review (pages 5, 6 and 43). The point on definition of SOC is similar to question 'h' and has been addressed above.

Please take note of the given references used in the review to define the SOC as stated below (page 27):

Prochaska JO, DiClemente CC, Norcross JC. In search of how people change: Applications to addictive behaviors. American Psychologist. 1992;47(9):1102-14.

Prochaska JO, Redding CA, Evers KE. The transtheoretical model and stages of change. In: K Glanz, F Marcus Lewis, BK Rimer, editors. Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice. 2nd edition San Francisco Jossey-Bass; 1997.

Prochaska JO, Redding CA, Evers KE. The transtheoretical model and stages of change. In: Karen Glanz BKR, and K. Viswanath editor. Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice. 4th edition San Francisco Jossey-Bass; 2008.

The definition of Action as provided by Prochaska et al. (1992) on page 1104 of "In Search of How People Change" is: "Action is the stage in which individuals modify their behavior, experiences, or environment in order to overcome their problems. Action involves the most overt behavioral changes and requires considerable commitment of time and energy." On page 17, the authors mistakenly report that Action is defined as ready to change).

(r) Disagree. The comment is an inaccurate assessment of our results on 'self-reported change in dietary habit and measured change in dietary habit' outcome reported in the 'secondary outcomes' section of the review (pages 15-16). We have clearly defined the 'change in dietary consumption' outcome as a reduction in the daily number of calories, a reduction in fatty food intake and an increase in daily fruit and vegetable consumption, as stated in 'types of outcome measures' in the review (page 7). For the study by Logue (2005), we have reported as such '... TTM SOC combined with diet, physical activity and monetary reward interventions in a trial reported no significant mean change in energy intake per day in the intervention group compare to control (P = 0.69) at 24 months. There was a significant reduction in the mean change energy intake per day for both groups combined (-250 kcal/d; P < 0.0001) throughout the 6 to 24 months follow-up...' (pages 15-16). We also reported that the data on energy expenditure at 6, 12 and 18 months were not explicitly reported. The data for the intervention group and the control pertaining to both outcomes (mean energy intake and expenditure) were not given. We have extracted the data of the given outcome from the article on pages 922 and 923. The abstract of the article reported the results simply as 'Repeated measures models under the missing at random assumption yielded non-significant adjusted differences between the AUC and TM-CD groups for weight change, waist circumference, energy intake or expenditure, blood pressure, and blood lipids...' (page 917), but we have examined the results systematically using methods recommended by the Cochrane review guidelines. Please refer to more information shown in the review including 'Characteristics of included studies' table (pages 33-34), matrix of study endpoints (Appendix 5, page 51) and the 'primary and secondary outcomes' table (Appendix 7, page 52).

(s) Disagree. We have explicitly defined the terms 'progress to action stage' and 'maintenance stage' in the review (page 17) as defined in the study by Steptoe 2001 (page 266). This point was recommended by the CRG during the peer-review process and aimed to provide a clear explanation of the results when reporting the outcome of the study in the review. We think the definitions for the terms given throughout the article are acceptable and similar to our definition of SOC (as mentioned on question 'q' above).

(t) **Agree**, thank you. The statement in 'Abstract/Main results' should read "The intervention was found to have limited impact on weight loss (about 2 kg or less). There was no conclusive evidence for sustainable weight loss." and the statement in 'Implications for practice' should read "This review provides evidence on the use of the TTM SOC as a theoretical framework for dietary and physical activity interventions in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults. TTM SOC and a combination of physical activities,

diet and other interventions (such as feedback reports, anthropometric measurements and counseling) have limited impact on weight loss (about 2 kg or less). There was no conclusive evidence for sustainable weight loss."

The authors agree that there are errors in the Abstract and body of this review regarding study conclusions. These are not minor mistakes, but in fact, can lead to and have led to major misunderstandings about the conclusions of this review, which will subsequently be cited in other papers. Combined with the consistent contradictions in this paper, we believe these errors justify a retraction.

(u) Disagree. We have reviewed the current evidence and based our conclusions on this evidence. Future research from new high quality studies may change our findings but until then, our findings are valid.

The authors agree that there were several typos and mis-statements in this article. They disagree with many of our other statements by referring to a Table in which study methodology is accurately reported. This in no way changes the fact that they reported methodology incorrectly in the body of the article repeatedly. We remain resolute in our belief that a retraction is needed.

(v) Disagree. We think the request is invalid because most of the comments are based on an inaccurate assessment of the review. We have followed an approved protocol in conducting this review which is based on the '*Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*'. The information and results in the review reported are peer-reviewed and approved by the editor of the CRG. We have reviewed the current evidence and based our conclusions on this. Future research from high quality studies may change our findings but until then, our findings are valid.

The approved protocol and review process in this case failed to uncover many errors, typos, and contradictions in this review. As scientists, it is our responsibility to correctly represent research results and retract misleading and erroneous information from the literature base.

Reply

From the Editorial Base: Authors shall reply to this feedback and amend their Cochrane review.

Contributors

Sara Johnson, Ph.D.

Occupation Senior Vice President, Research and Product Development, Pro-Change Behavior Systems, Inc. Email Address: sjohnson@prochange.com

Submitter has modified conflict of interest statement: I am an employee of Pro-Change Behavior Systems, Inc. who licenses evidencebased behavior change programs grounded in the Transtheoretical Model of Behavior Change.

WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 17 December 2013.

Date	Event	Description	
17 December 2013	New search has been performed	Updated review	
17 December 2013	New citation required but conclusions have not changed	Update search did not detect new trials. Two studies included in former review were excluded	

Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults (Review)

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 4, 2009

Review first published: Issue 10, 2011

Date	Event	Description
10 July 2012	Feedback has been incorporated	New feedback received on 09 February 2012, authors shall reply and amend their Cochrane review
18 January 2012	Amended	Abstract, results section; description of studies (interventions); implications for practice
18 January 2012	Feedback has been incorporated	New feedback received on 16 November 2011, authors replied on 11 and 17 January 2012

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Nikolaos Mastellos (NM): trial selection, data extraction, data analysis, data interpretation, review and update draft.

Laura Gunn (LG): trial selection, data analysis, data interpretation and review draft.

Lambert Felix (LF): trial selection, data extraction, data analysis, data interpretation and update draft.

Josip Car (JC): protocol draft, search strategy development, data interpretation and review draft.

Azeem Majeed (AM): protocol draft, search strategy development, trial selection, data interpretation and review draft.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None known

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• Imperial College of London, UK.

Support provided includes library facilities, statistician support, computer supplies and consumables, funds for training and others.

External sources

• Public Service Department, Brunei Goverment, Brunei Darussalam. Support provided is mainly funding for the project by yearly basis.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

There are few distinctive differences between the protocol and review. Firstly, the timing of outcome measurement begins at one month to take account of results from short-term trials that may provide useful analysis about the topic. Secondly, 'progression through SOC' is introduced as a new secondary outcome as it is a commonly reported outcome in the included trials. Thirdly, meta-analysis was not appropriate because there were different outcomes (dichotomous versus continuous) presented in included trials for each outcome measured and some data (for intervention group and control group for each outcome measured) were not completely reported by each trial. Also, the timing of outcome measurement varied in the included trials. The reporting and small study bias was not assessed using funnel plots because there were only a few trials included and furthermore the types of outcomes as well as the estimated effect measures used in each trial were different. Lastly, acknowledgements are added to highlight contributions of individuals throughout the project.

Differences between the original and the updated version of the review

There were also some differences between the original and the revised version of the review. First, the title of the review has changed from "Transtheoretical model for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults" to "Transtheoretical model stages of change for dietary and physical exercise modification in weight loss management for overweight and obese adults" to reflect the criteria for inclusion in the review (see Description of the intervention). Second, two studies that were originally included (Dinger 2007; Steptoe 2001) have been excluded from the updated review in response to criticisms that one study did not measure weight loss as an outcome (Dinger 2007) and the other included both healthy and overweight or obese adults in the analysis (Steptoe 2001). In addition, the primary outcome of the study was redefined (without, though, changing the outcome itself) to avoid confusion about the timing and outcome measurement. 'Death from any cause' was excluded from the list of adverse effects as it does not constitute a potential adverse effect of the TTM SOC. Finally, numerous inconsistencies from the original review have been resolved in this revised version.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

*Diet, Reducing; *Exercise; *Models, Psychological; *Weight Loss; Health Behavior; Obesity [psychology; *therapy]; Overweight [psychology; therapy]; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic

MeSH check words

Adult; Humans